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With respect to this discussion, the terms “we,s;U"our,” “PharmAthene” and the “Company” refer toPharmAthene, Inc., a Delaware
corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Phatimene UK Limited, a United Kingdom Limited Comp@harmAthene UK") and
PharmAthene Canada, Inc., a Canadian corporati’PharmAthene Canada”).

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardkimg statements within the meaning of Sectiondthe Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchaopef 1934, as amended, or the “Exchange ActhisTnformation may involve known
and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factbeg are difficult to predict and may cause ourwadtresults, performance or achievement
be materially different from future results, perftance or achievements expressed or implied byawmafd-looking statements. These risks,
uncertainties and other factors include, but ar¢ limited to, risks associated with the following:

» the reliability of the results of the studies rétgtto human safety and possible adverse effestdtieg from the administration of our
product candidates

« funding delays, reductions in or elimination of Ugevernment funding and/or n-renewal of expiring funding for one or more of our
development program

« our common stock, our GE Loan Agreement and ouopetating loss carryforwards, or NOLS,
« the award of government contracts to our competiturdelays caused by third parties challengingegoment contract awards to us,
« unforeseen safety and efficacy issues related tprmaduct candidates,

« challenges related to the development, commerai#biz, technology transfer, scale-up, and/or pracealidation of manufacturing
processes for our product candidat

« unexpected determinations that these product caelsdporove not to be effective and/or capable ofgomarketed as products,
« accomplishing future strategic acquisitions or mesis combinations,

as well as risks detailed under the caption “Riglctors” in this Report on Form 10-K and in our othreports filed with the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission, or (the “SEC”), from titméime hereafter. In particular, in its May 2018aision, the Delaware Supreme Court
reversed the remedy ordered by the Delaware Cdutthancery which awarded PharmAthene 50% of allpnefits (as defined in the court's
final judgment) related to the sale of Arest™ (formerly called ST 248 ) and related products for 10 years following théial commercial
sale of the drug once SIGA Technologies, Inc.|GASearns $40.0 million in net profits from thdesaf Arestyvr™and related products and
remanded the issue of a remedy back to the triattdor reconsideration. As a result, there canrtmeassurance that the Delaware Chancery
Court will issue a remedy that provides us witlinaricial interest in ArestvyfMand related products or any remedy. Furthermorerétis
significant uncertainty regarding the level anditig of sales of Arestvy™ and when and whether it will be approved by thetéthStates
Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, and capending health agencies around the world. Thesfeven if the Delaware Court
Chancery does award us a remedy that provides usemoelated to sales or profit of ArestAW¥, we cannot predict with certainty if or when
SIGA will begin recognizing profit on the sale thef and there can be no assurance that any pnaisived by SIGA and paid to us will be
significant, if any. In addition, significant adihal research work, non-clinical animal studieBnical trials, and manufacturing development
work remain to be done with respect to our prodizstdidates, and with FDA’s December 2013 clinicalohof SparvVa® , we will not be able
to re-initiate human clinical trials for that prodticandidate until such time as we produce a newflfinal drug product that demonstrates
stability to the FDA's satisfaction and the FDAdithe clinical hold. At this point there can beassurance that any of these product
candidates will be shown to be safe and effectideapproved by regulatory authorities for use inrfans. Forward-looking statements
describe management’s current expectations reggrdim future plans, strategies and objectives aredgenerally identifiable by use of the
words “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “anticipat e,” “estimate,” “believe,” “intend,” “project,” “po tential” or “plan” or the negative of
these words or other variations on these wordsasngarable terminology. Such statements includeabinot limited to:




« statements about potential future government cabhwagrant awards,
« potential payments under government contracts anty,

« potential regulatory approval

« future product advancements, a

- anticipated financial or operational results.

Forward-looking statements are based on assumptions thgtha incorrect, and we cannot assure you thaptogctions included in the
forward-looking statements will come to pass.

We have based the forward-looking statements iedunl this Annual Report on Form 10-K on informatevailable to us on the date of this
Annual Report, and we assume no obligation to updat such forwarlooking statements, other than as required by lalthough we
undertake no obligation to revise or update anyvand-looking statements, whether as a result of ild@rmation, future events or otherwise,
you are advised to consult any additional disclesuthat we may make directly to you or through respitnat we, in the future, may file with
SEC, including Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Qudyt&eports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on F8ri.

All forward-looking statements included herein are expressélified in their entirety by the cautionary statembs contained or referred to
elsewhere in this Annual Report. Unless otherwislicated, the information in this annual reportis of December 31, 2013.

Item 1. Business.
Overview

We are a biodefense company engaged in the develtpand commercialization of next generation medicantermeasures against
biological and chemical threats. Our current biedsé portfolio includes the following product catates:

* SparVax®, a next generation recombinant protective antigehrar vaccine

* rBChE (recombinant butyrylcholinesterase) biograyer, a medical countermeasure for nerve agesbpioig by organophosphorous
compounds, including nerve gases and pesticidek

* Valortim®, a fully human monoclonal antibody for the preventimd treatment of anthrax infectic

In May 2013 the Delaware Supreme Court affirmecept&nber 2011 ruling of the Delaware Court of Cleapthat SIGA had breached
certain contractual obligations to us. The magemr remand to the Delaware Court of Chancery terdene a remedy in light of the Delaware
Supreme Court’s decision. Previously the Delawarariery Court had awarded us the right to reced¥ 6f all net profits (as defined in the
court’s final judgment) related to the sale of SIG#estvyr™ (formerly known as ST-248) and related products for 10 years following
initial commercial sale of the drug once SIGA e&46.0 million in net profits from the sales of &teyr ™ and related products and a portion
of our attorney’s fees and expert withess and atbsts. While we believe there may be significanenue potential under a potential damage
award, there can be no assurance that the Del@®amecery Court will re-instate its prior remedyooder another remedy for us, that SIGA
will not appeal any subsequent decision by the Bata Chancery Court, or that SIGA will not be sssfel in any subsequent appeal.
Currently, because the Delaware Supreme Court réedhtine issue of a remedy back to the Delaware ¢gnpaiCourt, we no longer have a
financial interest in Arestvyf and may never receive any proceeds from the product




Background

We were formed in April 2005 as Healthcare AcqiositCorp., a special purpose acquisition compamyAQgust 3, 2005, Healthcare
Acquisition Corp. consummated its initial publidering. On August 3, 2007, Healthcare Acquisitioor @ acquired all the outstanding equity
of PharmAthene, Inc., then a privately held Delaawaorporation engaged in the biodefense busineds;lzanged its name from Healthcare
Acquisition Corp. to PharmAthene, Inc. Our subsilidharmAthene Canada, Inc. was operated in supptiie Protexia contract with the U
Army Space and Missile Command issued to develograe agent counter measure. In July 2012, we aodsily liquidated our Canadian
subsidiary, which we acquired in 2005. All asset€anada have been disposed of and we are indlegs of filing the final tax returns with
the Canadian tax authorities to dissolve this gnitit March 2008, PharmAthene through PharmAtheKe inited, acquired from Avecia the
rights to develop SparVaX. In 2009, the contract was novated from PharmAgHgl Limited to PharmAthene, Inc. PharmAthene UK
Limited monitors the work of the legacy subcontoast

Our executive offices are located at One Park Pfaaie 450, Annapolis, Maryland 21401 and ourpletee number is 410-269-2600. Our
common stock trades on the NYSE MKT (formerly NYARex) under the symbol “PIP.” We maintain a website
http://www.PharmAthene.conThe information contained on or connected toweelbsite is expressly not incorporated by referéntethis
Annual Report. We make available for download fséeharge through our website this annual repoffomm 10-K, quarterly reports on Form
10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, and amendsriterthose reports filed or furnished pursuantecti®n 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as soon as edaggmacticable after we have electronically fjled furnished, them to the SEC.

Business Concept and Strategy

Our goal is to become one of the leading compaspesializing in the development and commerciakimatf best-in-class prophylactic and
therapeutic drugs for defense against biologicdl@memical threats and emerging infectious diseaseslwide. In assembling our product
candidate portfolio, we have adhered to a strategphasizing specific selection criteria to enhahedikelihood of U.S. government
procurement. These selection criteria include:

« demonstrated technical preof-concept in humans and/or appropriate animal mo

« advantages over existing products or technolo

e demonstrated interest by the U.S. Government inyyeament; an

« defined development path and regulatory strat

We seek to acquire and develop leading compoundiseghnologies targeting the highest priority Us®vernment biodefense
requirements. We also look to bring products into mortfolio with dual-use potential that may sebggh biodefense and commercial markets.

We have developed and will continue to develop hbisaefense product development and contractipglo#ities. Development of these
capabilities has required a substantial investmehich we may leverage further through possibleugitions of additional biodefense product
candidates, whether under licensing deals, meagats@acquisitions, or otherwise. We believe thatlpob opportunities will come primarily
from companies focused on commercial markets tlett W see their products or technologies explaitdsiodefense.




Biodefense Industry
Market Overview:

The worldwide biodefense market can generally bidd into three segments: U.S. civilian, U.S. taily, and non-U.S. markets. U.S.
government funding represents the vast majorithefworldwide market. According to the UniversifyRittsburgh Medical CenterGenter fol
Biosecurity, U.S. government biodefense militard aivilian spending was estimated at over $5 hillio fiscal year 2013 and 2012.

U.S. Civilian Market and Project BioShield:

The U.S. civilian market includes funds to protibet U.S. population from biowarfare agents andiwen largely funded by the Project
BioShield Act of 2004. Project BioShield, estabéidrunder the Project BioShield Act of 2004 andWh®. government’s largest biodefense
initiative, is focused on acquiring products witlwl technological risk that will be available forrphase in the near term. The U.S. governmen
has identified the following threats as criticabdefense priorities: anthrax, smallpox, botulinaxin, radiation, and nerve agent exposure. To
evaluate and select the best products for theeatjrthe U.S. Department of Health and Human &esybr DHHS, typically issues Requests
for Information followed by Requests for ProposaiSRFPs”. RFPs detail product and procurementirequents including treatment types,
numbers of doses and delivery timeframes. To quédif Project BioShield funding, products must dewstoate product efficacy in an animal
model and complete advanced development activiigs,companies must show that they can providécgrif manufacturing capability.
Twelve medical counter measures, or MCMs, have peecured for stockpile under project BioShieldcsir2004, and BARDA projects that
additional 12 countermeasures will be delivere@0¥9.

Project BioShield provided $5.6 billion in fundifigr MCMs through the Special Reserve Fund, or SREr ten fiscal years (FY),
(FY2004-FY2013). As the original authorization exggl at the end of FY2013, the Pandemic and All-itde®reparedness Reauthorization
Act, or PAHPRA, was signed into law in March 20T8e PAHPRA authorized $2.8 billion in funding fbiet SRF for fiscal years 2014-2018.
These funds are for the procurement of MCMs. PAHRIRA authorized $415 million in funding to BARDArfadvanced development
activities. However, actual funding for BARDA isglndent on annual congressional appropriationsangress is not obligated to appropr
the authorized amount. The fiscal year 2014 appatpn for BARDA advanced development is consisteith PAHPRA at $415 million. The
fiscal year 2014 appropriation for the SRF is $2%llion.

U.S. Military Market:

The Department of Defense, or DoD, is responsitriéife research, development, testing and evalyatioRDT&E, and procurement of
MCMs defense-wide within the DoD. These effortsu®on providing chemical and biological warfaretpotion for active duty military
personnel, their dependents, and civilians whaaractive duty. The FY 2014 Omnibus Appropriatiéws included a total of $1.1 billion in
funding for Chemical and Biological RDT&E Defensed4.

Non-U.S. Markets:

Non-U.S. markets address protection against bi@saigents for both civilians and military persdrindoreign countries. We anticipate
that foreign countries will procure biodefense prad as they are developed and validated by prowmeby the U.S. government.

Anthrax

The three general modes of infectionBacillus anthracisor B. anthracis, the bacterium which causes anthrax infectionpgrimhalation,
ingestion or skin contact with anthrax spores. lati@nal anthrax is the most lethal form of infectiand occurs when anthrax spores become
airborne and enter a person’s body through thesluimdpalational anthrax is almost always fataéff intreated; the mortality rate in patients
treated aggressively with antibiotics and suppertare is approximately 50%. Persons infecteB Ignthracisthat is ingested will suffer from
gastrointestinal anthrax; those whose skin comtesciontact with anthrax will suffer from cutanearghrax. Gastrointestinal anthrax has a
mortality rate of more than 40% if left untreat@litaneous anthrax generally causes skin infectidgtisn a week or two after exposure.
Cutaneous anthrax is the least fatal. Without tneatt, approximately 20% of all skin infection caaes fatal. Treated cutaneous anthrax is
rarely fatal.




The DoD estimates that up to ten countries maygsssanthrax weapons and an undetermined numbediefduals and terrorist groups
could have access to anthrax. Anthrax is an effedtioterrorism agent because the spores are statdetended periods of time (i.e. years),
can be milled to a fine powder, and can be wid&persed with readily available instruments andhmrery. The U.S. Congressional Office of
Technology Assessment in 1993 analyzed the potestiige of an anthrax attack, calculating thatdhveould be between 130,000 and three
million deaths following the release of 100 kilogra.of anthrax in a highly populated area.

In light of the limited effectiveness of currenttifiotics and supportive care, we believe thatently available treatments for inhalational
anthrax — antibiotics and vaccines — are suboptifalowing exposure, but prior to the onset of pyoms, antibiotics like ciprofloxacin,
doxycycline or penicillin can be used as post-exypagprophylaxis with the goal of preventing progien of the disease with a recommended
antibiotic course of treatment of 60 days, sometimecombination with the administration of an ¢xig anthrax vaccine. We believe that both
compliance and side effects are problematic fooapyasked to take antibiotics for such an extepaeidd of time. Furthermore, antibiotic
resistance, whether naturally occurring or genbiyieagineered, is a concern.

Smallpox

Smallpox virus is classified as a Category ‘A’ ageythe U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Préme and is considered one of the
most significant threats for use as a biowarfaenagAlthough declared eradicated in 1980 by theléMdealth Organization, there is a threat
that a rogue nation or a terrorist group may alyqaabsess or have the capability to produce agallmventory of the virus that causes
smallpox. Inventories of the virus are known tacbatained under extremely tight security at thet@efor Disease Control and Prevention in
Atlanta, Georgia and the State Research Centeirofdgy and Biotechnology VECTOR laboratory in Ksio, Russia.

Many scientists agree that with the scientific sombailable today smallpox can be created by modjfgnother orthopox virus available
naturally worldwide by a scientist with access tm@adern laboratory. Studies conducted prior toettaglication of natural reservoirs of
smallpox virus show that the disease has a martaie of 30% - 35%, and survivors are scarredcamdsuffer other permanent detriments.

Chemical Weapons and Nerve Agents

Chemical weapons use the toxic properties of chalrsighstances to produce physiological effectsroaremy or civilian target. Classic
chemical weapons, such as chlorine and phosgeme,emgployed during World War | and consisted priiparf commercial chemicals used
choking and blood agents, to cause respiratory daraad asphyxiation. Organophosphorous agentse@gents), one of the most lethal fo
of chemical weapons, were developed in the 1930the years leading up to World War II. As receatty2013 the United Nations concluded
that chemical weapons were used in the on-goirigwar in Syria.

Nerve agents function by binding to acetylcholieesse, an enzyme that normally causes terminafitireactivity of the neurotransmitter
acetylcholine. Nerve agents block the activity oéglcholinesterase, allowing the activity of adetpline to continue unchecked. As a result,
nerve impulses are continually transmitted, causinigcle contractions that do not stop. This effecteferred to as a “cholinergic crisis” and
results in a loss of muscle control, respiratorjufa, paralysis and convulsions. Nerve agent expothat does not cause death after a short
period can lead to permanent brain damage.

There is currently only one FDA-approved pre-treaitrfor nerve agents, pyridostigmine bromide, or PB is only approved for the pre-
treatment of exposure to the nerve agent somannfers no protection on its own but enhances to&gption conferred by post-exposure
treatment. The standard of care for post-exposagetrment involves repeated doses of a cocktaitudslincluding atropine, reactivators
including the oxime 2-PAM, and anti-convulsantswéweer, this type of treatment acts primarily on sffenptoms of nerve agents, not their
underlying cause. We believe available pre-and-frestment options are inadequate and that thexeéed for more efficacious
countermeasures, especially as evidence mountmtidified, more toxic forms of nerve agents maybed in future attacks.




Product Candidates
SparVax®: Recombinant Protective Antigen (rPA)-based AngtxrVaccine

SparVax® is a second generation, rPA anthrax vaccine deditmprotect against inhalational anthrax, the riethial form ofB. anthracis
infection in humans. The vaccine has been shovimdiace anti-Protective Antigen, or PA, antibodieglinical trials in healthy human
volunteers and in animal models of inhalationahaant. These antibodies are believed to functiotabgeting PA, a protein component
necessary for the transportation of bacterial toxino the cell and the subsequent toxic cascaatddhds to morbidity and mortality.
Vaccination with SparVa® can generate significant titers of antibodies amdou100% efficacy in rabbits and non-human priraaiat are
subsequently exposed to lethal inhalation dosesthfrax spores. One Phase 1 and two Phase 2 ttimids have been completed involving
approximately 770 individuals. Data from thesel$ridemonstrated that SparV&xs generally well tolerated, and immunogenic.

SparVax®is being developed for two indications: post-expequrophylaxis, or PEP, in conjunction with antiiiie and general use
prophylaxis, or GUP. In a PEP setting, the vacuineld be administered following a suspected exposuaugment the natural immune
response and provide protection once antibiotieslacontinued. In the GUP setting, the vacciradiministered in advance of any exposure
and is intended to induce an immune response tifldievprotective should there be a subsequent &xgo

Preclinical Safety Studie

Prior to an Investigational New Drug, or IND, apgliion being filed with the FDA, SparV&underwent safety testing in mice, rats, and
rabbits and non-human primates. Spar%axas well tolerated with no deaths and no behaviaralinical signs observed in all species. All of
the toxicology studies were compliant with Good heiory Practices, or GLP, and the data were ussedpport the IND and allowed for the
initiation of clinical trials of Sparva® .

Non-clinical Studies

Clinical trials to demonstrate efficacy of an aathwaccine in humans are unethical; therefore strategy is to obtain licensure of Spar\
®yia the FDA’s Animal Rule (21 CFR 601.90) whichaais for efficacy testing in appropriate animal misde lieu of human clinical efficacy
trials. To date, a majority of its animal model dlmpment and efficacy studies in both rabbits aotmuman primates for both GUP and PEP
indications using SparVa&have been sponsored by the National Institute @y and Infectious Diseases (“NIAID”), and contkdt:by a
contract research organization. Data from thesgiestthave shown that SparV&is immunogenic and efficacious in both rabbits and-
human primates and that immunogenicity and praie@gainst an aerosol challenge are dependentanimeadosage; the vaccine used in t
studies was manufactured using drug substance metnuéd at Avecia Biologics Limited, or Avecia. &bbit efficacy study was performed
following the successful transfer of technology anéle up to a 1,500 liter (bioreactor) commersiale process. The results of this recent
study confirm previous findings that immunogenigityd protection conferred by SparV&are dependent upon vaccine dosage. Moreover,
these results and other studies have demonsttaethe drug product made using drug substance faanued at Fujifilm Diosynth
Biotechnologies USA, or Diosynth, is comparabl¢hte vaccine based on drug substance manufactufeckaia.




Clinical Trials

The Phase 1 trial was a dose escalation studyrtksip evaluate a range of dosage levels admiadsteith either of two different dosing
schedules. There were no vaccine-related seriotersel events or changes in blood chemistries, sijals or electrocardiograms, or ECGs,
reported. The results demonstrated that the vaecasegenerally well tolerated, and immunogenic tad the immunogenic response was
dependent on vaccine dosage.

The Phase 2 program was designed to evaluatefety aad immunogenicity of the two highest dosags$ed in Phase 1 using a three «
regimen in a larger number of subjects. Two Phasml® were conducted, both of which studied tfieat of different vaccine dosage levels
and schedules.

In the Phase 2a trial, SparV&xvas shown to be immunogenic and generally welkadésl with no vaccine-related serious adverse event

The Phase 2b trial compared a longer dosing regahémo different vaccine dosages with a smallertics group that received the
currently licensed anthrax vaccine, BioThfaxAs in the Phase 2a trial, SparVBwas immunogenic and generally well tolerated with n
vaccine-related serious adverse events. The imnamcity data showed that SparV&elicited an immune response after the primary
immunization series as well as having induced amanestic response after a booster dose givenrat B months after the primary dosing
schedule. While both SparV&and BioThrax® were immunogenic following a three-dose series sétfoconversion rates of approximately
90% (as measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbeayd4sLISA”) titers), an increased proportion oflimiduals experienced injection site
pain in the BioThra® group (where the vaccine was administered subcatashg as compared to the Spar\fagroups (where the vaccine
was administered intramuscularly).

Future studies will seek to confirm the dose arfedale of SparVa® that induces antibody levels in humans which areparable to
those shown to be protective in the animal modtsmonstrate the acceptability of using Sparax conjunction with antibiotics, and confil
the safety of SparVaXin a sufficient number of human subjects (as reglby the FDA).

Product Stability

In 2011, we announced that Spar\flulk drug substance, or BDS, manufactured at AvBiméogics Laboratories in the United Kingdom
had demonstrated 52 month stability. Moreover, aschdemonstrated over 36 month stability for islfidrug product, or FDP, vaccine
formulation based on BDS manufactured at Avecia Stability data were prepared utilizing a varietyanalytical methods and a mouse
challenge potency assay. Subsequent to the traofsfieanufacturing technology to Diosynth, one 1,560 engineering lot of BDS and one
1,500 liter lot of BDS, compliant with current Gobthnufacturing Practices, or cGMP, were manufactateDiosynth; engineering and cGMP
lots of FDP were manufactured from aliquots ofehgineering and cGMP lots of BDS, respectively. &P BDS and FDP lots are
currently on formal International Conference onmanisation of Technical Requirements for Registratf Pharmaceuticals for Human Use,
or ICH, compliant stability programs. In parallgde stability of the engineering lots of BDS andHFI3 also being monitored to support the
findings from the formal stability programs. Datat@ined to date demonstrate that the BDS producBibaynth is stable for at least 18
months and the FDP derived from Diosynth BDS iblstfor at least 18 months. Stability testing igoimg.

In August 2012, we received notification from th@Athat our SparVa® rPA anthrax vaccine program was placed on clirficdd prior tc
initiating any patient dosing in a planned Phasérfical trial. The FDA requested additional stépitlata and information related to the
stability indicating assays, which we supplied, &me FDA lifted the clinical hold in May 2013. 122 at the request of FDA we switched
from a mouse challenge potency assay to a mor@igemaouse immunogenicity assay. As a result vectaatter able to detect changes in
potency than we were previously with the matemadsufactured at Avecia. In December 2013, we recknotification from the FDA that our
SparVax® program was placed on clinical hold prior to irtitig any patient dosing in a planned Phase 2 diniéal. Specifically the FDA
observed a statistically significant downward trémgotency in the engineering lot of FDP manufestiin early 2012 and a similar but not
statistically significant trend in the cGMP lot 8parVax® FDP produced four months later that we had interidedse in the planned Phase 2
clinical trial. PharmAthene recently completed iife portion of an ongoing non-clinical rabbiusly which showed SparVékto be
beneficial in preventing anthrax infection in anlmexposed to anthrax spores. This study was degditmevaluate the efficacy of Spar\Vx
compared to BioThra% in animals exposed to a lethal dose of anthrax.sthay used a cGMP lot of SparV&EDP that was 22 months old at
the initial dose. The dose was repeated 28 dagsuatng the same lot. Rabbits were vaccinated avithstimated human equivalent dose of
each vaccine and the data showed 100% survivéidibr products. Additional data from future Spar\falinical trials and non-clinical animal
studies will be required to establish efficacy imtans. To move forward with clinical developmensgiarVax® and to be able to respond to
the FDA's concerns, the FDA has requested thatnedyte a new cGMP lot of FDP, provide the releaseresults to the FDA, and to provide
stability data to the FDA on the BDS we used tadpice that lot. The FDA has also requested thatoméirue to collect stability data on the
previously manufactured engineering and cGMP Idtgil such time, if ever, that FDA lifts the clirdthold, we will not be permitted to enroll
any subjects in clinical trials for SparV&x




Funding

To date, funding for the development of Spar?zas occurred under two contracts from the Natidrstltutes of Health, or NIH,
originally entered into in 2002 and 2003 which, maiuding the modifications discussed below, pded for aggregate funding of up to
approximately $128 million all of which have beereived by either PharmAthene or Avecia.

In April 2009, the U.S. Government transferred $iparVax® contract to BARDA. In February 2010, we and BARD#®ered into
negotiations to modify the existing advanced dewelent contract for SparVa&k. BARDA previously funded approximately $62 milliom a
cost-reimbursement-plus-fixdde basis, assuming that all milestones are acthiévee contract was subsequently modified to extbadgperioc
of performance through February 2015 and BARDA neadslable an additional $8 million to help suppditical and non-clinical work on
SparVax® . As of December 31, 2013, approximately $19.5iarilremains available under the $70 million in fingd In addition,
approximately $17 million in unfunded options remander the contract. It is unclear when or if BARRill consider exercising the options
or a new funding request.

Recombinant Human Butyrylcholinesterase Nerve Agé&duntermeasure

In 2006, we entered into a contract with the DoBlewelop our Protexi@ medical countermeasure for chemical nerve agerisexp to
protect the warfighter from physiological damaghisTprogram utilized the recombinant enzyme buthglinesterase, or rBChE, a
recombinant form of a naturally occurring bioscayem as its active ingredient. This first generagpoogram for producing rBChE utilized
transgenic goats to produce the enzyme in thek.mihis contract expired on December 31, 2010, va@dhut down its Protexf8related
operations and sold its production facilities incBmber 2011.

We have also been working on a second generatjpmagh which utilizes a mammalian-cell-based exgiomssystem (i.e., the PER.€6
human cell line) for rBChE. In August 2011, the Da®arded us a fixed price contract for up to appnately $5.7 million to support ogeing
research into the production of rBChE using thismmelian-cell culture-based advanced expressiomryshs of December 31, 2013,
approximately $0.9 million remains available untteés contract. The period of performance for thasteact is currently scheduled to end on
March 31, 2014. While the technology is still atearly research stage, if our efforts are succkss@ubelieve this cell culture-based approach
could have significant advantages over the trarisggrat-based approach originally developed to peedProtexi& . Specifically, we believe
these advantages could include:

« An established manufacturing platform, consisteitih those used for other biotechnology produats with the U.S. government’s
recent advanced manufacturing system initial

< Final product with a pharmacokinetic (PK) profiteat more closely resembles naturally occurrintytylcholinesterase, or BChE, from
human blood

» Higher production yields than a transgenic goaetagpproact

« Substantially lower costs of production to yielgrsficant savings to the DoD and, potentially, kan customers

« A more traditional and streamlined regulatory patkDA licensure; an

e Greater ability to scale up production if demanctéases

In December 2012, we exclusively licensed the sgbtuse the PER.CB8human cell line for the manufacture of our rBChBdurct. This

platform offers many advantages over traditiongression systems and should enable the final ptaduw@ve a pharmacokinetic profile that
more closely matches the naturally occurring BCtntl in human plasma.
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Valortim ®: Anthrax Monoclonal Antibody

Valortim ®is a fully human monoclonal antibody designed ttgrt against and treat human inhalational anttasvhoth post-exposure
prophylaxis (i.e., before symptoms manifest) anstyxposure therapy (i.e., once symptoms are et)idéalortim® utilizes a novel
mechanism of action similar to the natural immuesponse. Valortirff is designed to bind to PA and protect the cellsfoamage by the
anthrax toxins. In non-clinical studies, animalgevprotected against this fatal disease when Maidwas administered following a lethal
aerosol challenge of anthrax spores, demonstrétiaigV/alortim® induces recovery and survival in animals exposedttalational anthrax.

Bristol-Myers Squibb Collaboration and Development Timedin

We are developing Valortifiin collaboration with Bristol-Myers Squibb, or BMBursuant to a collaboration agreement enterediinto
November 2004. Under the terms of the collaboratigreement, we and BMS will share operating prefitsording to a formula th
establishes our share of the profits at between 20860%, with the final split largely dependenttio@ amount of funding provided by us p
to sale of product to the U.S. Government. Priatisdribution of operating profits, each party igied to reimbursement of research and
development expenses incurred that were not otseredvered by government funding. Valorfiras received Fast Track designation from
the FDA as well as orphan drug status.

Clinical Phase 1 Trials

In 2006 we and BMS completed an initial Phase Indpbel, dose-escalation clinical trial to evalutte safety, tolerability,
immunogenicity, and pharmacokinetics (the studgliforption, metabolism and action of drugs) ohalsi dose of Valortin® administered
intravenously or intramuscularly in healthy volusit® No drugelated serious adverse effects were reportedulyust 2009 we began a sec
Phase 1 clinical trial of Valortirfiin combination with the antibiotic ciprofloxacinuling the course of the study, there were two serio
adverse events, so we halted the trial and the plaged the study on partial clinical hold. Follogyian investigation, the FDA lifted the pari
clinical hold in December 2010, and we then comradrand completed an intravenous (IV) dose-escalatiady of Valortin®® . We submitte
the final study report to the FDA for the trialdJanuary 2012.

Non-clinical Studies

We have conducted studies in two animal modelsatuate the use of Valortifias a post-exposure prophylaxis. Treatment in boitnal
models was initiated within one hour following espoe to the anthrax spores. Eighty-five percemabbits treated intravenously with doses o
Valortim ® survived following inhalation exposure to anthraoes. One hundred percent of cynomolgus monkegsetd intramuscularly with
doses of Valortin® were protected from death following exposure talational anthrax spores.

We have conducted studies in rabbits to evaluaeise of Valortin® as a therapeutic intervention for inhalational athThis indication
for Valortim ® would be intended to treat patients who have ajreleareloped signs and/or symptoms of inhalationttirax. In two studies, up

to 100% of the animals survived that were treatét Walortim ® intravenously at the time they tested positivetfier presence of PA in the
blood or had significant increases in body tempeeat

We have also conducted two studies in African greenkeys treated with Valortifiat the time they tested positive for the preserid®’c

in the blood. Up to 70% of animals treated intrauesty with Valortim® survived. In contrast, the mortality rate for anisnexposed to
inhalational anthrax that received a saline cordtdhe time they tested positive for the presarid®A in the blood is close to 100%.
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Funding

In 2006 and 2008, we received DoD funding for tteamcement of Valortirff in the aggregate amount of $4.2 million, all of ethivas
received by December 31, 2012. In September 200MN\awarded us a $13.9 million contract for thevadced development of Valortifias
an anti-toxin therapeutic to treat inhalationalhaax infection. In April 2009 that amount was iresed to $15.9 million (which was reduced to
$15.3 million in August 2010). Funding from NIAIRm through January 31, 2012, when this contractend

In September 2013, under Solicitation RFP-12-100-80026, BARDA issued to us an Indefinite-Delivehydefinite-Quantity (ID/IQ)
contract for the acquisition of anthrax antitoxibater that same month we entered into a work andder that contract pursuant to which we
agreed to supply BARDA 35 vials of the master balhk for Valortim® for approximately $1.0 million. We are in discussavith BARDA
regarding delivery of those materials, which weapate will occur prior to the end of 2014.

Future funding for the development of Valortfmemains highly uncertain. There can be no assunarosill be successful in obtaining
additional financial support for this program.

Our Interest in ARESTVYR™ : Smallpox antiviral

Arestvyr ™ which is being developed by SIGA, is an orallynamistered antiviral drug candidate to treat orwopirus diseases, includi
smallpox. Arestvym™ acts by blocking the ability of the virus to spraadther cells, preventing it from causing dised$e FDA has
designated Arestvyt™ for “fast-track status” enabling potential expedifeDA review and approval. In addition, Arest¥{t has been granted
Orphan Drug designation for both the treatmentmedention of smallpox.

In May 2013, the Delaware Supreme Court affirm&eptember 2011 ruling of the Delaware Court of Ceanthat SIGA had breached
certain contractual obligations to us. The mager remand to the Delaware Court of Chancery teraene a remedy in light of the Delaware
Supreme Court’s decision. The Delaware Court ofi€bey heard final oral arguments on the issue ey during the first quarter of 2014,
and we expect the court to issue its ruling withie next several months. Currently, because thaviee Supreme Court remanded the issi
a remedy back to the Delaware Chancery Court, wenger have a financial interest in Arest¥yfand may never receive any proceeds from
the product.

While we believe there may be significant revenateptial under a potential damages award, therdearo assurance that the Delaware
Court of Chancery will re-instate its prior rememtyorder another remedy for us, that SIGA will appeal any subsequent decision by the
Delaware Court of Chancery, or that SIGA will netfuccessful in any subsequent appeal.

Previously the Delaware Court of Chancery had aedws the right to receive 50% of all net proféts {lefined in the court’s final
judgment) related to the sale of SI’s Arestvyr™ (formerly known as ST-248) and related products for 10 years following aiti
commercial sale of the drug once SIGA earns $40lmin net profits from sales of ArestvyM and related products and a portion of our
attorneys’ fees and expert witness and other costs.

SIGA indicated in its press release dated Marct20@4, that it had delivered approximately 920,000rses of Arestvyf" to BARDA
through December 31, 2013, of which approximaté&y,@00 were delivered at no cost. Approximatel§.$9nillion was received by SIGA in
2013 for the aggregate delivery of the approxin72®,000 courses of Arestvi which were billed the government. As a result &f th
Delaware Supreme Court's May 2013 decision, tharebe no assurance that the Chancery Court wilkissremedy that provides us with a
financial interest in Arestvyt™ and related products or any remedy. Even if ther@QafuChancery does provide us a remedy with anfiie
interest in ArestvyfM | we may never receive any proceeds from SIGA'sréusales of that product. SIGA’s ability to defiygoduct to the
SNS, and the timing thereof, is subject to a nunaibaignificant risks and uncertainties (certainufich are outlined in SIGA's filings with the
SEC), as to which we have limited knowledge andcWiwe have no ability to control, mitigate or fulyaluate. For a description of risk
related to this litigation, see the “RISK FACTOR&ction of this Annual Report below.
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U.S. Government Regulation of Biological Products
General

Regulation by governmental authorities in the Whisates and other countries will have a signifiéapact on our research, product
development, manufacturing and marketing of anpléomaceutical products. The nature and the etdemhich regulations apply to us will
vary depending on the nature of any such prod@uis potential biopharmaceutical products will reguiegulatory approval by governmental
agencies prior to commercialization. The produatsane developing are subject to federal regulatiaghe United States, principally by the
FDA under the Public Health Service Act and FedErald, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FFDCA, and byestand local governments, as well as
regulatory and other authorities in foreign goveenits that include rigorous preclinical and clinigzdting and other approval procedures. Suc
regulations govern or influence, among other thitigs research, development, testing, manufacsafety and efficacy requirements, labeling.
storage, recordkeeping, licensing, advertisingimariion, distribution and export of products, mamtifieing and the manufacturing process. In
many foreign countries, such regulations also gotee prices charged for products under their respenational social security systems and
availability to consumers.

The Public Health Service Act classifies our curemug candidates which are produced using bioldgigstems, as biological drug
products, or Biologics. All drugs intended for humase, including Biologics, are subject to rigoroegulation by the FDA in the United Sta
and similar regulatory bodies in other countrigse Bteps ordinarily required by the FDA before@dgjical drug product may be marketed in
the United States are similar to steps requiradast other countries and include, but are not &ohib:

« completion of preclinical laboratory tests, preiai animal testing and formulation studi
« submission to the FDA of an IND, which must be fieet before clinical trials may comment

« submission to the FDA of a Biologics License Apation, or BLA that includes preclinical data,nitial trial data and manufacturing
information;

» FDA review of the BLA;
« satisfactory completion of an FDA j-approval inspection of the manufacturing facilitiesd
» FDA approval of the BLA, including approval of altoduct labeling

The research, development and approval processesaubstantial time, effort and financial resest@and approvals may not be granted
on a timely or commercially viable basis, if at all

Preclinical testing includes laboratory evaluatiomsharacterize the product’'s composition, impesitstability, and mechanism of its
biologic effect, as well as animal studies to assles potential safety, purity and potency of gardduct. Preclinical safety tests must be
conducted by laboratories that comply with FDA degons regarding Good Laboratory Practices, or Giriel the U.S. Department of
Agriculture’s Animal Welfare Act. Violations of tise laws and regulations can, in some cases, léadatidation of the tests, requiring such
tests to be repeated and delaying approval of the Bhe results of the preclinical tests, togetivéth manufacturing information and
analytical data, are submitted to the FDA as paandND and are reviewed by the FDA before the smncement of human clinical trials.
Unless the FDA objects to an IND by placing thedgtan clinical hold, the IND will go into effect 3ays following its receipt by the FDA.
The FDA may authorize trials only on specified teramd may suspend clinical trials at any time aioua grounds, including a finding that
patients are being exposed to unacceptable hésitth tf the FDA places a study on clinical holtg sponsor must resolve all of the FDA’s
concerns and have the FDA lift the clinical holdfdre the study may proceed. The IND applicatiacpss may become extremely costly and
substantially delay development of products. Sinréstrictive requirements also apply in other adas. Additionally, positive results of
preclinical tests will not necessarily indicate itiwe results in clinical trials.
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Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational product to humans under the supervisf qualified principal investigators.
Our clinical trials must be conducted in accordanith Good Clinical Practice, or GCP, regulatiomsler protocols submitted to the FDA as
part of an IND. In addition, each clinical trialapproved and conducted under the auspices ofséitutional review board, or IRB, and requ
the patients’ informed consent. The IRB considansong other things, ethical factors, the safetyurhan subjects, and the possibility of
liability of the institutions conducting the trialhe IRB at each institution at which a clinicahtis being performed may suspend a clinical
at any time for a variety of reasons, includingeéids that the test subjects are being exposed tmacceptable health risk. Since our products
are being developed using funding from the U.Segoment, additional review by either the NIH’s IRBthe DoD’s IRB-equivalent may also
be required. These reviews take place followingayg by the independent IRB. As the sponsor, weatsao suspend or terminate a clinical
trial at any time.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in threggential phases, Phases 1, 2, and 3, involving@easing number of human subjects.
These phases may sometimes overlap or be comtithede 1 trials are performed in a small numbeeafthy human subjects or subjects v
the targeted condition, and involve testing foesafdosage tolerance, absorption, distributiortabmaism and excretion or immunogenicity
vaccine products. Phase 2 studies, which may imvapr/to hundreds of subjects, seek to identify iptssadverse effects and safety risks,
preliminary information related to the efficacytb& product for specific targeted diseases, dogdgence, and optimal dosage. Finally, Phas
3 trials may involve up to thousands of individualien at geographically dispersed clinical trié¢s, and are intended to provide the
documentation of effectiveness and important apiakiti safety data required for licensing. Priorasenencing Phase 3 clinical trials many
sponsors elect to meet with FDA officials to disctise conduct and design of the proposed triaiaist

In addition, federal law requires the listing, opublicly-available website, of detailed information on daditrials for investigational drug
Some states have similar or supplemental cliniéalrteporting laws.

In 2002, the FDA amended its requirements appleadBLAS to permit the approval of certain Biologjthat are intended to reduce or
prevent serious or lifeareatening conditions based on evidence of séfety trial in healthy subjects and effectivenessrfrappropriate anim
studies when human efficacy studies are not etbiclasible. These regulations, also known ag\tlimal Rule, and published in the Code of
Federal Regulations (21 CFR 601 Subpart H), authdhie FDA to rely on evidence from animal studéeprovide evidence of a product’s
effectiveness under circumstances where theredasonably well-understood mechanism for the toximf the agent. Under these
requirements, and with FDA'’s prior agreement, Bjits used to reduce or prevent the toxicity of cisaimbiological, radiological or nuclear
substances may be approved for use in humans basaddence of effectiveness derived from appréop@aimal studies and any additional
supporting data. Products evaluated for effectisenander this rule are evaluated for safety undeegisting requirements for establishing the
safety of new drug and biological products, inchgdPhase 1 through Phase 2 clinical trials. Undgaimn circumstances a single animal spe
may be acceptable if that animal model is suffitiewell-characterized for predicting a responséumans. The animal study endpoint must
be clearly related to the desired benefit in hunartsthe information obtained from animal studiestallow for selection of an effective dc
in humans. Products approved under the Animal Bidesubject to additional requirements includingtpoarketing study requirements,
restrictions imposed on marketing and distributimdl requirements to provide information to patients

We intend to rely on the Animal Rule in seeking keding approval for our product candidates becaweseannot ethically expose humans
to anthrax or nerve agents. Other countries doatdhis time, have established criteria for revaawd approval of these types of products
outside their normal review process, i.e., themoif\nimal Rule equivalent in countries other tiiam United States.

Success in early-stage animal studies and clitiiedé does not necessarily assure success indtgge clinical trials. Data obtained from
animal studies and clinical activities are not glsvaonclusive and may be subject to alternativerpretations that could delay, limit or even
prevent regulatory approval.

All data obtained from the preclinical studies atidical trials, in addition to detailed informatiamn the manufacture and composition of
the product, would be submitted in a BLA to the FidAreview and approval for the manufacture, manigeand commercial shipments of any
of our products. FDA approval of the BLA is requireefore commercial marketing or non-investigationierstate shipment may begin in the
United States. The FDA may also conduct an audhetlinical trial data used to support the BLA.
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However, under the Project BioShield, the Secreththe DHHS may, with the concurrence of the Saeyeof the Department of
Homeland Security, or DHS, and upon the approv#thefPresident, contract to purchase unapprovedteoueasures for the SNS in specified
circumstances. The U.S. Congress is notified @cammendation for a stockpile purchase after Peesial approval. Project BioShield
specifies that a company supplying the counternreasuthe SNS is paid on delivery and acceptaneesaibstantial portion of the
countermeasure. To be eligible for purchase urideet provisions, the Secretary of DHHS must deterittiat there are sufficient and
satisfactory clinical results or research datduidiog data, if available, from preclinical andnitial trials, to support a reasonable conclusion
that the countermeasure will qualify for approvalicensing within eight years. The legislationaaddlows unlicensed products to be procured
for the SNS so that they are available at the tmemergency is declared.

Project BioShield also allows the Secretary of DHBESuthorize the emergency use of medical prodhatshave not yet been approvec
the FDA. To exercise this authority, the SecretdrpHHS must conclude that:

« the agent for which the countermeasure is desigaadcause serious or -threatening diseas

« the product may reasonably be believed to be éffeat detecting, diagnosing, treating or prevegtine disease
« the known and potential benefits of the productvaigh its known and potential risks; a

« there is no adequate alternative to the produttishepproved and availabl

Although this provision permits the Secretary of @5ito circumvent the FDA approval process, itsweald be limited to rare
circumstances.

We believe our products will be eligible both fansideration for procurement into the SNS and & in the event of an emergency,
although there is no guarantee that our produdtsneiet the criteria set forth by DHHS or the FD& procurement and Emergency Use
Authorization, or EUA, respectively.

With regard to a BLA, the FDA may deny or delay mpal of an application that does not meet appleabgulatory criteria, e.g., if the
FDA determines that the preclinical or clinicalaat the manufacturing information does not adezgjyastablish the safety, purity and pote
(including efficacy) of the Biologic. The FDA haslsstantial discretion in the approval process aag disagree with an applicant’s
interpretation of the data submitted in its BLA.€TRDA can request additional information, seekifit@tion regarding information already
provided in the submission or ask that additiotiaiaal trials be conducted, all of which can debgproval. The FDA also may, at any time,
require the submission of product samples andhiggtiotocols for lot-by-lot confirmatory review tasting, known as lot release, by the FDA
prior to commercial distribution. This means a sfi@tot of Biologic cannot be released for commiatdistribution until the FDA has
authorized such release. Similar types of regwatoncesses will be encountered as efforts are rnraderket any Biologic internationally. V
will be required to assure product performancermadufacturing processes from one country to another

If the FDA approves a product, it may limit the epyed uses for the product as described in theystddbeling, require that
contraindications, warning statements or precastimmincluded in the product labeling, require #aditional studies be conducted following
approval as a condition of the approval, imposticgi®ns and conditions on product distributionegcribing or dispensing in the form of a1
evaluation and mitigation strategy, or REMS, oresttise limit the scope of any approval or limitddéihg. Once it approves a BLA, the FDA
may revoke or suspend the product approval if canpé with postnarket regulatory standards is not maintained prablems occur after tt
product reaches the marketplace. In addition, hA Fhay require post-marketing studies to moniter éfffect of approved products, and may
limit further marketing of the product based on tesults of these post-market studies. The Animeé Requires post-marketing studies, such
as field studies, to verify and describe the prédutdinical benefit and assess its safety shounléxigency exist that leads to the product being
used in humans; the nature of these studies willifmissed with FDA as part of the BLA process. FB& has broad post-market regulatory
and enforcement powers, including the ability toyleivil and criminal penalties, suspend or delssuiance of approvals, seize or recall
products and revoke approvals.
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The FDA's Fast Track designation program is desigoefacilitate the development and review of newgd, including biological products
that are intended to treat serious or life-threiagoonditions and that demonstrate the potertialddress unmet medical needs for the
conditions. Fast Track designation applies to alination of the product and the specific indicatfonwhich it is being studied. Thus, it is the
development program for a specific drug for a djpenidication that receives Fast Track designatifime sponsor of a product designated as
being in a Fast Track drug development program emgage in early communication with the FDA, inchgltimely meetings and early
feedback on clinical trials, and may submit porsiaf an application on a rolling basis rather theaiting to submit a complete application.
Products in Fast Track drug development prograst raly receive priority review or accelerated apakaunder which an application may be
reviewed within six months after a complete NDAB®rA is accepted for filing or sponsors may relyasurrogate endpoint for approval,
respectively. The FDA may notify a sponsor thapitsgram is no longer classified as a Fast Trasleldpment program if the Fast Track
designation is no longer supported by emerging dathe designated drug development program i&ngdr being pursued.

Biologics manufacturers, distributors and theircartiractors are required to register their faeitwith the FDA and state agencies and ar
subject to periodic inspection by the FDA and otahorities, where applicable, and must complywhie FDAS current Good Manufacturil
Practices, or cGMP, regulations, the FDA’s genbkialogical product standards, and the product éistabhent standards set forth in the
approved BLA. The cGMP requirements for biologigedducts in particular are extensive and compliamitie them requires considerable
time, resources and ongoing investment. The regukitequire manufacturers to establish validayestess to ensure that products meet high
standards of sterility, purity and potency. Theuisgments apply to all stages of the manufactupiragess, including the synthesis, processing
sterilization, packaging, labeling, storage angstant of the biological product. For all drugs &malogical products, the regulations require
investigation and correction of any deviations froBMP requirements and impose documentation remeinés upon us and any third party
manufacturers that it may decide to use. Manufa@ugstablishments are subject to periodic unancedimspections by the FDA and state
agencies for compliance with all cGMP requiremehte FDA is authorized to inspect manufacturinglitées without a warrant at reasonable
times and in a reasonable manner.

We, or our present or future suppliers, may naaltle to comply with cGMP and other FDA regulatoeguirements. Failure to comply
with the statutory and regulatory requirements aciisj the manufacturer to possible legal or regofatotion, such as a delay or refusal to
approve a BLA, suspension of manufacturing, seipan@call of a product, or civil or criminal pras¢ion of the company or individual
officers or employees.

Pos-Marketing Regulation

Any products manufactured or distributed by us pans to FDA licenses or approvals are subject tagsdve and continuing regulation by
the FDA, including:

< recordkeeping requiremen
e periodic reporting requirement

* cGMP requirements related to all stages of manufend, testing, storage, packaging, labeling arstrithution of finished dosage fori
of the product

e reporting of adverse experiences with the prodarod

e advertising and promotion restrictiol

Adverse experiences with the product must be repgdd the FDA and could result in the impositionradrket restrictions through labeling
changes or product removal. Product approvals reagwoked if compliance with regulatory requirensastnot maintained or if problems
concerning safety or effectiveness of the prodactiofollowing approval. As a condition of NDA oLB approval, the FDA may require post-

approval testing and surveillance to monitor a pod@ safety or efficacy. The FDA also may impo#igeo conditions, including labeling
restrictions which can materially impact the ponnarket and profitability of a product.
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With respect to post-market product advertising prmnotion, the FDA imposes a humber of complexilaipns on entities that advertise
and promote Biologics, including, among otherspdéads and restrictions on direct-to-consumer dibvweg, off-label promotion, industry-
sponsored scientific and educational activities @mmnotional activities involving the Internet. TRBA has very broad enforcement authority
under the FFDCA, and failure to abide by these leguns can result in administrative and judiciafacement actions, including the issuance
of a Warning Letter directing correction of devieits from FDA standards, a requirement that futdreegtising and promotional materials be
pre-cleared by the FDA, and state and federal aivil criminal investigations and prosecutions. igoreegulatory bodies also strictly enforce
these and other regulatory requirements and druggetiag may be prohibited in whole or in part ithet countries.

We, our collaborators or our third party contraectmafacturers may not be able to comply with thdiepple regulations. After regulatory
approvals are obtained, the subsequent discovargesfously unknown problems, or the failure to main compliance with existing or new
regulatory requirements, may result in:

» restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing pfaduct;

* Warning Letters or Untitled Letters from the FDAmg us, our collaborators or third party contrastto take or refrain from taki
certain actions

« withdrawal of the product from the mark

» FDA's refusal to approve pending applications or supptés to approved applicatior

» voluntary or mandatory product rece

» fines or disgorgement of profits or reven

e suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approv

» refusals to permit the import or export of produ

»  product seizure; an

» injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimingkenalties
Other Regulations

In addition to the substantial regulations enforbgdhe FDA, we are also subject to various fedetake and local laws, regulations and
recommendations relating to safe working conditidasoratory and manufacturing practices, the d@rpeital use of animals, and the use and
disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardoustaunbes, including radioactive compounds and infeistidisease agents, used in connection
with our various activities. We cannot accuratalgdict the extent of government regulation thathhigsult from any future legislation or
administrative action.
Changing Legal and Regulatory Landscape

Periodically legislation is introduced in the UGongress that could change the statutory provigionerning the approval, manufacturing
and marketing of drugs, including biological prottud¢n addition, FDA regulations and guidance dterorevised or reinterpreted by the FDA

in ways that may significantly affect our businassl products. We cannot predict whether or wheisleggpn impacting our business will be
enacted, what FDA regulations, guidance or inteégtiens may change, or what the impact of such ghsnif any, may be in the future.
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Process and Analytical Development, and Manufactung

While we have no drug substance or drug productldement, analytical or manufacturing facilitiesonfr own, we believe that acceptable
alternatives are available through third-party cacttmanufacturing organizations, or CMOs, and rmmtresearch organizations, or CROs.
CMOs have experience in developing biological maatfring processes and operating under cGMPs &s$tadllby the Code of Federal
Regulations and the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Adil@jics) regulated by the FDA, and we rely on tHenclinical and future commercial
production of our product candidates. CROs proei@deP/cGMP-compliant services for product analytiests.

For SparVax® , in June 2011 we announced the successful complefithe technology transfer of the rPA bulk dsutpstance
manufacturing to a new contract manufacturing omgion, or CMO, Diosynth. Subsequently in 2011suecessfully completed a commer
scale 1,500 liter engineering run and a 1,500 &i@KP run of SparVa® bulk drug substance at the Diosynth site. Formutasind filling of
the final drug product, adjuvanted rPA, are perfednat Baxter Pharmaceutical Solutions LLC, locatettie United States. The final dosage
presentation is in unit dose syringes. All anabjtidata generated to date demonstrate that thedbutksubstance manufactured at Diosynth is
comparable to bulk drug substance manufacturedqursly at Avecia in the UK, and in théMquarter 2012 FDA confirmed its concurrence
that the bulk drug substances manufactured attbesites are comparable.

For Valortim® , the cell culture and purification process wasaliewed by BMS, and results in a commercially felasitmd high purity
product. We have successfully manufactured bulky dubstance at large scale following technologysfer to a CMO, Laureate Biopharma,
which was recently acquired by Gallus BioPharmacals, LLC. The final drug product has been fornedband filled, tested and released for
use in clinical trials and non-clinical studies.

Certain raw materials used in producing our prodacididates are available from only one sourcelimnited number of sources. We
attempt to mitigate the risk associated with sualh source raw materials by actively managing oppties. We have not experienced any
shortages in supplies of such raw materials. Uthalvitity of certain materials or the loss of currenurces of production could cause an
interruption in production on a temporary basisdieg establishment of new sources or, in some caspementation of alternative proces:

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part on our ability to aljgatents, to protect trade secrets, and to opeititeut infringing upon the proprietary
rights of others. We seek to protect our proprietasition by, among other methods, filing U.S. émebign patent applications related to the
proprietary technology, inventions and improvemehég are important to our business.

The following table identifies each of our issued @on-abandoned patents and published pendingapphs, in order of importance to

us:
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Patent Number/ Country of
Patent/Patent Application Application Number Issue/Filing Issue Date/File Date Expiration Date
Anthrax Vaccine GB2009/05129: WO October 2, 200! October 2, 202!
Formulation and Uses 12/99824¢ U.S. October 2, 200! October 2, 202!
Thereof 2011-529634 Japar October 2, 200! October 2, 202!
9785720.t Europe October 2, 200! October 2, 202!
2,738,621 Canade October 2, 200! October 2, 202!
200929961°* Australia October 2, 200! October 2, 202!
212118 Israel October 2, 200! October 2, 202!
Recombinant PCT/US10/0322! WO December 21, 201 December 21, 203
Butyrlcholinesterase & 13/517,081 U.S. December 21, 201 December 21, 203
Truncates thereof 2012-545932 Japar June 21, 201 December 21, 203
10842361.1 Europe December 21, 201 December 21, 203
2,784,861 Canade June 18, 201 December 21, 203
201034035¢ Australia December 21, 201 December 21, 203
220508 Israel June 19, 201 December 21, 203
Method for Assaying GB07/00135: WO April 12, 2007 April 13, 2027
Antigens 12/226101 U.S. October 7, 200: April 13, 2027
2010914 Europe November 10, 200 April 13, 2027
2,648,85(C Canade October 9, 200: April 13, 2027
2007242641 Australia October 24, 200 April 13, 2027
194459 Israel November 1, 201 April 13, 2027
Long Half-Life US07/01727¢ WO August 2, 200° August 3, 202
Recombinant 12/30990¢ U.S. February 2, 200 August 3, 202
Butyrylcholinesterase 7811030.1 Europe August 2, 200° August 3, 202
265980¢ Canade February 3, 200 August 3, 202
200728199¢ Australia February 10, 200 August 3, 202
196,871 Israel February 4, 200 August 3, 202

In addition, we are a party to various exclusivd anon-exclusive licenses, which provide accesatellectual property and know-how
useful for our products. We are a party to licemgeeements with The Defence Science and Techndlalggratory of the United Kingdom
Ministry of Defence, or DSTL, originally executad May 2006 and December 2006, and amended ande#taFebruary 2009. These
agreements allow for the licensing of certain ptamd technology useful in our rPA program. Upommercialization of a product covered
by a license, the license agreements require thahake royalty payments equal to a specified péagerof future sales of products for both
government procurement and commercial markets.opalty payments on these licenses have been irtus@ne of our licenses, which
generally extend for the life of any applicablegudt require us to pay royalties on sales of prigitiat may be derived from or produced usin
the licensed technology. We derive rights to theeqts, patent applications and know-how relatingatrtim ® through our collaboration
arrangement with BMS, which owns such rights. Fatigonal information on our license agreementsape refer to Note Tommitments an
Contingencies - License Agreements in the NotesitadConsolidated Financial Statements.

The expiration dates for the licenses described@boe as follows:

License Expiration Date
DSTL Anthrax No expiration specifie
Percivia No expiration specifie
BMS Two years after the earlier of the date tasithe collaboration product is no longer explbiteder the agreement

or (b) Unilateral Product (as defined in our colledtion agreement with BMS) is no longer exploitedier a
unilateral development and commercialization ages@n
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We currently own no material trademarks.

We rely upon certain proprietary trade secretsykhow and continuing technological advances to dgvaloompetitive position. In effo
to maintain confidentiality and ownership of tragberets, proprietary information and developmeaitsf our employees are required to
execute agreements regarding confidentiality asayado us all rights to any inventions and proesshey develop while they are employel
us. We intend to use license agreements to acgtssi@ products and technologies as well as teepour own intellectual property to othe
We will be able to protect our proprietary rightsrh unauthorized use by third parties only to tkieat that our proprietary rights are covered
by valid and enforceable patents or are effectimefyntained as trade secrets.

Competition

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bydhagvolving technology and intense competitionlafge number of companies of all
sizes engage in activities similar to our actiwtiand many of its competitors have substantialbyatgar financial and other resources availab
them.

Anthrax Product Competitior

In the Anthrax Vaccine field there is only one Fié¢ensed anthrax vaccine, Biothrax® , which is doyjdEmergent Biosolutions, Inc. With
respect to the development of a next generatiaonnbmant PA-based vaccine, we are aware of folgratbmpanies developing competing
vaccines that are in the clinical stages of develeqt: Emergent BioSolutions, Inc., Green CrossaPaa Biotec Ltd., and PaxVax. There are «
number of companies with anthrax vaccines in pnédi development including, but not limited to,MBaian Nordic, Dynavax, IBio,
Immunovaccine, Pfenex, Soligenix and Vaxin andaheay be other companies developing competing nas¢hat we are not aware of.

Monoclonal antibodies, or mAbs, directed againstadPébeing developed for post-exposure prophykxésas symptomatic therapy for
anthrax infection. There are a limited number ahpanies we are aware of with anti-anthrax mAbs@nuldlyclonal antibodies in
development, including Cangene Corporation, Glaxitt8ftine plc., Elusys Therapeutics, Inc., EmergBidSolutions, Inc., and 1Q
Corporation BV. There may be other companies dgetpcompeting products that we are not aware of.

There are a number of orally available small mdieeund other drugs approved and/or under developfoethe treatment of anthrax.
These include broad spectrum antibiotics as wedlrdlsrax specific products. Bayer AG produces 6ipxacin, or Ciprd® , which has been
approved for the post-exposure prophylaxis of iatiahal anthrax. In late 2004, generic version€ipio ® were also approved by the FDA. In
addition, levofloxacin, an antibiotic marketed hetUnited States by OrtideNeil Pharmaceuticals, and the generic antibiataxycycline, ar
both approved for post-exposure prophylaxis of iat@nal anthrax. There may be other companiesidpiregy competing products that we are
not aware of.

Nerve Agent Product Competitia

We are aware of antidotes to nerve agents beinglaleed by pharmaceutical companies, including Genatl Corporation, Meridian
Medical Technologies, a subsidiary of Pfizer, IfRrgtalix BioTherapeutics, Inc. and Dynport Vacc@empany, LLC, in collaboration with
Baxter Healthcare Corporation. There may be otberpanies developing competing therapies that waetraware of.
U.S. Government Contracts

For the foreseeable future, we believe our maitorosr will continue to be national governmentspyanily the U.S. government.
Substantially all of our revenues to date have lokived from grants and U.S. government contradiere can be no assurances that existing

U.S. government contracts will be continued, rerceaethat we can enter into new contracts or recasw grants to supply the U.S. or other
governments with our products. The process of nbtgigovernment contracts is lengthy and uncertain.
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U.S. government contracts typically contain unilatehanges and termination provisions for the gowent and are subject to audit by the
government at its sole discretion, which will sutbjes to additional risks. These risks includedhdity of the U.S. government unilaterally to:

. preclude us, either temporarily or for a set penbtime, from receiving new contracts or extendaxisting contracts based
on violations or suspected violations of laws @ulations;

. terminate our contracts either for the convergeoicthe government (at the governmerstble discretion, for example, if fur
become unavailable or the government no longer smduet work) or for default (for failing to perforim accordance with the
contract schedule and term

. revise the scope and value of our contracts arldéotiming for work to be performe

. audit and object to our contr-related costs and fees, including allocated indicests;

. control and potentially prohibit the export of quoducts;

. claim rights to intellectual property, includingrquroducts, developed under the contr

. add, remove, or change the terms and conditionsiitontracts; an

. cancel or amend planned procurements, includingtanding RFP solicitations (as was the case RiR-BARDA-08-15) or

Broad Agency Announcements, or BA/

The U.S. government will be able to terminate ahysocontracts with us either for its convenierfaeits sole discretion) or for default (if
we fail to perform in accordance with the contrsctiedule and terms). Termination-for-convenienoeipions generally enable us to recover
only our costs incurred or committed, settlemeipesmses, and profit on the work completed prioetmtnation. Termination-for-default
provisions do not permit these recoveries and wodéle us liable for excess costs incurred by ti& Government in procuring undelivered
items from another source.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we employed 52 persoresfait-time basis, including 34 individuals engadedesearch and development
activities and 18 individuals engaged in general asministrative functions, such as human resouft®sce, accounting, legal and investor
relations. At that date, our staff included 11 esgplkes with Ph.D. degrees. None of our employeepaatg to any collective bargaining
agreement, and we believe that our relationship wiir employees is good.
Financial Information

Our consolidated contract revenues were $17.9anjl$25.2 million and $24.3 million during the fidyears ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively. For further informatatout operating revenue, operating income, agtifinble assets and liabilities
attributable to our operations, see Item 6. SetkEteancial Data and Item 8. Financial StatementsSupplementary Data.
Financial Information by Geographic Area

For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013, 20122011 all revenues from external customers agributed to United States

customers. Our country of domicile is the Unitedt&. As of December 31, 2013, 2012, and 201bmrdj-lived assets, with a net book value,
were located in the United States.

21




Research and Development

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 20182 28nd 2011, we spent approximately $15.3 mill&k9.5 million, and $21.2 million
on research and development activities, respewgtivel

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors.

In addition to the risks described below and in subsequent SEC reports, there are additional résid uncertainties not currently known
to us or that we currently deem to be immateriak thhay also materially, adversely affect our busgdinancial condition or operating resul

If any of the risks and uncertainties set forthomehctually materialize, our business, financiahdition and/or results of operations could
be materially adversely affected, the trading pé@ur common stock could decline and a stockhaldeld lose all or part of his or her
investment. The risks and uncertainties set foelbus are not the only ones we face. Additionalsigkd uncertainties not presently known to
us or that we currently consider immaterial mayoal®pair our business operations.

Risks Related to our Financial Condition

We have a history of losses and negative cash flamicipate future losses and negative cash flowdacannot provide assurances that we
will achieve profitability.

We have incurred significant losses since we conue@ioperations. As of December 31, 2013, we hadnaglated losses of $210.3
million since our inception, and had net losseapygroximately $11.7 million, $4.9 million, and $3t8llion during the last three years,
respectively. Our losses to date have resultectipatly from research and development costs reltitede development of our product
candidates and general and administrative costterbto operations. Currently our development &ffare primarily focused on one product

candidate, SparVaX. At December 31, 2013, we had cash on hand obappately $10.5 million.

We expect to incur substantial losses for the fable future as a result of increases in our relseand development costs, including cost:
associated with conducting preclinical testingpickl trials and regulatory compliance activitifsyve continue to incur losses and are not able
to raise adequate funds to cover those losses,ayebmrequired to curtail significantly our develmgnt and commercialization activities. This
would have a material adverse effect on our busirfe@gncial condition and/or results of operations

Our likelihood for achieving profitability will degnd on numerous factors, including success in:

. obtaining and enforcing a ruling from the Delagv&@ourt of Chancery that provides for a meaningdaiedy in our on-going
litigation with SIGA,

. the timing, amount and profitability of sales ofestvyr ™ (including the timing of SIGA’s recognition of rewee related
thereto) if any final ruling from the Delaware Coaf Chancery provides as a remedy for a cash ftous related to sales or

profits of Arestvyr™

. developing our existing products and developing tasting new product candidat:

. continuing to receive government funding and idgimtg new government funding opportuniti
. receiving regulatory approval

. carrying out our intellectual property strate

. establishing our competitive positic

. pursuing thir-party collaborations

22




. acquiring or irlicensing products; an
. manufacturing and marketing produc

Many of these factors will depend on circumstarimgnd our control. We cannot guarantee that wieagtlieve sufficient revenues for
profitability. Even if we do achieve profitabilityye cannot guarantee that we can sustain or ineq@aditability on a quarterly or annual basis
in the future. If revenues grow more slowly thanamticipate, or if operating expenses exceed opeetations or cannot be adjusted
accordingly, then our business, results of opematiinancial condition and cash flows will be miaty and adversely affected. Because our
strategy includes potential acquisitions of othasibesses, acquisition expenses and any cashas®ake these acquisitions will reduce our
available cash.

Under the terms of our agreements with Avecia, rear@quired to pay Avecia (now a subsidiary of #oj) $5 million within 90 days of
entering into a multi-year funded development carttthat was to be issued by BARDA under soligtatiumber RFP-BARDA-08-15 (or any
substitution or replacement thereof) for the furtthevelopment of SparVak. BARDA cancelled RFP-BARDA-08-15 in December 2008
have received funds from BARDA and other U.S. gowant agencies under various development agreenfentslevelopment contract
deemed to be a substitute or replacement of RFPEBXB8-15 could trigger our obligation to make tHeillion payment.

Global economic uncertainty continues to make ehpitarkets more volatile and is threatening to cagain tighten the credit markets. As
a result, there can be no assurances that we wewdccessful in obtaining sufficient financingam@mmercially reasonable terms or at all. |
requirements for additional capital may be subg&hand will be dependent on many factors, inclgdime success of our research and
development efforts, our ability to commercializelanarket products, our ability to successfullysugr our licensing and collaboration
strategy, the receipt of continued government fagdcompeting technological and marketing develaps)ecosts associated with the
protection of our intellectual property and anyufiet change in our business strategy.

To the extent that we raise additional capital tigtothe sale of securities, the issuance of theseriies or shares underlying such
securities would result in dilution that could hestantial to our stockholders. In addition, if imeur additional debt financing, a substantial
portion of our operating cash flow may be dedicatethe payment of principal and interest on suclebtedness, thus limiting funds available
for our business activities.

If adequate funds are not available, we may beiredjto curtail significantly our development ar@hamercialization activities. This wot
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition and/or results of operations.

As a result of the ruling of the Delaware Suprem@@t, we no longer have a financial interest in Astvyr ™ and there can be no assuran
that the Delaware Chancery Court will issue a renyethat provides us with a financial interest in tharoduct or another remedy.

In its May 2013 decision, the Delaware Supreme Cawersed the remedy ordered by the Delaware @b@hancery and remanded the
issue of a remedy back to the trial court for restdaration in light of the Delaware Supreme Cauopinion. There can be no assurance the
Delaware Court of Chancery Court will issue a reynibét provides us with a financial interest in tgrr ™ and related products, that SIGA
will not appeal any subsequent decision by the Wata Court of Chancery, or that SIGA will not besessful in any subsequent appeal. Evel
if the Delaware Court of Chancery does provide tsnaedy with a financial interest in ArestW¥ , we may never receive any proceeds from
SIGA'’s future sales of that product.

In addition to the risks that ordinarily accompahg development and commercialization of biodefgmsducts, including with respect to

government contracting activities (including prasefled by third parties), competition (which witespect to Arestvyt includes potential
competing products being developed by Chimerix,)]Ji#DA and other regulatory approval and commdigzition efforts, which are described

elsewhere in our risk factors, any interest we imaye in future sales of SIGA’s product ArestVirand related products is subject to
additional risks.
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In particular, SIGA’s ability to deliver product the SNS (and potential foreign government purafsasand the timing and profitability
thereof (including the timing of SIGA’s recognitiaf revenue related thereto), are subject to a murobsignificant risks and uncertainties
(certain of which are outlined in SIGA's filings thithe SEC) as to which we have limited knowledge ao ability to control, mitigate or fully
evaluate. We have no first-hand knowledge of, ai@AShas not publicly disclosed, any informationateld to the potential margins or

profitability of Arestvyr™ and related products.

Even if the Delaware Chancery Court-instates its prior remedy or another remedy grargius a financial interest in Arestvyt™ | the
potential value of any damages that may be awartteds is subject to several variables, many of whize controlled by SIGA, an
uncertainties, including the timing of any final dgsion by the courts, which preclude the currentlcalation of a predictable value of the
SIGA litigation.

In its May 31, 2012 judgment, the Delaware Chan€zoyrt awarded us the right to receive 50% of @efteofits related to the sale of
Arestvyr ™ and related products for a specified period of tanee SIGA retained the first $40 million in prefiHowever, as noted in the pr
risk factor, although the Delaware Supreme Coditnaéd in May 2013 that SIGA breached contractudigations to us, its remand of the
issue of the remedy back to the Delaware ChancewytGor reconsideration has effectively deprivadofiany current financial interest on
Arestvyr ™ and related products. We cannot predict whetheD#daware Chancery Court will re-instate its priemedy or order another
remedy.

We have taken the position in documents submitigte courts, that our damages may be as high bali®h. SIGA has taken the
position, in documents that it has submitted tocitwerts, that it owes us no or nominal damageadtition, SIGA has taken post-judgment
positions with respect to Arestvy# as to timing and costs (positions we dispute), tvie expect SIGA may continue to take in the future
thus reducing or deferring SIGA's revenues fromstwgr ™ and related products and, correspondingly, potintieducing or delaying any
damages that would be owed to us. We intend taraesto vigorously pursue in court our positionttlees a result of our successful breach of
contract case against SIGA, we deserve signifidantages in our award from the Delaware ChancerytCdle can provide no assurance that
we will succeed in our litigation strategy or, ésted above, that the Delaware Chancery Courtredihstate its prior remedy or provide any
remedy at all.

Even if we are awarded a remedy by the court, waiaable to control or predict the timing of salésr whether or when SIGA will
recognize any profits with respect to ArestV{fror related products. It is possible that SIGA catiktontinue development, production or s
of Arestvyr ™ and any related products at any time such that agdanot collect any damages.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryfoarnds (NOLs) may be limited.

We have incurred substantial losses during ouolyistf the Delaware Court of Chancery does notvjoe us with a remedy in our aywing
litigation with SIGA that requires SIGA to makeigrsficant lump sum payment to us or on-going pagtagelated to sales or profits of
Arestvyr™ and related products (and any such rensedypt affirmed on appeal), we are highly unlikedybe profitable for the foreseeable
future and therefore, will not generate future td&ancome that we can use our net operating lagyforwards, or NOLSs, to offset. As of
December 31, 2013, we had federal NOLs of $144onillThe $144 million in NOLs will begin to expine various years between 2022 and
2033, if not limited by triggering events priorgach time. Under the provisions of the Internal &aie Code changes in our ownership, in
certain circumstances, will limit the amount of N©that can be utilized annually in the future ttsef taxable income. In particular, section
382 of the Internal Revenue Code imposes limitatimm a company’s ability to use NOLs upon certhianges in such ownership. If we are
limited in our ability to use our NOLs in futureams in which we have taxable income, we will payrentaxes than if we were able to utilize
our NOLs fully. For example, as a result of a poergi change in stock ownership, the annual utibzatif the NOL carryforwards generated in
tax years prior to 2007 may be subject to limitatid/e have not completed an analysis under Se88@rto determine what, if any, impact any
prior ownership change has had on our ability iizetour NOLs. Until such analysis is completed vannot be sure that the full amount of
the existing NOLs will be available to us, evew# do generate taxable income before their expimatn addition, we may experience
ownership changes in the future as a result ofespEnt shifts in our stock ownership that couldltéa further limitations being placed on ¢
ability to utilize our NOLs.
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Risks Related to Product Development and Commerciaiation

We have not commercialized any products or recogdiany revenues from sales. SparV&kas been placed on clinical hold for a second
time. All of our product candidates are still undelevelopment, and there can be no assurance of sasful commercialization of any of our
products.

We have not commercialized any product candidatesamgnized any revenues from product sales. heig, our research and
development programs are in development stagese Ta@m be no assurances that one or more of awefptoduct candidates will not fail to
meet safety and efficacy standards in human testwven if those product candidates are found teffeetive in animal studies. To develop and
commercialize biodefense treatment and prophylactduct candidates, we must provide the FDA aneido regulatory authorities with
human clinical and non-clinical animal data thanhdastrate adequate safety and effectiveness. Terggenthese data, we will have to subject
our product candidates to significant additionaksach and development efforts, including extensoreclinical studies and clinical testing.
We cannot be sure that our approach to drug disgavil be effective or will result in the develomnt of any drug. Currently our developm
efforts are primarily focused on one product caatigdSparVa® . Even if our product candidates are successfuhwisted in animals, such
success would not be a guarantee of the safetffemtigeness of such product candidates in humans.

In August 2012, we received notification from tHeAthat our SparVa® rPA anthrax vaccine program was placed on clirficéd prior tc
initiating any patient dosing in a planned Phasérical trial. The FDA requested additional stépitlata and information related to the
stability indicating assays, which we supplied, &mel FDA lifted the clinical hold in May 2013. Inebember 2013 we received natification
from the FDA that our SparVaXrPA anthrax vaccine program was placed on clirticéd for a second time. Specifically the FDA obseha
statistically significant downward trend in poterinythe engineering lot of FDP manufactured inyedfl12 and a similar but not statistically
significant trend in the cGMP lot of SparV&EDP produced four months later that we had interidese in a planned Phase 2 clinical trial.
PharmAthene recently completed the in-life portidmn ongoing non-clinical rabbit study which shah&parVax® to be beneficial in
preventing anthrax infection in animals exposedrtthrax spores. This study was designed to evalbatefficacy of SparVa® compared to
BioThrax®in animals exposed to a lethal dose of anthrax.sthey used a cGMP lot of SparV&EDP that was 22 months old at the initial
dose. The dose was repeated 28 days later usirgguthe lot. Rabbits were vaccinated with an estidhlatenan equivalent dose of each vaccine
and the data showed 100% survival for both produadgitional data from future SparV&kclinical trials and non-clinical animal studies il
be required to establish efficacy in humans. To erfovward with clinical development of SparV&sand to be able to respond to the FDA’s
concerns, the FDA has requested that we produesva@MP lot of FDP, provide the lot release datthtoFDA, and provide stability data to
the FDA on the BDS we use to produce the final gmagluct lot. The FDA has also requested that wiiicoe to collect stability data on the
previously manufactured engineering and cGMP Mits.cannot be certain that we will be able to predacGMP lot of SparVaX FDP that
the FDA will find acceptable and it is unclear kstpoint when or if we will be able to commence tanned Phase 2 human clinical trial of
SparVax® . Consequently, revenues we recognize in futureggunder our contract with BARDA for the develagrhof SparVa® will not
include those related to this clinical trial urstilch time, if ever, as we are able to move forwethl the clinical trial, and overall SparV&x
revenues will be substantially less than they atiss would have been. Further, we will need conaedtadditional funding from BARDA to
produce a new cGMP lot of SparV&and to conduct the Phase 2 clinical trial, and itriclear at this time whether BARDA will providech
funding. The clinical hold will delay the commerdation, if any, of Sparva® , and we cannot offer any assurance that we will beeable t
continue or complete product development for Spa¥/a

Research and development efforts are time-consuamndgubject to delays. Even if we initially reeepositive early-stage preclinical or
clinical results, such results may not be indi@t¥ results that could be anticipated in the latages of drug development. Delays in obtai
results in our non-clinical studies and clinicaltieg can occur for a variety of reasons, sucHases than anticipated enroliment by volunteers
in the trials, adverse events related to the prisgidailure to comply with Good Clinical Practicemforeseen safety issues, unsatisfactory
results in trials, perceived defects in the desifdinical trials, changes in regulatory policywasll as for reasons detailed in the section eu
“— Necessary reliance on the Animal Rule in conahggtrials is time-consuming and expensive.”

Any delay or adverse clinical event arising duramy of our clinical trials could force us to contladditional clinical trials in order to

obtain approval from the FDA and other regulatoodibs. Our development costs will increase subistinif we experience material delays
any clinical trials or if we need to conduct mordarger trials than planned.

25




If delays are significant, or if any of our produeindidates do not prove to be safe, pure, anchpgiteluding efficacy) or do not receive
required regulatory approvals, we may have to atanide product candidate altogether and will beblento recognize revenues from the sale
of that product. In addition, our collaborative fo@rs may not be able to conduct clinical testinghain necessary approvals from the FDA ol
other regulatory authorities for any product caatkg jointly developed by us and our partners dffail to obtain required governmental
approvals, we and our collaborative partners willexience delays in, or be precluded from, markepiroducts developed through them or, as
applicable, their research.

If we cannot maintain successful licensing arrangemts and collaborations, enter into new licensing@gements and collaborations, ¢
effectively accomplish strategic acquisitions, aaility to develop and commercialize a diverse prodportfolio could be limited and our
ability to compete may be harmed.

A key component of our business strategy is thecemsing of compounds and products developed bgrgiharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies or academic research ladrgs. In addition, we have entered into licensind research and development
agreements with a number of other parties andloaiidors. There can be no assurances that thechsead development conducted pursuant
to these agreements will result in revenue gemeygtioduct candidates. If our suppliers, vendacenkors, or other collaboration partners
experience financial difficulties as a result of theak economy, change in strategic direction (likeedecision of our main CRO vendor on our
rBChE program to cease its research and developopenations, which caused us to locate a replacevnesilor on an expedited basis), or if
they are acquired as part of the current wave n$alidations in the pharmaceutical industry (sughfar example, with the acquisitions of
Medarex by BMS and Diosynth Biotechnologies, Inpasent company by Merck & Co., or Merck, Inc. D02 and of an Avecia subsidiary by
Merck in 2010 and the subsequent acquisition afgheo entities by Fuijifilm in 2011), their priags or our working relationship with them
might change. As a result, they might shift resesraway from the research, development and/or raetuwsing efforts intended to benefit our
products, which could lead to significant delaysim development programs and potential futuress@er current licensing, research and
development, and supply agreements may expire aydot be renewable or could be terminated if waactomeet our obligations. If we are
not able to identify new licensing opportunitieseniter into other licensing arrangements on acbéptarms, we may be unable to develop a
diverse portfolio of products..

Necessary reliance on the Animal Rule in conductitrgals is time-consuming and expensive.

To obtain FDA approval for our biological warfarefdnse products under current FDA regulations, ieeequired to utilize animal model
studies for efficacy and provide animal and hunefiety data under the Animal Rule. For many of tieddgical and chemical threats, animal
models are not yet available, and as such we aredajgng, or will have to develop, appropriate aaimmodels, which is a time-consuming and
expensive research effort. Further, we may notibet@ sufficiently demonstrate the animal coriielato the satisfaction of the FDA, as these
corollaries are difficult to establish and are oftanclear. The FDA may decide that our data angfficgent for approval and require additional
non-clinical, clinical or other studies, refuseafgprove our products, or place restrictions onaduility to commercialize those products.
Further, other countries have not, at this tim&@tdshed criteria for review and approval of thegees of products outside their normal review
process, i.e., there is no Animal Rule equivalantl consequently there can be no assurance thailivibe able to make a submission for
marketing approval in foreign countries based arhsanimal data.

Additionally, few facilities in the United Stateadiinternationally have the capability to test aalgrwith anthrax, nerve agents, or other
lethal biotoxins or chemical agents or otherwisg#sasis in qualifying the requisite animal mod#&l&e have to compete with other biodefense
companies for access to this limited pool of higbpgcialized resources. We therefore may not ketaldecure contracts to conduct the testin
in a predictable timeframe or at all.
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Even if we succeed in commercializing our produetndlidates, they may not become profitable and mamtfiring problems or side effec
discovered at later stages can further increasetsad commercialization.

We cannot assure you that any drugs resulting onresearch and development efforts will beconrernercially available. Even if we
succeed in developing and commercializing our pcodandidates, they may never generate sufficiestistainable revenues to enable us
profitable.

Even if effective, a product that reaches market besubject to additional clinical trials, chan¢e®r re-approvals of our manufacturing
facilities or a change in labeling if we or otha&tsntify side effects or manufacturing problema# product is on the market. This could harr
sales of the affected products and could incrdasedst and expenses of commercializing and markétiem. It could also lead to the
suspension or revocation of regulatory approvattierproducts.

We and our CMOs will also be required to complyhathie applicable FDA cGMP regulations. These reia include requirements
relating to quality control and quality assuransenell as the corresponding maintenance of recamdsdocumentation. Manufacturing
facilities are subject to inspection by the FDAg%h facilities must be approved to supply licermeducts to the commercial marketplace.
and our contract manufacturers may not be ablertpty with the applicable cGMP requirements an@&p#DA regulatory requirements.
Should we or our contract manufacturers fail to pbrwe could be subject to fines or other san&ioncould be precluded from marketing
our products.

We may become subject to product liability claimich could reduce demand for our product candidater result in damages that exceed
our insurance coverage.

We face an inherent risk of exposure to produdility suits in connection with our product candiebeing tested in clinical trials or sold
commercially. We may become subject to a prodatility suit if any product we develop causes igjur if treated individuals subsequently
become infected or suffer adverse effects frompoaducts. Regardless of merit or eventual outcgmagjuct liability claims may result in
decreased demand for a product, injury to our egfmut, withdrawal of clinical trial volunteers, atabs of revenues.

In addition, if a product liability claim is broughgainst us, the cost of defending the claim cbeldignificant and any adverse
determination may result in liabilities in exce$®or insurance coverage. Although our anthrax taumeasures are covered under the gener:
immunity provisions of the U.S. Public Readiness Bmergency Preparedness Act, or the Public Resslihet, there can be no assurance the
the U.S. Secretary of Health and Human Servicdawéke other declarations in the future that carer of our other product candidates or
the U.S. Congress will not act in the future touaslcoverage under the Public Readiness Act @pteal it altogether. For further discussion o
that act, see “— Legislation limiting or restrigifiability for medical products used to fight béotorism is new, and it cannot be certain that
any such protection will apply to our productsfaapplied what the scope of any such coveragebsill Additionally, we are considering
applying for indemnification under the U.S. Suppbnti-terrorism by Fostering Effective Technologies (SAME Act of 2002 which preemp
and modifies tort laws so as to limit the claimd @amages potentially faced by companies who peoeé@tain “qualified” anti-terrorism
products. However, we cannot be certain that webgilable to obtain or maintain coverage undeiSAEETY Act or adequate insurance
coverage on acceptable terms, if at all.
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If we cannot effectively accomplish strategic acgitions or business combinations, generally, ourildp to develop and commercialize
diverse product portfolio could be limited and oability to compete may be harmed.

We may pursue strategic acquisitions and businesdinations to further development and commeradéitin efforts, which could result
our incurring significant out of pocket costs adlwas expending management time and those of etfm@loyees. To achieve the anticipated
benefits of an acquisition, there must be an irign of the two companies’ businesses, technodogiel employees in an efficient and
effective manner. The successful combination of gamies in a rapidly changing biodefense industry beamore difficult to accomplish than
in other industries. The combination of two companiequires, among other things, integration ottirapanies’ respective technologies and
research and development efforts. We cannot agsuréhat any integration will be accomplished srhobr successfully. The difficulties of
integration are increased by the need to coordigedgraphically separated organizations and adgassible differences in corporate cultures
and management philosophies. The integration ¢diceoperations will require the dedication of mge&aent resources that may temporarily
distract attention from the day-to-day operatiohthe combined companies. The business of the auedbiompanies may also be disrupted b
employee retention uncertainty and lack of focusndpintegration. The inability of management tteigrate successfully the operations of the
two companies, in particular, to integrate andinetay scientific personnel, or the inability tdegrate successfully two technology platforms,
could have a material adverse effect on our busjmesults of operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on U.S. Governme@bntracts

All of our immediately foreseeable future revenuage contingent upon grants and contracts from theSJ government and we may n
achieve sufficient revenues from these agreementattain profitability.

For the foreseeable future, we believe our mainocasr will be the U.S. government. Substantiallyo&bur revenues to date have been
derived from grants and U.S. government contrddtsre can be no assurances that existing U.S. gzt contracts will be continued,
renewed or that we can enter into new contracteagive new grants to supply the United Statesterayovernments with our products. The
process of obtaining government contracts is lgngtid uncertain.

For example, due to DoD budget constraints andexmscabout potential duration of protection witk thute of Protexi& administration,
the DoD did not extend our September 2006 confoad®rotexia® , allowing the contract to expire on December JM® As a result of Do’
decision not to continue funding Protefidevelopment, we closed down our Protékiaelated operations. We incurred wind-down costs in
the fourth quarter of 2010 and approximately $0ifian in 2011, for which we did not get reimbursky the government. We also wrote dc
the net book value of our Protesiarelated assets recognizing approximately $4.Ganilbf impairment charges for the year ended Deeemb
31, 2010.

If the U.S. government makes significant contracams for the supply to the SNS to our competit@ather than to us, our business ma
harmed and we may ultimately be unable to supgy pharticular treatment or product to foreign goweents or other third parties. Further,
changes in U.S. government budgets and agendabnéustrategies, cost overruns in our programadeances by our competitors, may resull
in changes in the timing of funding for, a decrebard deprioritized emphasis on, or termination of, U.Svgmment contracts that support
development and/or procurement of the biodefensdymts we are developing. For example, while RFARBA-08-15 for an rPA-based
anthrax vaccine for the SNS initially indicatedttti®e U.S. government would make an award by Sdmpe®6, 2008, the award was delayed
multiple times and ultimately canceled in Decen2@09.

Funding is subject to U.S. Congressional apprapriat which are generally made on an annual basis #or multi-year contracts. More
generally, due to the ongoing economic uncertathy, U.S. government may reduce or delay spenditigel biodefense field or eliminate
funding of certain programs altogether, which caldgrease the likelihood of future government awttawards or that the government would
procure products from us. Future funding levelstfar of our key government customers, BARDA and DD the advanced development
procurement of MCMs are uncertain, and may be stibjebudget cuts as the U.S. Congress and thedBnt$ook to reduce the nation’s
budget deficit. The Pandemic and All- Hazards Pregireess Reauthorization Act, or PAHPRA, signed liatoin March 2013, authorized $2.8
billion in funding for the SRF for fiscal years 282018. These funds are for the procurement of MGPAg1PRA also authorized $415 milli
in funding to BARDA for advanced development a¢iés. However, actual funding for BARDA is dependen annual congressional
appropriations and congress is not obligated togpjate the authorized amount. The fiscal year2&dpropriation for BARDA advanced
development is consistent with PAHPRA at $415 wnilliThe fiscal year 2014 appropriation for the 3R$255 million.

Our product development contract for Valorfftwith NIAID expired January 31, 2012. In 2013 weezet into a contract for

approximately $1 million to supply 35 vials of mastell bank for Valortin® to BARDA. There can be no assurance we will be ssgful in
obtaining additional financial support to develompeocure Valortin® .
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U.S. government agencies have special contractintharity that give them the ability to unilaterall{erminate and/or modify our contracts.

U.S. government contracts typically contain unilatehanges and termination provisions for the gowent and are subject to audit by the
government at its sole discretion, which will sutbjes to additional risks. These risks includedhdity of the U.S. government unilaterally to:

. preclude us, either temporarily or for a set pedbtime, from receiving new contracts or extendaxisting contracts based
on violations or suspected violations of laws @ulations;

. terminate our contracts, either for the convecgeof the government (at the government’s solereligm, for example, if
funds become unavailable or the government no lowgets the work) or for default (for failing tonferm in accordance
with the contract schedule and tern

. revise the scope and value of our contracts amdidse the timing for work to be performe

. audit and object to our contr-related costs and fees, including allocated indicests;

. control and potentially prohibit the export of quoducts;

. claim rights to intellectual property, includingogiucts, developed under the contr:

. add, remove, or change the terms and conditiopsiiontracts; an

. cache'IA(;‘r amend planned procurements, includingtanding RFP solicitations (as was the case RiR-BARDA-08-15)
an S.

The U.S. government will be able to terminate ahigsocontracts with us either for its convenieffaeits sole discretion) or for default if
fail to perform in accordance with the contractestlle and terms. Termination-for-convenience piousgenerally enable us to recover only
our costs incurred or committed, settlement experesad profit on the work completed prior to teration. Termination-for-default provisions
do not permit these recoveries and would makealdifor excess costs incurred by the U.S. govenhimeprocuring undelivered items from
another source.

The U.S. government may reduce or delay spenditigeiliodefense field or eliminate funding of cerfarograms altogether, which could
decrease the likelihood of future government cantaavards, the likelihood that the government exércise its right to extend any of its
existing contracts with us and/or the likelihoodttthe government would procure products from us.

The U.S. government’s determination to award anyntracts may be challenged by an interested partictsas another bidder, at the
relevant agency, GAO or in federal court (either the first instance or in review of a prior agenoy GAO decision). If such a challenge is
successful, a contract award may be-evaluated and terminated.

The laws and regulations governing the procureroegbods and services by the U.S. government peopidcedures by which other
interested parties (typically, other bidders) mhglienge the award of a government contract. laveeawarded a government contract, such
challenges or protests could be filed, regardiésehether the award was actually improper. If at@sois filed, the government agency may
decide, and in certain circumstances is requinglgeieby statute or by court order, to suspendpmuformance under the contract while the
protest is being considered by the U.S. Governmenbuntability Office, or GAO, or the applicabledferal court, thus potentially delaying
delivery of goods and services and payment. Intefgiwe might need to expend considerable fundiefend any potential award. If a protest
is successful, the government may be ordered évagiate bids and make an award based on the heaéea or amend the solicitation, invite
new bids, and make an award based on an evalu#tgrch revised bids.
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For example, in March 2010, a third-party filedid protest with the GAO challenging the Februarg@@ecision of the DHHS to modify
its existing research and development contract ustfor the development of SparV&x In March 2010 DHHS suspended performance unde
the modification pursuant to the automatic stayisions of the Competition in Contract Act (31 WCS§ 3553(d)) and implanting provisions
of the Federal Acquisition Regulation (FAR), pergdandecision by the GAO on the protest. While titepootest was ultimately denied, and
related DHHS “stop workbrder canceled in June 2010, the protest contribiat@ reduction in revenues and cash and caskadgnis over th
period that work could not be performed under tlelification. In addition, we incurred unexpectedigel and administrative expenses to
intervene in the protest. While we cannot be asktirat the Delaware Chancery Court will issue aedyrthat provides us with a financial
interest in ArestvyfM and related products or any remedy, another exarap#n award challenge occurred in October 20168mdlosing
bidder filed a successful protest with the U.S. BBuasiness Administration claiming that SIGA didtrqualify as a small business entitled to ¢
contract award under RFP-BARDA-09-35 for a smallpasiviral. When the government subsequently issuedntract to SIGA in May 2011
without the small business requirement, this samimd) bidder filed a second protest, this time lith GAO. While this protest was
withdrawn, in exchange for dropping the protest, government agreed to remove an option from th&ract permitting the government to
purchase up to 12 million additional courses ofapg of Arestvyr™ beyond the base purchase of 1.7 million courseisesaipy.

In addition, as a result of the partial U.S. Fedgeawernment shutdown from October 1 through Oatdlie 2013, work was temporarily
suspended under our development contract for SpafV&onsequently, our revenues under this contra¢h&fourth quarter of 2013 were
lower than they otherwise could have been.

Our business is subject to audit by the U.S. goveent, and a negative audit could adversely affeat business.

U.S. government agencies such as the Defense CbAudit Agency, or the DCAA, routinely audit anwvestigate government
contractors. These agencies review a contracterpnance under its contracts, cost structurecanapliance with applicable laws,
regulations and standards.

The DCAA also reviews the adequacy of, and a cotdrs compliance with, its internal control systeand policies, including the
contractor’s purchasing, property, estimating, cengation and management information systems. Asigdound to be improperly allocated
to a specific contract will not be reimbursed, wtglich costs already reimbursed must be refunfiad.dudit uncovers improper or illegal
activities, we may be subject to civil and crimipahalties and administrative sanctions, including:

. termination of contract:

. forfeiture of profits;

. suspension of paymen

. fines; anc

. suspension or prohibition from conducting busineik the U.S. governmen

In addition, we could suffer serious reputatiorairh if allegations of impropriety were made agairst
Laws and regulations affecting government contractske it more costly and difficult for us to suca#slly conduct our business
We must comply with numerous laws and regulatieteting to the formation, administration and perfance of government contracts,

which can make it more difficult for us to retaiaraights under these contracts. These laws andatgns affect how we conduct business
with government agencies. Among the most significeavernment contracting regulations that affectlmusiness are:
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. the Federal Acquisition Regulation, or FAR, ag@mcy-specific regulations supplemental to the Fddecquisition
Regulation, which comprehensively regulate the prement, from formation to administration and perfance;

. the business ethics and public integrity obligragi, which govern conflicts of interest and thénigirof former government
employees, prohibit, among other things, gratuitiestrict funding of lobbying activities and inporate other requirements
such as the Ar-Kickback Act, the Procurement Integrity Act, thdgeaClaims Act and Foreign Corrupt Practices .

. export and import control laws and regulatic

. laws, regulations and executive orders restgctive use and dissemination of information clasdifor national security
purposes and the exportation of certain produds@chnical data; ar

. laws, regulations, and executive orders thatatlte government to claim certain rights to cortieg® intellectual property
such as the Ba-Dohl Act.

Foreign governments typically also have laws amdlagions governing contracts with their respectigencies. These foreign laws and
regulations affect how we and our customers conblusiness and, in some instances, impose addexlaosiur business. Any changes in
applicable laws and regulations could restrictahility to maintain our existing contracts and abtaew contracts, which could limit our
ability to conduct our business and materially agely affect our revenues and results of operations

Risks Related to Dependence on or Competition Frofhird Parties

Because we depend on clinical research centers atiebr contractors for clinical and no-clinical testing, including testing under the
Animal Rule, and for certain research and developmectivities, the results of our clinical trial, an-clinical animal efficacy studies, and
research and development activities are largelydrey our control.

The nature of clinical trials and our businesstetrg of outsourcing substantially all of our reséaand development and manufacturing
work require that we rely on clinical research arigations and other contractors to assist us weislearch and development, clinical and non-
clinical testing (including animal efficacy studiesder the Animal Rule), patient enrollment, mawtifeing and other activities. As a result,
success depends largely on the success of thedgérties in performing their responsibilitiest#dugh we prequalify our contractors and
believe that they are fully capable of performihgit contractual obligations, we cannot directlytrol the adequacy and timeliness of the
resources and expertise that they apply to thasétms. Furthermore, we have to compete with othiedefense and biopharmaceutical
companies for access to this limited pool of higspecialized resources. If our contractors do eofiopm their obligations in an adequate and
timely manner or we are unable to enter into camgravith them, the pace of clinical or non-clinidalvelopment, regulatory approval and
commercialization of our product candidates cowdignificantly delayed and our prospects coulddhersely affected.

We depend on third parties to manufacture, packagel distribute compounds for our product candidataisd key components for our
product candidates. The failure of these third pis to provide their services or to perform thentsassfully could harm our busines

We do not have any of our own manufacturing fae#itWe have therefore utilized, and intend to iowrt utilizing, third parties to
manufacture, package and distribute our produadidates and key components of our product candidAtey material disruption in
manufacturing (i.e. due to third party capacityaeailability limitations) could cause a delay irr @ieévelopment programs and potential future
sales. Furthermore, certain compounds, mediaher oaw materials used to manufacture our drugidates are available from any one or a
limited number of sources. Any delays or difficaftiin obtaining key components for our product @atds or in manufacturing, packaging or
distributing our product candidates could delagichl trials and further development of these ptig¢products. Additionally, the third parties
we rely on for manufacturing and packaging areestttip regulatory review, and any regulatory coanpte problems with these third parties
could significantly delay or disrupt our commeriation activities.
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Finally, third-party manufacturers, suppliers amtributors, like most companies, have been adiyeedtected by the credit crisis and
weakening of the global economy and as such magdye susceptible to being acquired as part of tihheent wave of consolidations in the
pharmaceutical industry. It has, for example, bezatmllenging for companies to secure debt cauithind their operations as financial
institutions have significantly curtailed their ting activities. If our third-party suppliers camiie to experience financial difficulties as a resul
of weak demand for their products or for other oeasand are unable to obtain the capital necessagntinue their present level of operations
or are acquired by others, they may have to retheie activities and/or their priorities or our vkarg relationship with them might change. A
material deterioration in their ability or willingss to meet their obligations to us could caussglaydn our development programs and pote
future sales and jeopardize our ability to meetahligations under our contracts with the governnogrother third parties.

We face, and likely will continue to face, compéiit from companies with greater financial, personihend research and development
resources. Our commercial opportunities will be texkd or eliminated if our competitors are more sessful in the development and
marketing of their products.

The biopharmaceutical industry is characterizedapyd and significant technological change. Ouicess will depend on our ability to
develop and apply our technologies in the desighdavelopment of our product candidates and tdksiteand maintain a market for our
product candidates. There are many organizatiah, fublic and private, including major pharmaceaitand chemical companies, specialize
biotechnology firms, universities and other reskanstitutions engaged in developing pharmaceutiadl biotechnology products. Many of
these organizations have substantially greatenéiiad, technical, intellectual property, researold development, and human resources than v
have. Competitors may develop products or othdmelogies that are more effective than any thatweedeveloping or may obtain FDA
approval for products more rapidly. For example, thS. government selected a plague vaccine praductidate from a competitor for
advanced development funding, causing us to winehdactivities related to the development of our Rgp ™ product candidate in 2010.

If we commence commercial sales of products, wienstist compete in the manufacturing and marketihguch products, areas in which
we have limited experience. Many of these orgaiumatalso have manufacturing facilities and esshield marketing capabilities that would
enable such companies to market competing prodluciagh existing channels of distribution. Our coemnaial opportunities will be reduced
eliminated if our competitors develop and marketdoicts that:

. are more effective

. have fewer or less severe adverse side eft

. are more adaptable to various modes of do:

. obtain orphan drug exclusivity that blocks the appat of our application for seven yea

. are easier to administer;

. are less expensive than the products or produdidates that we are, or in the future will be, deping.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act ¢iffable Care Act), signed into law by Presidenti@®an March 23, 2010, amends the
Public Health Service Act (PHS Act) to create ahrakiated licensure pathway for biological produbest are demonstrated to be “biosimilar”
to or “interchangeable” with an FDA-licensed bidlca product. Under this new law, a biological ¢gwot may be demonstrated to be
“biosimilar” if data show that, among other thintjse product is “highly similar” to an already-apped biological product. To date, FDA has
not approved a biological product as biosimilamberchangeable. Since passage of the Affordable Bct in 2010, however, FDA has been
establishing standards for licensure to ensursdfiety and effectiveness of biosimilars. Becauslgical products are complex products, the
development and approval of biosimilars is a coogtéid and challenging process. The FDA understdradseveral companies are develo,
biosimilar products and may submit applicationslimensure under the new law. Scientists, climsizand other personnel at the FDA are
currently working out the details of the review dicgnsure process. It is not yet known when tre biosimilar will be on the U.S. market.
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If we are successful in developing licensed biatagproducts and a competitor company/companiessehto develop biosimilar products
and receives FDA licensure for such products,dbmpetition may impact the revenue projectionsofar products.

Even if we are successful in developing effectix@dpcts, and obtains FDA and other regulatory aggdsonecessary for commercializing
them, our products may not compete effectively wither successful products. Our competitors magesettin developing and marketing
products either that are more effective than thbaewe may develop, alone or with our collaborgtanaking our products obsolete, or that ar
marketed before any products that we develop arketed.

Risks Related to Political and Social Factors
Political or social factors may delay or impair owbility to market our products and our business ynbe materially adversely affecte

Products developed to treat diseases caused tiycombat the threat of, bioterrorism will be suibje changing political and social
environments. The political and social responsdsdterrorism have been unpredictable. Politicadaerial pressures may delay or cause
resistance to bringing our products to marketmitlpricing of our products, which would harm owrsiness.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property

Our commercial success will be affected significhniby our ability (i) to obtain and maintain protéion for our proprietary technology and
that of our licensors and collaborators and (ii) h¢o infringe on patents and proprietary rights d¢iird parties.

Issues surrounding patents of biotechnology firftsnoinvolve complex legal and factual questioms],aherefore, validity and
enforceability cannot be predicted with certaifity.date, no consistent policy has emerged regattimreadth of claims allowed in
biotechnology patents. We currently have four pegdi.S. patent applications, and have a limited lmemof foreign patents and pending
international and foreign patents applicationsaddition, we have rights under numerous other psimd patent applications pursuant to
exclusive and non-exclusive license arrangemerttsligensors and collaborators. However, therelmano assurance that patent applications
owned or licensed by us will result in patents gassued or that the patents, whether existingsarad in the future, will afford protection
against competitors with similar technology. Anynflicts resulting from third-party patent appliaais and patents could significantly reduce
the coverage of the patents owned, optioned big@nded to us or our collaborators and limit oulitgtor that of our collaborators to obtain
meaningful patent protection. Further, our comnamiiccess will depend significantly on our abitiyoperate without infringing the patents
and proprietary rights of third parties. We are @enaf one U.S. patent covering recombinant produaobf an antibody and a license may be
required under such patent with respect to Valofirwhich is a monoclonal antibody and uses recombipesduction technologies. Althout
the patent owner has granted licenses under suehtpae cannot provide any assurances that webwitlble to obtain such a license or that
the terms thereof will be reasonable. If we dootuiin such a license and if a legal action baseslich patent was to be brought against us c
our distributors, licensees or collaborators, wenod provide any assurances that we or our digtibulicensees or collaborators would pre
or that we have sufficient funds or resources femt# such claims.

The costs associated with establishing the valififyatents, of defending against patent infringehetaims of others and of asserting
infringement claims against others is expensivetand consuming, even if the ultimate outcome i®fable. An outcome of any patent
prosecution or litigation that is unfavorable toanone of our licensors or collaborators may haweaterial adverse effect on us. The expense
of a protracted infringement suit, even if ultimatiavorable, would also have a material adver$ecebn us.
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We furthermore rely upon trade secrets protectiwrofir confidential and proprietary information. \Wave taken measures to protect our
proprietary information; however, these measureg invd provide adequate protection to us. We hauglsioto protect our proprietary
information by entering into confidentiality agreents with employees, collaborators and consultdNgsertheless, employees, collaborato
consultants may still disclose our proprietary infation, and we may not be able to meaningfullytgmbour trade secrets. In addition, others
may independently develop substantially equivabeaprietary information or techniques or otherwgsén access to our trade secrets.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approvals and Legislatin

Our use of hazardous materials and chemicals re@sus to comply with regulatory requirements whietay result in significant costs and
expose us to potential liabilities.

Our research and development involves the contteite of hazardous materials and chemicals. Wsudnject to federal, state, local and
foreign laws governing the use, manufacture, serhgndling and disposal of such materials. Wenatlbe able to eliminate the risk of
accidental contamination or injury from these matsr In the event of such an accident, we coulébbeed to pay significant damages or fines
and these damages could exceed our resources a@ag@licable insurance coverage. In addition, wg barequired to incur significant costs
to comply with regulatory requirements in the figtur

Legislation limiting or restricting liability for medical products used to fight bioterrorism is neand it cannot be certain that any suc
protection will apply to our products or if appliegdhat the scope of any such coverage will

The U.S. Public Readiness Act was signed into fa@eécember 2005 and creates general immunity foufagturers of countermeasures,
including security countermeasures (as defineceitti8n 319F-2(c)(1)(B) of that act), when the WS8cretary of Health and Human Services
issues a declaration for their manufacture, adrmation or use. The declaration is meant to progeeeral immunity from all claims under
state or federal law for loss arising out of thenadstration or use of a covered countermeasurewuféecturers are excluded from this
protection in cases of willful misconduct. Althoughr anthrax countermeasures have been covered tivedgeneral immunity provisions of
the Public Readiness Act since October 1, 2008etb@n be no assurance that the Secretary of HaadtfHuman Services will make other
declarations in the future that would cover anpwf other product candidates or that the U.S. Gesgwill not act in the future to reduce
coverage under the Public Readiness Act or to tépaiéogether.

Upon a declaration by the Secretary of Health anch&h Services, a compensation fund would be creéaterbvide “timely, uniform, and
adequate compensation to eligible individuals forered injuries directly caused by the administratir use of a covered countermeasure.”
The “covered injuries” to which the program apple defined as serious physical injuries or ddatividuals are permitted to bring a willful
misconduct action against a manufacturer only afftey have exhausted their remedies under the amsafien program. A willful misconduct
action could be brought against us if an individs)ahas exhausted their remedies under the comgimgaogram which thereby could expose
us to liability. Furthermore, there is no assuratheg the Secretary of Health and Human Servicéisssue under this act a declaration to
establish a compensation fund. We may also becaliject to standard product liability suits and ottinérd party claims if products we
develop which fall outside of the Public Readindsscause injury or if treated individuals subsetfliebecome infected or otherwise suffer
adverse effects from such products.

We are required to comply with certain export coolttaws, which may limit our ability to sell our ducts to non-U.S. persons and may
subject us to regulatory requirements that may deta limit our ability to develop and commercializir products.

Our product candidates are subject to the ExpomiAtstration Regulations, or EAR, administered by U.S. Department of Commerce
and are, in certain instances (such as aspects ofesve agent countermeasure product candidatb@cs to the International Traffic in Arms
Regulations, or ITAR, administered by the U.S. Dépant of State. EAR restricts the export of dusd-products and technical data to certain
countries, while ITAR restricts the export of deferproducts, technical data and defense servibesUTS. government agencies responsible
for administering EAR and ITAR have significantatistion in the interpretation and enforcement eSthregulations. Failure to comply with
these regulations can result in criminal and @eihalties and may harm our ability to enter intotcacts with the U.S. government. It is also
possible that these regulations could adversebcatiur ability to sell our products to non-U.Ssttumers.
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Risks Related to Personnel
We depend on our key technical and management pensd, and the loss of these personnel could imptaie development of our products.

We rely, and will continue to rely, on our key mgament and scientific staff, all of whom are empldyat-will. The loss of key personnel
or the failure to recruit necessary additional digal personnel could have a material adverse effeour business and results of operations.
There is intense competition from other companiesgarch and academic institutions and other azgtions for qualified personnel. We may
not be able to continue to attract and retain tredified personnel necessary for the developmenuobusiness. If we do not succeed in
retaining and recruiting necessary personnel oeld@ing this expertise, our business could suffgriBcantly.

Biotechnology companies often become subject tanatathat they or their employees wrongfully useddisclosed alleged trade secrets
the employees’ former employers. Such litigatiorutebresult in substantial costs and be a distractito our management.

As is commonplace in the biotechnology industry,emgloy individuals who were previously employeatiter biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including at competitogsotential competitors. Although no claims agaursare currently pending, we may be
subject to claims that we or our employees haveviedently or otherwise used or disclosed tradestgor other proprietary information of
their former employers. Litigation may be necessargiefend against these claims. Even if we areessgful in defending against these claims
litigation could result in substantial costs anstidict management.

Risks Related to our Common Stock and, our GE Loakgreement

If we do not meet the continued listing standardistibe NYSE MKT our common stock could be delistedrh trading, which could limit
investors’ ability to make transactions in our conam stock and subject us to additional trading restions.

Our common stock is listed on the NYSE MKT, a nadiosecurities exchange, which imposes contintithdj requirements with respeci
listed shares. If, however, we fail to satisfy toatinued listing standards, such as, for exantp&erequirement that our shares not trade “for ¢
substantial period of time at a low price per sharghat we not dispose of our principal operatasgets or discontinue a substantial portion o
our operations, among other requirements, the NMBHE may issue another non-compliance letter oiatgt delisting proceedings.

If our securities are delisted from trading on B¢SE MKT and we are not able to list our securitiesanother exchange or to have them
guoted on NASDAQ, our securities could be quotethenOTC Bulletin Board or on the “pink sheets.” @sesult, we could face significant
adverse consequences including:

. a limited availability of market quotations for csgcurities;

. a determination that our common stock is a “periogks which will require brokers trading in our commongk to adhere t
more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduevel of trading activity in the secondary tragimarket for our securitie

. a limited amount of news and analyst coverage $oand

. a decreased ability to issue additional securftreduding pursuant to short-form registration staénts on Form S-3 or
obtain additional financing in the future
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Our stock price is volatile.

The market price of our common stock has beenjsaarlpected to continue to be, subject to significalatility. The value of our commc
stock may decline regardless of our operating perdmce or prospects. Factors that may affect oukebarice include:

. Our perceived prospects, including but not limlite any developments in the timing and outcomin®fSIGA litigation and
changes in U.S. government funding of projects liictv we participate

. variations in our operating results and whethehase achieved key business targ

. changes in, or our failure to meet, revenue estgs)

. changes in securities analy buy/sell recommendation

. differences between our reported results and tergected by investors and securities anal'

. announcements of new contracts or other developnigntis or our competitor

. reaction to any acquisitions, joint ventures oatgtgic investments announced by us or our compgtiamd
. general economic, political or stock market cormdisi.

Shares that we may issue in the future in conneatiwith certain capita-raising transactions and shares available for futiissuance upon
exercise of warrants and options could dilute oupskholders and depress the market price of our eoaom stock.

The issuance of our securities in the future mayekss the market price of our stock, and any sinaméing(s) will dilute our existing
stockholders.

In addition, as of December 31, 2013, we had oundiétey options to purchase approximately 6.0 milltvares of common stock (not
including restricted shares). Additional sharesraserved for issuance under our 2007 Long-Terraritiee Compensation Plan. Our stock
options are generally exercisable for ten years) wisignificant portion exercisable either immeelipor beginning one year after the date of
the grant.

As of December 31, 2013, aggregate gross saleglftitional common stock of approximately $8.6 roilliremained available under the
March 25, 2013 controlled equity offering enteretbiwith a sales agent pursuant to which we magrafhd sell, from time to time, through
agent shares of our common stock having an aggedfring price of up to $15.0 million.

We filed two registration statements on Form SiBe(Nos. 333-161587 and 333-176607) covering tkaleeof shares issued upon
conversion of our 10% convertible notes and issuapbn exercise of related warrants by certairuofadfiliates, among other security holde
Both registration statements have been declaredtafé. Our obligation under the terms of the edategistration rights agreement is to keep
these registration statements effective. The satbdse security holders of their shares pursumttitet registration statement or otherwise couls
depress the market price of our common stock.

Finally, as of December 31, 2013, we had issuedoaitstanding additional warrants to purchase wpfroximately 5.6 million shares of
common stock.

The issuance or even the expected issuance afetamber of shares of our common stock upon peegl@nversion or exercise of the
securities described above could depress the mpariket of our stock and the issuance of such shaitedilute the stock ownership of our
existing stockholders. Shares that we may isstiegriuture in connection with certain capitalsing transactions and shares available for ¢
issuance upon exercise of warrants and optionglablute our stockholders and depress the markes pf our common stock.
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We can give no assurances that we will ever paydgimds.

The current loan and security agreement with GEt@lagpecifically restricts the declaration or pamhof any dividends. We have never
paid any dividends on our common stock, and weatdntend to declare any dividends in the foreskehlture. While subject to periodic
review, our current policy is to retain all earrsnd any, primarily to finance our future growilVe make no assurances that we will ever pay
dividends, cash or otherwise. Whether we pay amgelinds in the future will depend on our finandahdition, results of operations, and othet
factors that we will consider.

Our fully-secured loan agreement with GE Capitalssibject to acceleration in specified circumstancesich may result in GE Capital
taking possession and disposing of any collateral.

In the first quarter 2012, we closed on a senitty{fsecured debt facility with GE Capital providifigr a $2.5 million term loan and a revolving
line of credit of up to $5 million based on a peragye of our outstanding qualified accounts red#e:eOur obligations under the GE Loan
Agreement are secured by a security interest istanbally all of our assets. While the securitiemest does not, except in limited
circumstances, cover our intellectual propertgoies cover any proceeds to us from the use oféntahl property. The GE Loan Agreement
contains customary representations, warrantiecawnenants, including limitations on acquisitionspwsitions, incurrence of indebtedness an
the granting of security interests. Upon the oanee and during the continuance of any event afudefGE Capital may, and at the written
request of the requisite lenders shall, terminagecommitments under the facilities and declarearsil of the obligations to be immediately
due and payable, without demand or notice to uy.@uent of default relating to timely payment obtie insolvency, liquidation, bankruptcy
or similar events will result in automatic accetama. Among the remedies available to GE Capitaldaee of an event of default are the taking
possession and disposition of any collateral uttteiGE Loan Agreement.

Iltem 1.B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.

Our principal executive offices are located at ®Gaek Place, Annapolis, MD 21401 and are comprigegpproximately 21,900 square
feet. The lease expires in 2017.

Management believes that these facilities are lslgitand adequate to meet our anticipated needs.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Except as noted below, we are not a party to artgniahlegal proceedings.

In December 2006, we filed a complaint against SiG#e Delaware Court of Chancery. The compldlilegad, among other things, that
we have the right to license exclusively developnae marketing rights for SIGA’s drug candidateegtvyr™ (Tecovirimat), pursuant to a
merger agreement between the parties that wasrtatedi in 2006. The complaint also alleged that Sf@ked to negotiate in good faith the
terms of such a license pursuant to the terminatedjer agreement with SIGA.

In September 2011, the Delaware Court of Chanasyeid an opinion in the case finding that SIGA vadched certain contractual
obligations to us and upholding our claims of presory estoppel. The Delaware Court of Chancery @&eaus the right to receive 50% of all
net profits (as defined in the court’s final judgmjerelated to the sale of Arestvi¥ (formerly known as ST-248) and related products for 10
years following initial commercial sale of the dragce SIGA earns $40.0 million in net profits fréine sale of Arestvy™ and related
products. The Delaware Court of Chancery also aghus a portion of our attorney's fees and expiness and other costs. In May 2012, the
Delaware Court of Chancery issued its final judgm8hGA appealed aspects of the decision to theele Supreme Court. In response, we
cross-appealed other aspects of the decision.
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In May 2013, the Delaware Supreme Court issuedliisg on the appeal, affirming the Delaware Cafr€hancery’s finding that SIGA
had breached certain contractual obligations teay&rsing its finding of promissory estoppel, aechanding the case back to the Delaware
Court of Chancery to reconsider the remedy and dwhattorney's fees and expert witness and oftsdn light of the Delaware Supreme
Court’s opinion. The Delaware Court of Chanceryrtidanal oral arguments on the issue of remedyrduthe first quarter of 2014, and we
expect the court to issue its ruling within the t@veral months. Currently, because the Delawapeetne Court remanded the issue of a

remedy back to the Delaware Chancery Court, wengdr have a financial interest in Arestt{fand may never receive any proceeds from
the product.

While we believe there may be significant revenateptial under a potential damages award, therdearo assurance that the Delaware
Court of Chancery will re-instate its prior remeatyorder another remedy for us, that SIGA will appeal any subsequent decision by the
Delaware Court of Chancery, or that SIGA will netfuccessful in any subsequent appeal.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities.

Market

Our common stock trades on the NYSE MKT (formerlyE Amex) under the symbol “PIP”. The following talsets forth the range of
high and low sales prices per share of our comntmekn the NYSE MKT for the past two years durihg periods shown.

Fiscal Year 2013 High Low

4" Quarter Ended December $ 22: $ 1.6€
3 Quarter Ended September $ 24z % 1.5¢
2"dQuarter Ended June : $ 22 $ 1.47
1 StQuarter Ended March ¢ $ 2.0 $ 1.0Z
Fiscal Year 2012 High Low

4" Quarter Ended December $ 147 $ .9¢
3 Quarter Ended September $ 1.7C $ 1.1¢
2 "dQuarter Ended June : $ 1.8¢ $ 1.1¢
1 stQuarter Ended March ¢ $ 21C $ 1.2C

38




Holders

As of March 3, 2014, we had 73 record holders efaoummon stock. The number of record holders igthas the actual number of hold
registered on the books of our transfer agent aed dot reflect holders of shares in “street naongdersons, partnerships, associations,
corporations or other entities identified in segupiosition listings maintained by depository trastnpanies.

Dividends

The GE Loan Agreement entered into in March 20EZigally restricts the declaration or paymentaf dividends. We have never paid
any dividends on our common stock and do not interdiclare any dividends in the foreseeable futdfigile subject to periodic review, the
current policy of our Board of Directors is to lietall earnings, if any, primarily to finance owtdire growth. We make no assurances that we
will ever pay dividends, cash or otherwise. Whethierpay any dividends in the future will dependoom financial condition, results of
operations, and other factors that the Board oé@ars will consider.

Performance Graph

The following line graph compares the cumulativialtstockholder return through December 31, 20%8uming reinvestment of divident
by an investor who invested $100 on December 308 2@ each of (i) our common stock, (ii) the NYSEKWComposite Index; and (iii) the
Nasdaq Biotech Composite Ind¢

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among PharmAthene, Inc., NYSE MKT Composite Indaxd the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index
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* $100 invested on 12/31/2008 in stock or index|uding reinvestment of dividends. Fiscal year agddbecember 31.

December 31

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
PharmAthene, Inc $ 100.0( $ 85.2] $ 183.9: $ 5522 $ 48.7C $ 80.81
NYSE MKT Composite Inde $ 100.0( $ 130.5¢ $ 158.0: $ 163.0{ $ 1685¢ $ 173.6:
NASDAQ Biotech Composite Inde $ 100.0 $ 1156 $ 1329¢ $ 148.6¢ $ 196.1: $ 324.8(

The stock price performance included in this graptot necessarily indicative of future stock prieeformance.
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Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The information required by this Item concerningwséies authorized for issuance under equity camspgon plans is set forth in Item 12,
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownerslaanagement and Related Stockholder Matters,” vhi@m is incorporated herein by
reference to our definitive proxy statement or areadment to our Annual Report on Form 10-K to bdfivithin 120 days of our fiscal year
end.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.
Use of Proceeds

Not applicable.

Purchases of Equity Securities

Not applicable.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

You should read the following selected consoliddileaincial data together with our consolidated ficial statements and the related notes
included in this annual report on Form 10-K and“tanagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations”
section of this annual report.

We have derived the consolidated statement of tipasdata for the years ended December 31, 2@i2,2nd 2011 and the consolidated
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013 andf@fi2ur audited consolidated financial statementdch are included elsewhere in this
annual report on Form 10-K. We have derived thesobdiated statements of operations data for thesyeraded December 31, 2010 and 2009
and the consolidated balance sheet data as of eredt, 2011, 2010, and 2009 from our audited dateted financial statements, which are
not included in this annual report on FormK.00ur historical results for any prior period awa necessarily indicative of results to be expd
in any future period.

Selected Financial Data

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Statements of operations de
Revenue $17,912,60 $25,175,88 $24,266,27 $ 20,993,60 $ 27,549,97
Operating expense
Research and developme 15,290,14 19,509,62 21,219,85 20,875,53 30,219,75
General and administratiy 13,279,18 11,628,73 14,311,07 18,015,76 22,432,58
Depreciation and amortization (including $4,635,489
impairment charges in 2010) 182,48 303,91¢ 461,07: 5,655,86! 872,30
Total operating expenses 28,751,81 31,442,27 35,992,00 44,547,16 53,524,64
Loss from operation (10,839,20) (6,266,39)) (11,725,73) (23,553,55) (25,974,66)
Other income (expense
Interest incom 2,57¢ 17,80¢ 16,66( 6,95¢ 269,13¢
Interest expens (369,28)  (342,56) (54,57Y) (5,936,48) (2,837,30)
Change in fair value of derivative instrume (444,62)) 591,03¢ 7,144,98. (5,457,55) 1,043,78:
Other income (expens (6,077 47,86: 39,32¢ 91,35¢ (90,65%)
Realization of cumulative translation adjustm - 1,227,65 - - -
Gain on the sale of assets held for - - 781,76( - -
Loss on the early extinguishment of debt - - - - (4,690,04)
Total other income (expense) (817,399 1,541,80. 7,928,15/ (11,295,72) (6,305,09)
Net loss before income tax (11,656,60) (4,724,58) (3,797,57) (34,849,27) (32,279,76)
Provision for income taxes (61,74¢) (195,529 - - -
Net Loss $(11,718,35) $(4,920,11) $ (3,797,57) $(34,849,27) $(32,279,76)
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (029 % (010 % (0.0 $ (1.09) $ (1.17)
Weighted average shares used in calculation o€ fzeml
diluted net loss per sha 50,659,11 48,323,06 47,331,76 32,309,62 27,575,33
As of December 31
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Balance Sheet Dat
Cash and cash equivalel $10,480,97' $12,701,51 $11,236,77 $11,785,32 $ 2,673,56'
Working capital 7,543,12° 12,307,42 14,997,66 17,420,24 12,018,43
Total asset 17,139,28 22,741,40 22,803,50 27,199,04 35,333,04
Total lon¢-term liabilities 3,007,591 3,579,14i 2,336,36. 8,824,85. 18,714,43
Total stockholders' equi 7,335,71. 11,673,84 15,851,80 12,210,70 3,152,39
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion should be read in conjiomctvith our consolidated financial statements, ethpresent our results of operations
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 andl 291vell as our financial positions at December&113 and 2012, contained elsewh
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Some of thermftion contained in this discussion and analgsiset forth elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 1-K, including information with respect to our plaasd strategy for our business and related finagcincludes forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncett@#n You should review the “Special Note Regardingvard Looking Statements” and
“Risk Factors” sections of this Annual Report fodascussion of important factors that could caustial results to differ materially from the
results described in or implied by the forward-loakstatements contained in the following discussind analysis.

Overview

We are a biodefense company engaged in the develtpand commercialization of next generation médicantermeasures, or MCMs,
against biological and chemical threats. Our curbérdefense portfolio includes the following pretlieandidates:

*  SparVax®, a next generation recombinant protective anti¢‘rPA”) anthrax vaccine

* rBChE (recombinant butyrylcholinesterase) biograyer, a medical countermeasure for nerve agesbpioig by organophosphorous
compounds, including nerve gases and pesticidek

*  Valortim ®, a fully human monoclonal antibody for the preventimd treatment of anthrax infectic

In addition, in May 2013 the Delaware Supreme Catfitmed a September 2011 ruling of the Delawaoeir€of Chancery that SIGA had
breached certain contractual obligations to us.Mh#er is on remand to the Delaware Court of Cegnto determine a remedy in light of the
Delaware Supreme Court’s decision. Previously tealare Court of Chancery had awarded us the tiglaceive 50% of all net profits (as
defined in the court’s final judgment) related e sale of SIGA’s Arestvyt" (formerly known as ST-248) and related products for 10 years
following initial commercial sale of the drug on8éGA earns $40.0 million in net profits from theesaof Arestvyr'™ and related products a
a portion of our attorney’s fees and expert witreess other costs. The Delaware Court of Chancemydhi&nal oral arguments on the issue of
remedy during the first quarter of 2014, and weeexphe court to issue its ruling within the neateral months. There can be no assuranci
the Delaware Court of Chancery will re-instatepit®r remedy or order another remedy for us, th&ASwill not appeal any subsequent
decision by the Delaware Court of Chancery, or 81&A will not be successful in any subsequent appe

Critical Accounting Policies

A “critical accounting policy” is one that is boitmportant to the portrayal of our financial conditiand results of operations and that
requires management’'s most difficult, subjectivea@mplex judgments. Such judgments are often thaltref a need to make estimates about
the effect of matters that are inherently uncertéire preparation of our financial statements infeomity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires managememake estimates and assumptions that affect gogteal amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabildiethe date of the financial statements and therted amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results couilified materially from those estimates.

A summary of our critical accounting policies, inding those that require the use of significaritestes and judgment, follows. A more
comprehensive description of all of our significantounting policies is contained in Note 2 to cemsolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recoghnitio
Our revenue comes from primarily two types of cacotwal arrangements, which are cost-plus-fee cttstrand fixed price contracts.

Reimbursable grants may fall into either categBgvenue is recognized when persuasive evidenae afrangement exists, delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered, the'sgilire to the buyer is fixed or determinable, aoliectability is reasonably assured.
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Revenues on cost-plus-fee contracts are recogageth amount equal to cost plus a proportion ofipticable fee as per the contract. Fe
is either recognized as a fixed fee, earned basdieoratio of work done to total cost or as a stdee fee. Milestone fee revenue is recognize
when the related work is completed.

Milestones are considered substantive if all offdiewing conditions are met:

* itis commensurate with either our performancme®t the milestone or the enhancement of the \altiee delivered item or items as
a result of a specific outcome resulting from oerfprmance to achieve the milesto

» itrelates solely to past performance,

» the value of the milestone is reasonable reldtval the deliverables and payment terms (inclgdither potential milestone
consideration) within the arrangeme

If a milestone is deemed not to be substantiveCihimpany recognizes the portion of the milestongrEnt as revenue that correlates to
work already performed; the remaining portion & thilestone payment is deferred and recognizedwenue as the Company completes its
performance obligations.

Revenue on fixed price contracts (without substantnilestones as described above) is recognizéldeopercentage-of-completion
method. The percentage-of-completion method rezegnmevenue as the contract progresses basee totahcosts expended as compared tc
an estimate of the total costs on the contract uBeeof the percentage-of-completion method dependke ability to make reasonable
dependable estimates and the fact that circumstanag necessitate frequent revision of estimates dot indicate that the estimates are
unreliable for the purpose for which they are used.

As a result of our revenue recognition policies #redbilling provisions contained in our contradke timing of customer billings may
differ from the timing of recognizing revenue. Anmisi recognized as revenue in excess of amounesitidl customers are reflected on the
balance sheet as unbilled accounts receivable. Atadnvoiced to customers in excess of revenuegrized are reflected on the balance shee
as deferred revenue.

We analyze each cost reimbursable grant to determirether we should report such reimbursementsv@snue or as an offset to our
expenses incurred. For the years ended Decemb@032, 2012 and 2011, we recorded approximately2sillion, $1.1 million and $0.7
million, respectively, of costs reimbursed by tlewgrnment as an offset to research and developexpenses.

Share-Based Payments

We have a long-term incentive compensation plah,TéP, under which options to purchase shares ocommon stock may be granted to
employees, consultants and directors at a pridessthan the quoted market value on the dateasftgihe LTIP also provides for awards in
the form of stock appreciation rights, restrictedinrestricted stock awards, stock-equivalent wnigserformance-based stock awards.

We account for share-based awards to employees@neimployee directors at fair value. The amount of gensation expense recogni:
using the fair value method requires us to exeijcidgment and make assumptions relating to the@fa¢hat determine the fair value of our
stock option grants. We use the Black-Scholes mimdestimate the fair value of our option grantse Tair value calculated by this model is a
function of several factors, including grant prittes risk-free interest rate, the expected terthefoption and the anticipated volatility of the
option.

Goodwill
We continually assess the realizability and recalbiity of our goodwill. These assessments congaipstantial judgment in determining

fair value of such assets and with respect to éutisage of the assets and potential cash flowsiasst with them.
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Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments, and/or embedded featooesained in those instruments, often are clasbiis derivative liabilities and are
recorded at their fair values. The determinatiofagfvalue of these instruments and features regugstimates and judgments. Certain of our
stock purchase warrants are considered to be degvabilities due to the presence of net setdairfeatures and/or non-standard anti-dilutior
provisions,; generally the fair value of our watsais determined based on the Black-Scholes opticing model. Use of the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model requires the use of unobsdevaiputs such as the expected term, anticipatéatility and expected dividends.
Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Decembg?@12
Revenut

We recognized revenue of $17.9 million and $25.aniduring the years ended December 31, 2013281@, respectively.

Year ended December =

Revenue ($ in millions 2013 2012 % Changge

SparVax® $ 155 $ 22.¢ (32.9%
rBChE 24 1.8 33.%
Valortim® - 0.t (100.0%
Total Revenue $ 17.¢ $ 25.2 (29.0%

Our revenue was derived primarily from contracttwiie U.S. government for the development of Spaf®/and our rBChE bioscaveng
Our revenue changed in 2013 from 2012 primarily ugne following:

Under our contract for the development of Spar@axve recognized approximately $15.5 million and $2gillion of revenue for years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectivelgcredse of $7.4 million, or 32.3%, from 2012. Dgr2013 revenue was primarily
attributable to chemistry, manufacturing, and calstror CMC, work, non-clinical animal studies, dimdited clinical trial pre-study activities.
Milestone revenue for 2013 was $0.4 million. Dur2@L2 revenue for the SparV&program was primarily attributable to CMC work, teém
non-clinical activities and limited clinical trigre-study activities. Milestone revenue in 2012 %22 million. The decrease in revenue for
2013 compared to 2012 reflects lower overall dgwalent activity in 2013 partially as a result of tiv® FDA clinical holds imposed in Augu
2012 and in December 2013.

With the lifting of the FDA's first clinical holdri May 2013 on SparVaX, and as a result of the consent and extensidmegpériod of
performance of our development contract from BARD#, started to recognize revenue during the foguidrter of 2013 with respect to pre-
study activities related to a planned Phase 2ddliriiial for that product candidate. That clinitrl was suspended prior to first patient dosing
as a result of a second clinical hold issued byFIDA in December 2013. In addition, as a resuthefpartial federal government shutdown
from October 1 through October 16, 2013, work vessgorarily suspended under our development corfsa@parVax® . As a result,
revenues and corresponding research and developostistunder this contract for the fourth quar@®2were lower than they otherwise
would have been expected.

44




As noted above, in December 2013 we received natitin from the FDA that our SparV&xPA anthrax vaccine program was placed on
clinical hold for a second time. Specifically thBA observed a statistically significant downwarena in potency in the engineering lot of F
manufactured in early 2012 and a similar but natistically significant trend in the cGMP lot of &WVax® FDP produced four months later
that we had intended to use in a planned Phasaeigatltrial. PharmAthene recently completed thdifia portion of an ongoing non-clinical
rabbit study which showed SparV&xo be beneficial in preventing anthrax infectioraimimals exposed to anthrax spores. This study was
designed to evaluate the efficacy of SparPaompared to BioThraR in animals exposed to a lethal dose of anthrax.stidy used a cGMP
lot of SparVax® FDP that was 22 months old at the initial dose. dbse was repeated 28 days later using the sanfRdbbits were vaccinat
with an estimated human equivalent dose of eactiva@nd the data showed 100% survival for botllpets. Additional data from future
SparVax® clinical trials and non-clinical animal studies Mik required to establish efficacy in humans. Tavenforward with clinical
development of SparVakand to be able to respond to the FDA’s concermsFDA has requested that we produce a new cGM&t BDP,
provide the lot release data to the FDA, and pmsigbility data to the FDA on the BDS we use twdpce that final drug product lot. The F
has also requested that we continue to collecilisyatiata on the previously manufactured enginagiand cGMP lots. We cannot be certain
that we will be able to produce a cGMP lot of Spax¥ FDP that the FDA will find acceptable to move fordiavith our clinical development,
and it is unclear at this point when or if we ti# able to commence the planned Phase 2 humacatlirial of SparVa . Consequently,
revenues we recognize in future periods under ontract with BARDA for the development of SparV&will be limited to that work which i
currently under contract and will not include woekated to this clinical trial until such time,gfrer, we are able to move forward with the
clinical trial, and overall SparVa&revenues will be substantially less than they atiss would have been. The period of performance for
current funding ends in February 2015. Furtheryileneed additional funding from BARDA to produeenew cGMP lot of SparVaXand to
conduct the Phase 2 clinical trial, and it is uaclat this time whether BARDA will provide such fling. The clinical hold will delay the
commercialization, if any, of SparV&k, and we cannot offer any assurance that we wélt &e able to continue or complete product
development for SparVaX.

Unless we are able to secure new contracts andsoirden the U.S. government to fund additional depment activities for our SparVék
program and for eventual procurement of that prodeeenues for this program in future periods Wélless than in past years.

Under our contract for our second generation rBBiaScavenger, we recognized approximately $2.4anitind $1.8 million of revenue
for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 20L& cteely, an increase of $0.6 million, or 33.3¥nf 2012. In 2012 our activities relatec
the establishment of final clones, genetic stabditd fed batch evaluation to establish the bidoeamnditions for manufacturing, while in
2013 we completed process development work andrialageneration activities and continued to exeadtvities to support non-clinical
studies. The period of performance for current fagdor this contract is scheduled to end on M&@th2014. Unless we are able to secure
additional funding for our rBChE bioscavenger depehent program, we anticipate revenues for thignam in future periods to be less tha
past years.

With respect to our Valortiff development program, we recognized no revenue 18 28 compared to $0.5 million in 2012, which we
recognized under a 2007 development contract wigiMfor Valortim ® that ended in accordance with its terms in the djtsrter 2012. In
2013 we entered into an indefinite delivery/ind@érmquantity, or ID/IQ, contract with BARDA. BARD#ssued a task order to us under that
ID/IQ contract for approximately $1.0 million togply vials of master cell bank materials for Vaior® to the U.S. government, and we
anticipate delivering those materials in 2014. Aiddial government funding has not been awardethidevelopment of Valortiffi. There
can be no assurance we will be successful in dbtpedditional financial support for this program.

Research and Development Exper

Our research and development expenses were $1HBichrand $19.5 million for the years ended Decengfe 2013 and 2012,
respectively, a decrease of $4.2 million, or 21.5%m 2012. These expenses resulted from reseatdevelopment activities in all periods
related primarily to our SparVakand rBChE bioscavenger programs. Direct expenshsded salaries and other costs of personnel, raw
materials and supplies, and an allocation of imdiexpenses. We also incurred third-party costsh si$ contract research, consulting and
clinical development costs for individual projed&esearch and development expenses for 2013 weod the receipt of approximately $0.5
million, the result of the settlement of a lawdiléd against a vendor. Research and developmgrreses for the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012 were net of cost reimbursements wmaitain of our government grants of $0.02 milleord $1.1million, respectively.

45




Research and development expenses for the yeaed &rtember 31, 2013 and 2012 were attributablestarch programs as follows:

Year ended December =

($ in millions) 201z 2012 9% Change

SparVax® and Valortim® $ 142 $ 18.2 (22.9)%
rBChE bioscavenge 1.€ 1.1 45.5%
Internal research and development (0.5) 0.1 (600.0)%
Total research and development expenses $ 152 $ 19.t (21.5%

For the year ended December 31, 2013, researcteargiopment expenses decreased $4.2 million frak2,2@rimarily due to (i) the
receipt in the 2013 period of approximately $0.Hiam, the result of the settlement of a lawsuiedi against a vendor and (ii) decreased costs
related to SparVaX resulting from reduced overall development actiit2013, partially as a result of the FDA's twinaal holds imposed
in August 2012 and December 2013. These reducioosst were partially offset by increased costeunrBChE bioscavenger program. With
the lifting of the FDA's first clinical hold in Ma013 on SparVa® , and as a result of the consent and extensidmegbeériod of performance
of our development contract from BARDA, costs iraged in the fourth quarter of 2013, when compavdld third quarter of 2013, as a result
of pre-study activities related to a planned Pl#asknical trial. As a result of the partial fedegovernment shutdown from October 1 through
October 16, 2013 and a second FDA clinical holdasgal in December 2013, work was suspended temiyanader our development contract
for SparvVax® . Consequently, research and development costsaresponding revenues under this contract fofdheth quarter 2013 were
lower than they otherwise would have been. Unles$DA clinical hold is lifted, and we are ablesgcure new contracts or orders from the
U.S. government to fund development activitiesdor SparVax® program, we anticipate that research and developausis for this program
in future periods to be less than in past years.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative functions include exgeuhanagement, finance and administration, goventraffairs and regulations,
corporate development, human resources, legalcamgliance. For each function, we may incur expgsseh as salaries, supplies and third-
party consulting and other external costs and ramtr@xpenditures such as expense related to giticki @nd restricted share awards. An
allocation of indirect costs such as facilitieglitigs and other administrative overhead is afsdided in general and administrative expenses.

General and administrative expenses increased Byrillion, or 14.7%, to $13.3 million for the yeanded December 31, 2013, from
$11.6 million for 2012. The increase in expensaind2013 was due to $3.3 million in merger tratises costs related to the terminated
merger with Theraclone Sciences, Inc. (“Theraclpmdiich were partially offset by reduced labor asdociated share-based compensation
costs as well as decreased professional fees.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income (expense) primarily consists of charigehe fair value of our derivative financial insnents, income related to the
realization of the cumulative translation adjustimend interest expense on our debt and otherdiababligations.

Other expense was $0.8 million in the year endeckBber 31, 2013, compared to other income of $1llBmin 2012, resulting in a
change in other income (expense) of approximat2lg gillion, or 153.3%. The change was primarilg thsult of (i) the $1.0 million change
in the fair value of derivative instruments, fromwanrealized gain of $0.6 million to an unrealiteskes of $0.4 million, for the year ended
December 31, 2012 and 2013, respectively andgig eesult of substantially completing the liquidatof our Canadian subsidiary in July
2012, which resulted in the realization of approiety $1.2 million of income in our condensed cdidsded statement of operations, which
represents the amount of previously recorded fareigrency translation adjustments related to anadian subsidiary.

Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes was $0.1 million &2 million during the years ended December 8132and 2012, respectively, a

decrease of approximately $0.1 million. Our pramisfor income taxes results from the differenceveen the treatment of goodwill for incol
tax purposes and for U.S. GAAP.
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Year Ended December 31, 2012 Compared to Decembg?@11

Revenu

We recognized revenue of $25.2 million and $24.fBoniduring the years ended December 31, 2012281d , respectively. Our revenue
in 2012 was derived from contracts with the U.Stegament for the development of our product candisla

Year ended December =

Revenue ($ in millions 201z 2011 9% Change

SparVax $ 22¢ $ 19.c 18.7%
rBChE- second generatic 1.8 0.7 157.1%
rBChE- Protexia - 0.€ (100.0%
Valortim 0.5 3.7 (86.5%
Total Revenue $ 252 $ 24.: 3.7%

Our revenue changed in 2012 from 2011 primarily tudae following:

Under our contract for the development of Sparfaxve recognized approximately $22.9 million of newe in 2012, an increase of $3.6

million (or 18.7%) from 2011. During 2012 revenwe fhe SparVa® program was primarily attributable to CMC work, teém non-clinical
activities and limited clinical trial pre-study agties. During 2011, revenue was primarily attitible to CMC work. Milestone revenue for the
achievement of key technical milestones was apprately $2.2 million and $3.5 million for the yeansded December 31, 2012 and 2011,
respectively.

Under our contract for our second generation rBBiuScavenger, we recognized approximately $1.8anilrepresenting an increase of
approximately $1.1 million (or 157.1%) from 2011gi&ficant technical progress was made in the dgwekent of our second generation rB(
bioscavenger in 2012, including the establishméfihal clones, genetic stability and fed batchlaa#ion to establish the bioreactor conditions
for manufacturing.

Under our NIAID contracts for the advanced develeptrof Valortim® , we recognized $0.5 million of revenue in 2018ubstantial

decrease of $3.2 million (or 86.5%) from 2011 levas a result of our 2007 contract with NIAID fealwrtim ® ending in accordance with its
terms in the first quarter 2012.

Research and Development Exper

Our research and development expenses were $18idnrand $21.2 million for the years ended Decengfe 2012 and 2011,
respectively. These expenses resulted from reseaxtilevelopment activities related to Spar¥axBChE bioscavenger and Valortim
® _ Research and development expenses include dixpenses (salaries and other costs of personmeederials and supplies, contract
research, consulting and clinical development ¢a@std an allocation of indirect expenses.

Research and development expenses for the yeaed &rtember 31, 2012 and 2011 were attributablesarch programs as follows:

Year ended December &

(% in millions) 2012 2011 % Change

SparVa:® and Valortin® $ 18.2 $ 18.¢ (2.7%
rBChE bioscavenge 1.1 0.€ 83.2%
Internal research and development 0.1 1.8 (94.4)%
Total research and development expenses $ 195 $ 21.2 (8.0%
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Research and development expenses for both 20120dridwere net of cost reimbursements under cesfadar government grants of $!
million and $0.7 million, respectively.

In 2012, research and development expenses dedrapgmximately $1.7 million from 2011, primarilyel to a reduction in (i) indirect
operating expenses including overhead and inteesalarch and development, and (i) direct costteelto our Valortin® program as a result
of the completion in the first quarter of 2012 adrk under our 2007 contract with NIAID, offset bigher direct SparVa® program expenses.

General and Administrative Expenses

Expenses associated with general and administrameations were $11.6 million for 2012 and $14.3lion for 2011, an approximate 19%
decrease. The decrease in general and administetpenses from 2011 to 2012 was largely due ®%B.3 million reduction in legal and
professional expenses primarily related to the Sli@g@ation and trial activities and (ii) a planneeduction in headcount, offset in part by a
$1.4 million insurance recovery that was receivedd11.

Other Income (Expense)

Other income in 2012 was $1.5 million, compare@® million in 2011, a decrease of $6.4 millioheTdecrease was primarily the result
of (i) a $6.5 million difference in gains relataxlthe changes in fair value of our derivative imstents, (ii) a $0.8 million gain in 2011 from the
sale of Canadian assets held for sale, and (ifjapmately $0.3 million of additional interest eqse in 2012 generated from our loans with
GE Capital, offset by $1.2 million of income reldt® the realization of the cumulative translatimjustment upon the substantial liquidatio
PharmAthene Canada, Inc. in July 2012.

Income Taxe

The provision for income taxes was approximately2 $8illion for the year ended December 31, 201Pypared to no provision in 2011.
The provision for income taxes in 2012 resultedrfthe difference between the treatment of goodailincome tax purposes and for U.S.
GAAP.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

In addition to amounts paid under our developmentract for SparVa® , our primary source of cash during 2013 was preiftom
proceeds raised as a result of sales of sharasr @bonmon stock under the controlled equity offgrmrangement, which we commenced ai
end of March 2013. We ceased making sales of stodkr the controlled equity offering arrangemenspant to the terms of the merger
agreement we entered into with Theraclone on JUJ\2813. We terminated that merger agreement oeiker 1, 2013 and the suspension ol
the controlled equity offering was subsequenthgtif Our primary sources of funding in 2012 wereants paid under our development

contract for SparVa® and provided under our term loan and revolving bheredit with GE Capital.

Our future capital requirements will depend on meagtors, including, the progress of our researah@development programs; the prog
of preclinical and clinical testing; the time armstinvolved in obtaining regulatory approval; ttest of filing, prosecuting, defending and
enforcing any patent claims and other intellecpraperty rights; changes in our existing reseaetdtionships; competing technological and
marketing developments; our ability to establishatmrative arrangements and to enter into licepsigreements and contractual arrangemen
with others; and any future change in our busisésgegy. Our cash requirements could change raliyeais a result of shifts in our business
and strategy. The need to raise additional capithlepend on many factors, including but not lied to, our future cash requirements, future
contract funding, the ongoing proceedings in digdiion with SIGA, the timing, amount, and profitiéty of sales of Arestvyr™ | if any
(including potentially the timing of SIGA’s recogdiuin of revenue related thereto) in the event tizé tourt awards us a remedy tied to sales o
profits of that product, and our ability to collerhounts due from SIGA in the event the DelawarerCaf Chancery awards us a remedy tied
to sales or profits of ArestvyM , the outcome of any appeal of any subsequentidediy the Delaware Court of Chancery to the Delawa
Supreme Court.
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Historically, we have not generated positive cdsWw$ from operations. To bridge the gap betweempeyts made to us under our U.S.
government contracts and grants and our operatidgapital needs, we have had to rely on a vag&financing sources, including the
issuance of equity and equity-linked securities pruteeds from loans and other borrowings. On Mag;t2013, we entered into a controlled
equity offering arrangement pursuant to which we wiéer and sell, from time to time, through a sadgent, shares of our common stock
having an aggregate offering price of up to $15illan. As of December 31, 2013, aggregate gro$sssar additional common stock of
approximately $8.6 million remained available unther arrangement. Please see “— Financing Acte/itieelow. For the foreseeable future,
we will continue to rely upon these types of finaigcvehicles and potentially others to help fund falure operating and capital requirements.

Due to the current economic environment, the UdSegnment may be forced or choose to reduce oy dglanding in the biodefense field,
which could decrease the likelihood of future goweent contract awards, the likelihood that the goment will exercise its right to extend
any of its existing contracts with us and/or thelihood that the government would procure prodércis us. As a result of the partial federal
government shutdown from October 1 through Octdiéer2013, work was temporarily suspended undedeuelopment contract for SparVax
® . Further, as a result of a clinical hold imposgdtie FDA in December 2013 on the Spar\Padevelopment program, revenues and
corresponding research and development costs timdarontract for the fourth quarter 2013 were Iothan they otherwise would have been.
Further, it is unclear when or if we will be abtedommence the planned Phase 2 human clinical @@isequently we expect Spar\ax
related revenues and corresponding research amtbg@vent expenses until such time, if ever, asmgahble to move forward with the clinical
trial to be substantially less than they otherwisild have been had we commenced the clinicaldggllanned.

Cash Flows
The following table provides information regardiogr cash flows for the years ended December 313,281112 and 2011.

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Net cash provided by (used il
Operating activitie! $ (7,168,20) $ (2,322,90) $ (7,808,55)
Investing activities (81,079 67,40( 1,687,52
Financing activitie: 5,030,12 3,720,07. 5,781,322
Effects of exchange rates on cash (1,387) 181 (208,85:)
Total increase (decrease) in net cash $ (2,220,53) $ 1,464,74 $ (548,55¢)

Sources and Uses of Cash

Cash and cash equivalents were $10.5 million, $d#libn and $11.2 million at December 31, 201312@&nd 2011, respectively. The $
million decrease at December 31, 2013 comparecctedber 31, 2012 was primarily attributable to $iiion of cash used in operations,
which includes approximately $3.0 million in casdichin connection with our terminated merger agresimvith Theraclone, and $0.8 million
repayment of the current portion of long-term defd $0.2 million net repayment of the revolvingditegreement, partially offset by $6.0
million in net proceeds raised under the controfigdity offering. The $1.5 million increase at Deabxer 31, 2012 compared to December 31,
2011 was primarily attributable to the $2.5 milliim loan, which we closed in the first quartet 20and the $1.3 million borrowed under the
revolving line of credit, partially offset by $28illion of cash used in operations.
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Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was approtein&7.2 million, $2.3 million and $7.8 million fahe years ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, respectively.

Net cash used by operating activities during 2@f&cts our net loss of $11.7 million, adjusted$ar4 million for non-cash share-based
compensation expense, $0.4 million for the incréaske fair value of derivative instruments and4sillion for other non-cash expenses. A
decrease in receivables (billed and unbilled) o9$gillion and prepaid expense and other curresgtasof $0.3 million and an increase in
accrued expenses and other liabilities of $0.8ionilas partially offset by a decrease in accopatgble of $0.6 million and deferred revenue
of $1.0 million.

Net cash used in operations during the year endegmber 31, 2012 reflects our net loss of $4.9anilladjusted for non-cash share-base
compensation expense of $1.9 million, the $1.2iomlbain on the realization of the cumulative ttatisn adjustment related to PharmAthene
Canada, Inc., the decrease in the fair value a¥atére instruments of $0.6 million and other nosit&xpenses of $0.6 million. The decrease i
accounts receivable of approximately $2.0 milliowl ancrease in deferred revenue of approximatel9 $0llion was partially offset by an
increase in unbilled accounts receivable of appnately $1.1 million.

Net cash used in operations during the year endeg@ber 31, 2011 reflects our net loss of $3.8anilladjusted for the change in market
value of noneash derivative instruments of $7.1 million, theesa the assets held for sale for a net gain d $dillion and depreciation of $C
million. Net cash used in operations was also intgghby non-cash shared-based compensation expeheanillion, a decrease in unbilled
accounts receivable of $1.0 million, prepaid exgsrend other current assets of $1.5 million, andwaats payable of $1.7 million.

Unless we are able to secure new contracts andsofrden the U.S. government to fund additional depment activities for our programs
and for eventual procurement of our products, wieigate cash generated by contracts will be lowduture periods than in past years.

Investing Activities

There were no significant investing activities floe years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, resgpecThe net cash provided by
investing activities was approximately $1.7 millitor the year ended December 31, 2011. Investitigities in 2011 consisted primarily of tl
sale of the Canadian farm operations.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $5ilion for the year ended December 31, 2013 aspaoed to $3.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012 and $5.8 million for thee yaded December 31, 2011.

Net cash provided by financing activities for theayended December 31, 2013 was principally thdtreEnet proceeds received from
sales of our stock under the controlled equityraffiparrangement partially offset by the repaynadrihe current portion of long-term debt and
net repayment of the revolving credit agreemené fEnm loan of $1.8 million and approximately $tillion under the revolving line of credit
were outstanding as of December 31, 2013.

The majority of our cash provided by financing foe year ended December 31, 2012 related to otrademgements with GE Capital, as
described in Note 6 to the consolidated finandetesnents. The term loan of $2.5 million and appnately $1.3 million under the revolving
line of credit were outstanding as of December281,2.

In 2011, we raised net proceeds of approximatelg $8llion primarily from the issuance and salel¢857,143 shares of common stock
warrants to purchase up to an additional 371,428shof common stock at an exercise price of $8e5&Ghare.
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On March 25, 2013, we entered into a controlledtgapifering arrangement pursuant to which we méfgroand sell, from time to time,
through a sales agent, shares of our common stdhdnan aggregate offering price of up to $15.0oni. Under the arrangement, the agent
may sell shares by any method permitted by lawdis®ined to be an “at-the-market” offering as defiimeule 415 promulgated under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including salade directly on the NYSE MKT, on any other exigttrading market for the Common
Stock or to or through a market maker. We are bbigated to sell any shares under this arrangenvéatare obligated to pay the agent a
commission of 3.0% of the aggregate gross procienseach sale of shares. As of December 31, 28degate gross sales for additional
common stock of approximately $8.6 million remaireilable under the arrangement. There were s sdlstock under the controlled eq
offering arrangement after July 31, 2013, purstaniie terms of the merger agreement with Thera&cl®he merger agreement was terminate
on December 1, 2013, and the suspension on the gat@mmon stock under that controlled equity rirfig was subsequently lifted.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Contractual Obligations

The following are contractual commitments at Decen$i, 2013:

Contractual Obligations @ Less than More than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
Operating facility lease $ 2,822,400 % 797,700 $ 1,667,801 $ 356,90( $ >
Research and development agreem 5,100,00! 5,100,001 - - -
Term loan, principal and interest payment 1,916,00! 1,133,00! 783,00( - -
Total contractual obligations $ 9,838,400 $ 7,030,700 $ 2,450,800 $ 356,900 $ -

(1) This table does not include any royalty payrmeatating to future sales of products subjecidense agreements we have entered into in
relation to our in-licensed technology, as the tignand likelihood of such payments are not knowre Tble also excludes any obligations
related to registration rights agreements, aswtreba Maintenance Failure, as the likelihoodgoth payment is not probable. In addition,
the table does not include the final payment fe00®8 million on the term loan, which is being med and expensed over the term of the
agreement, using the effective interest methoth@debt discount, which is being amortized overtérm of the agreement. The debt
discount and final payment accrual at DecembeRB13 were $0.02 million and $0.05 million respeeiyv

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures &out Market Risks

Our exposure to market risk is currently confineadtir cash and cash equivalents and our revoluiegolf credit. We currently do not
hedge interest rate exposure or foreign currenchi@xge exposure. We have not used derivative fiakinstruments for speculation or tradi
purposes.

The Company’s current operations in foreign coestare minimal. We have closed our active operstioiCanada and maintain only
nominal operations in the United Kingdom. A 10%mf@in exchange rates (against the U.S. dollar)dvoot have a material impact on
earnings, fair values or cash flow.

Because of the short-term maturities of our cashcash equivalents, we do not believe that an aserén market interest rates would have
a significant impact on their realized value. Camt loan with GE Capital is at a fixed 10.14% r&ecause of the fixed rate, a change in
market interest rates would not have a materiabthpn interest expense associated with the |daaifterest rate on the revolving line of
credit is variable; therefore, a 1% increase inkeginterest rates above the interest rate flodr. 5%, would increase interest expense
associated with the line by $50,000 if the maximamount of the line ($5.0 million) was drawn fonl fyear.
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The change in fair value of our derivative instrumses calculated utilizing the Black-Scholes modeérefore, a 10% increase/decrease ir
the closing price of our common stock at DecemleRB13, would have resulted in a change in fdinezaf derivative instruments and our
earnings of approximately $0.3 million.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

Our financial statements and supplementary datainesjto be filed pursuant to this Item 8 appeaa separate section of this report
beginning on page F-1.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountason Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management has evaluated, with the participatimur Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Ficéal Officer, the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures, as defm&ililes 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Seesriikchange Act of 1934, as of Decembe
31, 2013. Based upon this evaluation, our manageh@nconcluded that our disclosure controls andqatures were effective as of
December 31, 2013.
Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of the Company is responsible fabkshing and maintaining adequate internal cdmtver financial reporting for the
Company. Internal control over financial reportinglefined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) pronabégl under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934,

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehgmsCompany’s internal control over financiaborting as of December 31, 2013.
In making this assessment, the Company’s managemseditthe criteria set forth by the Committee afr&wred Organization of the Treadway
Commission, or COSO, in “Internal Control-Integchteramework (1992 Framework).” Based on this asses management concluded that

as of December 31, 2013, the Company'’s internairobaver financial reporting is effective at theasonable assurance level.

The Company's independent registered public acowufitm has issued a report on the effectivendssternal control over financial
reporting. This report dated March 11, 2014 appearsage F-2 of this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in the Company’s internal obatrer financial reporting during the most recgrtbmpleted quarter that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyead, the Company’s internal control over financegorting.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
Part 11l
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpora¢ Governance.
The information required by this Item 10 is incagted by reference to our definitive proxy statehmran amendment to our Annual

Report on Form 10-K to be filed within 120 daysoaf fiscal year end.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Iltem 11 is incogted by reference to our definitive proxy statehmran amendment to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K to be filed within 120 daysoaf fiscal year end.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Mattet

The information required by this Item 12 is incogted by reference to our definitive proxy statethmran amendment to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K to be filed within 120 daysoaf fiscal year end.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transa@ns, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item 13 is incogted by reference to our definitive proxy statehmran amendment to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K to be filed within 120 dayoaf fiscal year end.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item 14 is incagted by reference to our definitive proxy statehmwran amendment to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K to be filed within 120 daysoaf fiscal year end.

Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Financial Statements
Reference is made to the Index to the Consolidaitegincial Statements beginning on page F-1 ofrdpsrt.
Financial Statement Schedules

Required information is included in the footnotegtte financial statements.

Exhibit Index
Exhibit
No. Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated Janu&rd07, by and among Healthcare Acquisition Cd?p\l, Acquisition Corp., and
PharmAthene, Inc. (2

2.2 Sale and Purchase Agreement, dated MarckOR@, by and among the Registrant and Avecia Invessts Limited, Avecia
Biologics Limited and Avecia Biologics, Inc. (

2.3 Amendment Agreement, dated April 2, 2008abgt among, PharmAthene, Inc., PharmAthene UK Lundted PharmAthene US
Corporation and Avecia Investments Limited, AveBialogics Limited and Avecia Biologics, Inc. (

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatioh® Company, as amended. (.

3.2 By-laws, as amended. (3

4.1 Specimen Unit Certificate. (.

4.2 Specimen Common Stock Certificate.
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4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

10.4

10.9

10.12

10.23

10.28

10.28.2

10.30

10.30.1

10.30.6

10.30.7

10.30.8

10.30.9

10.30.1C

10.30.11

10.31

10.33

10.34

10.35

Amendment to Unit Purchase Option by and betweerRigistrant and Maxim Partners, LLC dated Jan28yR007. (3
Form of Warrant in connection with Securities Paissth Agreement dated as of March 23, 2009.

Form of Warrant in connection with Note and Warfntchase Agreement, as amended as of July 28, DD

Form of Warrant in connection with Securities Paissh Agreement dated as of April 7, 2010. |

Form of Warrant in connection with Securities Paissth Agreement dated as of July 20, 2010.

Form of Warrant in connection with Subscription &gment dated as of June 10, 2011.

Form of Warrant in connection with Loan and Segutigreement, dated March 30, 2012. (

Form of Registration Rights Agreement among theiftemt and the Initial Stockholders. |

Form of Registration Rights Agreement by ammbng Healthcare Acquisition Corp. and the forsteckholders and note holders
of PharmAthene, Inc. (

Amended and Restated 2007 L-Term Incentive Compensation Plan.
Collaboration Agreement, dated November 29, 20941 between the Company and Medarex, Inc.

Office Lease, dated September 14, 200&nkybetween the Company and Park Place Trust, esdsd by First Amendment to
Office Lease, dated January 22, 2007. |

Second Amendment to Office Lease, by and betwes€timpany and Park Place Trust, dated Septemb@0@8, (28
Form of PharmAthene, Inc. Executive Employment Agnent. (9)+4

Employment Agreement, dated December 23, 2010ntybatween Eric Richman and the Company++

Form of Executive Restricted Stock Award Agreemen{29)

Form of Executive Stock Option Agreement.++ (

Form of Director Stock Option Agreement.++ (.

Employment Agreement, dated June 30, 2008, by ahdden Jordan P. Karp and the Company. (1!

Employment Agreement, dated February 7, 2012, biybetween Linda Chang and the Company. (1t

Employment Agreement, dated April 18, 2008, by bativeen Francesca Cook and the Company. (3

Form of PharmAthene, Inc. Confidentiality and I-Solicitation Agreement. (¢

Master Service Agreement, dated Decembe2®l, between Avecia Limited and the Secretai$tate for Defence, acting
through the Defence Science and Technology Labgré2STL). (10)+

Master Service Agreement, dated August 18, 200Byden Avecia Limited and DSTL. (10

Manufacturing Licence Agreement, dated June 2062b6tween Avecia Limited and DSTL. (1C
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10.36.1

10.37

10.37.1

10.44

10.45

10.451

10.45.2

10.48

10.49

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58

10.59

10.60

Amended and Restated Manufacturing antéfiag Licence Agreement between the SecretaBtatie for Defence as
represented by the Defence Science and Technolalggratory (Dstl) and PharmAthene UK Ltd. in respgdRecombinant [***]
Vaccine, dated February 11, 2009. (1
Letter Agreement, dated March 20, 2008, betweerciavBiologics Limited and DSTL. (10)

Amended and Restated Licence Agreeméntba the Secretary of State for Defence as repieddy the Defence Science and
Technology Laboratory (Dstl) and PharmAthene UK litdrespect of Recombinant [***] Vaccine, datecbFegary 5, 2009. (13)

Contract with the National Institutes ofale for the Production and Testing of Anthrax Rabmant Protective Antigen (rPA)
Vaccine (#N0-AI-30052) “NIH Prime Contrac-Anthray’), dated September 29, 2003. (1!

Amendments 1 through 13 to the NIH Prime Con-Anthrax. (19)+ **

Modification (Amendment) 16 to the Coantraith the National Institutes of Health for theoBuction and Testing of Anthrax
Recombinant Protective Antigen (rPA) Vaccine (#-Al-30052). (18)+

Modification (Amendment) 18 to the Contraith the National Institutes of Health for theoBuction and Testing of Anthrax
Recombinant Protective Antigen (rPA) Vaccine (HH80200900203C). (27)

Form of Indemnification Agreement (1

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement dated asaoéiV23, 2009 between the Company and the Purchpagy thereto. (1£
Form of Note and Warrant Purchase Agreendanéd as of July 24, 2009, by and among Pharnm&thiec. and the investors
signatories thereto, as amended by Amendment oNbte and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated &dy®6, 2009 and

Amendment No. 2 to Note and Warrant Purchase Ageegndated as of July 28, 2009. (.

Form of Registration Rights Agreement, da® of July 28, 2009 by and among PharmAthene aimt the investors signatories
thereto. (14

Technology Transfer and Development SesvBighcontract, dated as of September 17, 200%dpetween Diosynth
Biotechnologies Inc. and PharmAthene, Inc. (1

Form of Securities Purchase Agreementddageof April 7, 2010, between PharmAthene, Ind. we Purchasers party thereto.
(23)

Form of Securities Purchase Agreementddageof July 20, 2010, between PharmAthene, imttlae Purchasers party thereto.
(24)

Form of Subscription Agreement, dated as of Jun€Q01, between PharmAthene, Inc. and the Inveptnty thereto. (3C
Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 30, 2(BD.

Agreement, dated December 5, 2011, betRBarmAthene Canada, Inc. and Ferme Pillar Hill Eegarding the sale of real
estate

Controlled Equity Offering Sales Agreement, datearéh 25, 2013 between PharmAthene, Inc. and Céittagerald & Co. (32
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21
23
311
31.2
32.1
32.2

(101)

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(%)

(6)

(7)

(8)

()

(10)

Subsidiaries. (28

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registéteblic Accounting Firm.

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursudo SEC Rule 1%-14(a)/15+-14(a).*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursudo SEC Rule 1:-14(a)/15¢+14(a).*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursudo 18 U.S.C. Section 135C

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuao 18 U.S.C. Section 135C

The following consolidated financial statarts from the PharmAthene, Inc. Annual Report onmFb0-K for the year ended
December 31, 2013, formatted in Extensive BusifRegsorting Language ("XBRL"): (i) Consolidated BadarSheets as of
December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, (ii) Gioladed Statements of Operations for the yearseéideember 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011, (iii) Consolidated Statements of @raensive Loss, (iv) Consolidated Statements afkbiblders’ Equity for the
years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 ofydlidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeadsed December 3
2013, 2012 and 2011, and (v) Notes to consolidfitedicial statements,

Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntie

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docuntte

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doenth

Incorporated by reference to the Registration &tate on Form -1 of the Registrant filed on May 6, 20(

Incorporated by reference to the Current Repoftamm ¢-K filed by the Registrant on January 22, 2C

Incorporated by reference to the Current Repoftamm ¢-K filed by the Registrant on January 25, 2C

Incorporated by reference to the Current Repofftamm ¢-K/A filed by the Registrant on September 24, 2(

Incorporated by reference to the Current Repoftamm ¢-K filed by the Registrant on March 26, 20l

Incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffam ¢-K filed by the Registrant on April 8, 200

Incorporated by reference to the Current Repofearm &-K filed by the Registrant on May 2, 20(

Incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the RrStatement on Schedule 14A filed by the Registoantay 15, 200€

Incorporated by reference to the correspandihibit to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qdiley the Registrant on August 14,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to the correspuméihibit to the Amendment to the Quarterly ReporForm 10-Q/A filed by the
Registrant on August 19, 20C
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(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

(17)

(18)

(19)

(20)
(21)
(22)
(23)
(24)
(25)
(26)
(27)
(28)
(29)

Incorporated by reference to the correspuméihibit to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-@diby the Registrant on
November 14, 200¢

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 to therént Report on Form-K filed by the Registrant on January 27, 2C

Incorporated by reference to the correspumdihibit to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-@diby the Registrant on May 15,
2009.

Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 taQbmpan’s current report on Forn-K filed on August 3, 200¢

Incorporated by reference to Exhibits 1(hd &0.2, respectively, to the Current Report om#8+K filed by the Registrant
on March 27, 2009 (File No. 0-32587).

Incorporated by reference to the correspuméihibit to the Registrant’s annual report omird0-K for the year ended
December 31, 201:

Incorporated by reference to the Regis’s current report on Forn-K filed on November 4, 200!

Incorporated by reference to the Exhibits#b0lL and 10.52, respectively, to the Registramtarterly report on Form 1Q-filed on
November 13, 200¢

Incorporated by reference to the correspuméihibit to the Registrant’s annual report omird0-K for the year ended
December 31, 200t

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the@erly Report on Form -Q filed by the Registrant on November 14, 2(
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thgiBtean’s current report on Forn-K filed on April 8, 2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thgiBtean’s current report on Forn-K filed on July 20, 201(

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiBean’s current report on Forn-K filed on April 8, 2010

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thgiBtan’s current report on Forn-K filed on July 20, 201(

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30.3 toRtegistrar’s current report on Forn-K filed on May 24, 201C
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ther€ut Report on Form-K filed by the Registrant on December 30, 2C
Incorporated by reference to the Regisf's quarterly report on Form -Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20
Incorporated by reference to the Regisf's annual report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2C

Incorporated by reference to the Regisf's quarterly report on Form -Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20
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(30) Incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffam &K filed by the Registrant on June 10, 20

(31) Incorporated by reference to the Current Repoffam ¢-K filed by the Registrant on April 3, 201

(32) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to ther€ut Report on Form-K filed by the Registrant on March 25, 20:
(33) Incorporated by reference to the Regisf's quarterly report on Form -Q for the quarter ended March 31, 20

(34) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1to the €ntiReport on Form-K filed by the Registrant on January 14, 2C

* Filed herewith

*x Amendments No. 2 and 5 to the NIH Prime ContrAothrax have been superseded in full by subsecarmendments filed

herewith and are therefore omitted. Amendment Raolthe NIH Prime Contract-Anthrax and Amendment Blto the NIH
Prime Contra-Plague were never executed and are therefore air

+ Certain confidential portions of this exhibit lealveen omitted and filed separately with the Sdesrand Exchange Commission
pursuant to a request for confidential treatmemwteniRule 24-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 19

++ Management Compensation Arrangem
Financial Statements and Schedules of Subsidiariesnd Affiliates

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunly authorized, in the city of Annapolis, StateMédryland, on the 1¥ day of March, 2014.

PHARMATHENE, INC.

By: /s/ Eric I. Richman
Eric I. Richmar
President & Chief Executive Offic

POWER OF ATTORNEY

BY THESE PRESENTS, each person whose signatureaappelow constitutes and appoints Eric |. RicharahLinda L. Chang his true
and lawful attorney-in-fact and agents, with fubper of substitution and resubstitution for him @mdhis name, place and stead, in any and al
capacities to sign any and all amendments to thisudl Report on Form 10-K, and to file the samehall exhibits thereto, and other
documents in connection therewith, with the U.Susiéies and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifgngd confirming all that said attorney-
in-fact or his substitute, each acting alone, naayfllly do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed belptine following persons on behalf of 1
registrant and in the capacities and on the datéisated.

Signature Title Date
Chief Executive Officer and Director March 11, 2014
/s/ Eric |. Richmar (Principal Executive Officer
Eric I. Richmar
Chief Financial Officer March 11, 2014
/s/ Linda L. Chan (Principal Financial Officer and Principal AccourdiOfficer)
Linda L. Chanc
/s/ Mitchel Sayari Chairman of the Board March 11, 2014
Mitchel Sayare, Ph.L
/s/ John Gill March 11, 2014
John Gill Director
/s/ Brian Markisor March 11, 2014
Brian Markisor Director
/s/ Derace Schaffe March 11, 2014
Derace Schaffer, M.L Director
/s/ Joel McClear March 11, 2014
Joel McCleary Director
/sl Jeffrey W. Rung March 11, 2014
Jeffrey W. Runge, M.C Director
/sl Steven St. Pet March 11, 2014
Steven St. Peter, M.I Director
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
PharmAthene, Inc.

We have audited PharmAthene, Inc.’s internal cdmiver financial reporting as of December 31, 20dz85ed on criteria established in Interna
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Cassion (1992 framework) (the
COSO criteria). PharmAthene, Inc.’s managemergspansible for maintaining effective internal cohtyver financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accompagy'Management’s Annual Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting”. Ourpessibility is to express an opinion on the compsumternal control over financial

reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq&nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal coraxer financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinadutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezeéssary in the circumstances. We believe thadwdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableasmesuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agject to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, PharmAthene, Inc. maintained, imadterial respects, effective internal control ofieancial reporting as of December 31,
2013, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the consolidated
balance sheets of PharmAthene, Inc. as of DeceBih&013 and 2012, and the related consolidatéeinseants of operations, comprehensive
loss, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for eafcthe three years in the period ended Decembe2(@li3and our report dated March 11, 2(
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 11, 2014
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
PharmAthene, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of PharmAthene, Inc. as of December@®B and 2012, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehefs$s, stockholders’ equity and cash flows foheafcthe three years in the period ended
December 31, 2013. These financial statementshareesponsibility of the Company's management.r@sponsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstalts of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether the finataiaiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
PharmAthene, Inc. at December 31, 2013 and 20X2thenconsolidated results of its operations amdash flows for each of the three years ii
the period ended December 31, 2013, in conformitly W.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), PharmAthene,
Inc.'s internal control over financial reportinga<December 31, 2013, based on criteria estaldighénternal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission (1992 framework) andreport dated March 11, 2014
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 11, 2014
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PHARMATHENE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2013 2012
ASSETS

Current assett

Cash and cash equivalel $ 10,480,97 $ 12,701,51

Accounts receivable (billec 1,427,11. 2,432,64.

Unbilled accounts receivab 2,199,52! 4,114,44

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 231,49: 547,24!
Total current asse 14,339,10 19,795,84
Property and equipment, r 386,06¢ 483,97t
Other lon¢-term assets and deferred cc 65,66( 113,13(
Goodwill 2,348,45: 2,348,45:
Total assets $ 17,139,28 $ 22,741,40

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl $ 1,128,17. $ 1,697,28

Accrued expenses and other liabilit 3,182,68 2,328,87

Deferred revenu 341,72: 1,381,75!

Shor-term debt 1,091,74 1,330,50

Current portion of derivative instrumer 51,66 -

Current portion of long-term debt 999,99¢ 749,99
Total current liabilities 6,795,98 7,488,41
Other lon¢-term liabilities 588,74! 579,42
Long-term debt, less current portir 730,27¢ 1,704,10:
Derivative instruments, less current portion 1,688,57. 1,295,61.
Total liabilities 9,803,57 11,067,56
Stockholders' equity

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 slzarrized; 52,304,246 and 48,352,651 shai

issued and outstanding at December 31, 2013 ar?l 284pectively 5,23( 4,83¢

Additional paic-in-capital 217,877,11 210,495,90

Accumulated other comprehensive |i (218,710 (217,329

Accumulated deficit (210,327,92) (198,609,57)
Total stockholders' equity 7,335,71, 11,673,84
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 17,139.28 $ 22,741,40

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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PHARMATHENE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Contract Revenu

Operating expense
Research and developme
General and administrati\
Depreciation

Total operating expenses

Loss from operation

Other income (expense
Interest income
Interest expens
Gain on the sale of assets held for
Realization of cumulative translation adjustm
Change in fair value of derivative instrume
Other income (expense)

Total other income (expense)

Net loss before provision for income ta

Provision for income taxes
Net Loss

Basic and diluted net loss per sh

Weighted average shares used in calculation ot laal diluted net loss per shi

Year Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
$ 1791260 $ 2517588 $ 24,266,27
15,290,14 19,509,62 21,219,85
13,279,18 11,628,73 14,311,07
182,48 303,91t 461,07:
28,751,81 31,442,27 35,992,00

$ (10,839,20) $

(6,266,39) $ (11,725,73)

2,57¢ 17,80¢ 16,66(
(369,28) (342,56) (54,57)

: : 781,76

- 1,227,65 -

(444,62;) 591,03 7,144,98,
(6,07 47,86 39,32t
(817,399 1,541,80. 7,928,15,
(11,656,60) (4,724,58) (3,797,57)
(61,749 (195,529 -

$ (11,71835) $ (4,920,11) $ (3,797,57)
$ 0.29 $ (0.10 $ (0.0¢)
50,659,11 48,323,06 47,331,76

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.

F-5




PHARMATHENE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Year ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011
Net loss $ (11,718,35) $ (4,920,11) $ (3,797,57)
Other comprehensive (loss) incor
Realization of cumulative translation adjustmetuded in net los - (1,227,65)) -
Foreign currency translation adjustments (1,382 (194) (239,97)
Comprehensive loss $ (11,719,73) $ (6,147,96) $ (4,037,54)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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PHARMATHENE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Common Stock

Accumulated

Additional Other
Paid-In Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity

Balance as of 12/31/2010 46,238,24 $ 4,62

$200,847,46 $

1,250,49° $(189,891,88) $ 12,210,70

Net loss - - (3,797,57)  (3,797,57)
Foreign currency translation adjustme - - - (239,979 - (239,97)
Issuance of common stock, net issuance ¢ 1,857,14. 18¢€ 5,068,54. - - 5,068,72i
Sharebased compensatic- stock options - - 2,251,50. - - 2,251,50.
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 44,46¢ 4 118,30! - - 118,30¢
Employee vesting of restricted shares, net 96,32. 10 240,10: - - 240,11:
Balance as of 12/31/2011 48,236,17 $ 4,82¢ $208,525,91 $ 1,010,52; $(193,689,45)$ 15,851,80
Net loss - - - - (4,920,11)  (4,920,11)
Reclassification of the cumulative translation atfjoen

on substantial liquidation of PharmAthene Can - - - (1,227,651 - (1,227,65))
Foreign currency translation adjustme - - - (199 - (199
Sharebased compensatic- stock options - - 1,803,42' - - 1,803,42
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 31,47 3 38,98! - - 38,98¢
Employee vesting of restricted shares, 85,00¢ 8 57,70 - - 57,71
Warrants to purchase common stock issued in

connection with issuance of long-term debt - - 69,87¢ - - 69,87¢
Balance as of 12/31/2012 48,352,65 $ 4,83 $210,495,90 $ (217,32 $(198,609,57) $ 11,673,84
Net loss - - - - (12,718,35) (11,718,35)
Foreign currency translation adjustme - - - (1,382) - (1,382
Issuance of common stock, net issuance ¢ 3,883,17 38¢ 5,943,70 - - 5,944,09!
Shar+-based compensatic- stock options - - 1,352,11 - - 1,352,11
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 61,75¢ 7 74,78¢ - - 74,79¢
Employee vesting of restricted shares 6,66¢ - 10,59¢ - - 10,59¢
Balance as of 12/31/201 52,304,24  5,23( 217,877,11 (218,71() (210,327,92) 7,335,71;

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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PHARMATHENE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Operating activities
Net loss $ (11,718,35) $ (4,920,11) $ (3,797,57)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities

Realization of cumulative translation adjustm - (1,227,651 -
Share-based compensation expel 1,362,711 1,894,09! 2,565,96.
Change in fair value of derivative instrume 444,62: (591,039 (7,144,98)
Depreciation expens 182,48 303,91¢ 461,07:
Deferred income taxe 61,74¢ 195,52¢ -
Non-cash interest expen 135,16 122,34. -
Gain on the disposal of assets held for - - (781,76()
Gain of the disposal of property and equiprr (3,500 (66,62¢) -
Bad debt recover - - (40,529
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Accounts receivabl 1,005,52 1,991,80 20,74¢
Unbilled accounts receivab 1,914,91 (1,093,23) 987,40¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 282,05 367,14¢ 1,481,15
Accounts payabl (569,12() 251,56 (1,682,46)
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 773,56¢ (418,079) (391,90)
Deferred revenue (1,040,03) 867,44: 514,31
Net cash used by operating activit (7,168,20) (2,322,90i) (7,808,55)
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipir (84,579 - (71,439
Proceeds from the disposal of assets held for - - 1,758,96!
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment 3,50( 67,40( -
Net cash provided (used) by investing activi (81,079 67,40( 1,687,52
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance (repayment) of debt anchniz (749,99) 2,500,001 -
Net proceeds from (repayment of) revolving crediteg@men (238,76 1,330,50 -
Deferred financing cos - (216,46() -
Change in restricted cash requireme - 100,00( -
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net ofinffecosts 6,018,89 38,98« 5,855,68!
Other - (32,96() (74,36))
Net cash provided by financing activiti 5,030,12 3,720,07. 5,781,322
Effects of exchange rates on cash (1,382) 181 (208,85:)
Increases (decreases) in cash and cash equiv (2,220,53)) 1,464,74 (548,55()
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period 12,701,51 11,236,77 11,785,32
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period $ 10,480,97 $ 12,701,51 $ 11,236,77
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid for intere: $ 234,11¢ 3 220,21¢ 3 54,57
Cash paid for income tax $ - 8 - 3 10,63(
Noncash Financing activity
Value of warrants issued to lender in connectioth aan $ - 8 69,87¢ $ >
Value of warrants issued in connection with thedsee of common stoc $ - 8 - 8 668,64(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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PHARMATHENE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AS OF AND FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

Note 1 — Organization and Business

We were formed in April 2005 as Healthcare AcqiositCorp., or HAQ, a special purpose acquisitiompany. On August 3, 2005, we
consummated our initial public offering. On AugB8s2007, we acquired all the outstanding equitPlairmAthene, Inc., a Delaware
Corporation, and changed our name from Healthcaguisition Corp. to PharmAthene, Inc. In March 20BBarmAthene, Inc., through its
wholly owned subsidiary PharmAthene UK Limited, aitgd substantially all the assets and liabilitiglsted to the biodefense vaccines
business of Avecia Biologics Limited.

We are incorporated under the laws of the Staf@etdiware and are a biopharmaceutical company fdoos@leveloping biodefense
countermeasure applications. We are subject teethisks associated with any biopharmaceutical comppizat has substantial expenditures for
research and development. There can be no assuteiar research and development projects wilumeessful, that products developed
obtain necessary regulatory approval, or that @pyaved product will be commercially viable. In #&duh, we operate in an environment of
rapid technological change and are largely depdratethe services and expertise of our employamssudtants and other third parties.

Historically, we have performed under governmemitiacts and grants and raised funds from invegtoctuding additional debt and equ
issued in 2013, 2012 and 2011) to sustain our tipesa The Company has spent and will continugoemd substantial funds in the research,
development, clinical and preclinical testing ircess of revenues, to support the Company's predmctidates with the goal of ultimately
obtaining approval from the FDA, to market and selt products. We have incurred losses in eachsieae inception, and have a retained
deficit of $210.3 million. Our cash balance as @cBmber 31, 2013 was $10.5 million, our accourtsivable (billed and unbilled) was $3.6
million, and our current liabilities were $6.8 nolh. We believe, based on the operating cash rexpgints and capital expenditures expecte
2014, we will not require additional funding to timmie our current level of operations to the en@@f4. However, as of December 31, 2013,
aggregate gross sales for additional common stbakmroximately $8.6 million remained available endur controlled equity offering
arrangement. While there were no sales of stockuti: controlled equity offering arrangement afiely 31, 2013, pursuant to the terms of
the merger agreement with Theraclone, the mergeeagent was terminated on December 1, 2013, arglpension on the sales of commor
stock under that controlled equity offering wassaduently lifted, see Note 8Stockholder’'s Equitgnd Note 11 -Subsequent Evertisr
further discussion.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentatiol

Our consolidated financial statements include tteoants of PharmAthene, Inc. and its wholly ownelsidiaries. All significant
intercompany transactions and balances have berimaied in consolidation. Our consolidated finahstatements have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfexin the United States. We currently operateria business segment.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principlethia United States (“U.S. GAAP")
requires management to make estimates and assms it affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities, disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial stagens, and the reported amounts of revenues anchsapeluring the reporting period. Our
consolidated financial statements include significsstimates for the expected economic life andevaf our tangible assets and value of our
intangible asset, the amount of our net operatisgds, our share-based compensation, and finamgtiaiments, among other things. Because
of the use of estimates inherent in the finan@pbrting process, actual results could differ digantly from those estimates.
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Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of our wholly owned foreigubsidiaries is their local currency. Assets aatdilities of our foreign subsidiaries are
translated into United States dollars based onan@ rates at the end of the reporting period.nmecand expense items are translated at the
weighted average exchange rates prevailing duhiegeporting period. Translation adjustments fdis@iaries that have not been sold,
substantially liquidated or otherwise disposedaod accumulated in other comprehensive income)(lassomponent of stockholders’ equity.
Foreign currency translation adjustments are thee amponent of accumulated other comprehensivaniec(loss) at December 31, 2013 and
2012. Transaction gains or (losses) are include¢bdrdetermination of net income or loss.

In July 2012, we substantially liquidated our Caaadubsidiary, which we acquired in 2005. As ailtesve realized approximately $1.2
million of income in our consolidated statemenbpérations, which represents the amount of prelsicesorded foreign currency translation
adjustments related to our Canadian subsidiarylwviere previously included in accumulated other pa@hensive income in our consolidated
balance sheets.

Comprehensive Loss and Accumulated Other Comprelnentoss

Comprehensive loss includes the total of our ret Bind all other changes in equity other than a@ims with owners, which only incluc
changes in equity for cumulative translation adpestts resulting from the consolidation of foreigibsidiaries as the financial statements o
subsidiaries located outside of the United Statesecounted for using the local currency as thetfanal currency for the year ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at marked. WAle consider all highly liquid investments wittiginal maturities of three months or
less to be cash equivalents.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subjectaisdncentrations of credit risk are primarily casid cash equivalents, and billed and
unbilled accounts receivable. We maintain our cashcash equivalents in the form of money markebats and overnight deposits with
financial institutions that we believe are creddritry. Because our billed and unbilled accountsikable consist of amounts due from the |
federal government, management deems there totimaticredit risk.

Revolving Line of Credit and Term Loa

As discussed further in Note 6, we entered intoea lagreement with General Electric Capital Corjang“GE Capital”) in March 2012.
As part of that agreement, we issued stock purchvaseants to GE Capital that expire in March 202e fair value of the warrants was
charged to additional paid-in-capital, resultingidebt discount at the date of issuance. Thedistunt and financing costs incurred in
connection with this agreement are being amortmezt the term of the agreement using the effedtiterest method and are included in
interest expense in the consolidated statemerdpartions.
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Significant Customers and Accounts Receiva

For the year ending December 31, 2013 our primasyorners were the Biomedical Advanced Researctibandlopment Authority, or
BARDA and Chemical Biological Medical Systems, @MS. In addition to BARDA and CBMS, for the yeardimg December 31, 2012, our
primary customers also included the U.S. DepartroéBefense, or the DoD, the National Instituteddérgy and Infectious Diseases, or
NIAID, and the National Institute of Health, or NIAs of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Com'’s receivable balances were comprised
solely of receivables from these customers. Undbilecounts receivable totaling $2.2 million andl$4#illion as of December 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively, relate to the contracts wittsthsame customers.

Property and Equipmen
Property and equipment consist of leasehold impr@rés, furniture and office equipment and compatef other equipment and are
recorded at cost. Leasehold improvements are aradrtiver the economic life of the asset or theeléasn, whichever is shorter. Property and

equipment are depreciated using the straight-liethod over the estimated useful lives of the refhgeassets as follows:

Estimated Useful Life

Asset Category (in Years)
Leasehold improvemen 8-10
Furniture and office equipme 5
Computer and other equipme 3-5

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets consist primarily of property aughipment. We review long-lived assets for impaintnwvhenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouino@isset may not be recoverable. Recoverabiliageéts to be held and used is measuret
comparison of the carrying amount of an assettiréuundiscounted net cash flows expected to bergéd by the asset. Recoverability
measurement and estimating of undiscounted cagls fodone at the lowest possible level for whighaan identify assets. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment to begeized is measured by the amount by which the/iceyiamount of assets exceeds the fair
value of the assets.

Exit Activities

In the fourth quarter 2011, we recognized a gaithersale of assets of PharmAthene Canada of aippaitedy $0.8 million, which is
included in the 2011 consolidated statement of atpmrs. We substantially completed the liquidatibour Canadian subsidiary in July 2012
and at that time realized approximately $1.2 millaf accumulated foreign currency translation adjests, which is included in the 2012
consolidated statement of operations and the cidladet! statement of comprehensive loss. The $llBmof accumulated foreign currency
translation adjustments were included in accumdlateer comprehensive income on the consolidatithba sheet prior to the July 2012
liquidation of our Canadian subsidiary.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of our short term financiatinments, which primarily include cash and caslivedents, accounts receivable (billed i
unbilled), other current assets, accounts payabteued and other liabilities, and shtatm debt, approximate their fair values due tar thieor

maturities. The fair value of our long-term indebiess is estimated based on the current rategdfferthe Company for debt of the same
remaining maturities. See NoteRair Value Measurementsr further details.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase priee the fair value of net identifiable assets astedi with acquisitions. We review the
recoverability of goodwill annually at the end afrdiscal year and whenever events or changesdéamistances indicate that it is more likely
than not that an impairment exists. Recoverabilftgyoodwill is reviewed by comparing our marketualas measured by our stock price
multiplied by the number of outstanding sharesfab@end of the year) to the net book value ofemuity. If our market value exceeds our ne
book value, no further analysis is required. We plated our annual impairment assessment of goodwilbecember 31, 2013 and determine
that there was no impairment as of that date. Gdmigour business strategy or adverse changearikeirconditions could impact the
impairment analyses and require the recogniticanoimpairment charge equal to the excess of thgingrvalue over its estimated fair value.

Revenue Recoghnitio

We generate our revenue from different types ofremtual arrangements: cost-plus-fee contractd,reosbursable grants and fixed price
contracts.

Revenues on cost-plus-fee contracts are recogimizaa amount equal to the costs incurred duringothéd plus an estimate of the
applicable fee earned. The estimate of the appédale earned is determined by reference to theacnif the contract defines the fee in tel
of risk-based milestones and specifies the febg tearned upon the completion of each milestoes, tthe fee is recognized when the related
milestones are earned, as further described beltherwise, we estimate the fee earned in a giveingby using a proportional performance
method based on costs incurred during the perianbapared to total estimated project costs andagifun of the resulting fraction to the to
project fee specified in the contract.

Under the milestone method of revenue recognititiiestone payments (including milestone paymentsdes) contained in research and
development arrangements are recognized as revdmere (i) the milestones are achieved,; (ii) noHartperformance obligations with respect
to the milestone exist; (iii) collection is reasbhgassured; and (iv) substantive effort was neamgs® achieve the milestone.

Milestones are considered substantive if all offtilewing conditions are met:

* itis commensurate with either our performancme®t the milestone or the enhancement of the \altiee delivered item or items as a
result of a specific outcome resulting from ourfpamance to achieve the milestol

» it relates solely to past performance,

» the value of the milestone is reasonable reldthval the deliverables and payment terms (incigdither potential milestone
consideration) within the arrangeme

If a milestone is deemed not to be substantiveCibirapany recognizes the portion of the milestongr@nt as revenue that correlates to
work already performed using the proportional pemance method; the remaining portion of the milestpayment is deferred and recognizec
as revenue as the Company completes its perfornabiications.

Revenue on fixed price contracts (without substantinilestones as described above) is recognizéddeopercentage-afempletion methoc
The percentage-of-completion method recognizesgcas the contract progresses (generally relatdebtoosts incurred in providing the
services required under the contract). The usbeopercentage-of-completion method depends ontiitisydo make reasonable dependable
estimates and the fact that circumstances may sitaiesfrequent revision of estimates does notatei that the estimates are unreliable for th
purpose for which they are used.

As a result of our revenue recognition policies #rbilling provisions contained in our contradtse timing of customer billings may
differ from the timing of recognizing revenue. Anmisi invoiced to customers in excess of revenuegrgzed are reflected on the balance s
as deferred revenue. Amounts recognized as revaraxeess of amounts billed to customers are refteon the balance sheet as unbilled
accounts receivable.

We analyze each cost reimbursable grant to determirether we should report such reimbursementsvanue or as an offset to our

expenses incurred. For the years ended Decemb@032, 2012 and 2011, we recorded approximately2sthillion, $1.1 million and $0.7
million, respectively, of costs reimbursed by tliwgrnment as a reduction of research and develdpaxpenses.
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Collaborative Arrangements

Even though most of our products are being develapeonjunction with support by the U.S. Governitn@re are an active participant in
that development, with exposure to significantsiakd rewards of commercialization relating todbeelopment of these pipeline products. In
collaborations where we are deemed to be the pahpiarticipant of the collaboration, we recogribsts and revenues generated from third
parties using the gross basis of accounting; otiserwve use the net basis of accounting. Coststpaid by other collaborative arrangement
members are recognized pursuant to their terms.

Research and Developme

Research and development costs are expensed azthadvance payments are deferred and expengedfasmance occurs. Research
and development costs include salaries, facilgigeense, overhead expenses, material and suppiéedinical expense, clinical trials and
related clinical manufacturing expenses, shareebasmpensation expense, contract services and otitgide services.
Share-Based Compensation

We expense the estimated fair value of st@ased awards granted to employees under our stoefansation plans. The fair value of st
options is determined at the grant date using thelBScholes option pricing model. The Black-Schkateodel considers, among other factors,
the expected life of the award and the expecteditiity of our stock price. The value of the awalndt is ultimately expected to vest is
recognized as expense on a straight line basistbgeamployee’s requisite service period.

The fair value of restricted stock grants is deteed based on the closing price of our common stocthe award date and is recognize
expense ratably over the requisite service period.

Employee share-based compensation expense in 2013,and 2011 is calculated based on awards uétlgnexpected to vest and is
reduced for estimated forfeitures at a rate of 12%.

Share-based compensation expense for 2013, 20120d4Ads as follows:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Research and developm $ 333,734 $ 51837¢ $ 754,55
General and administrative 1,028,98 1,375,72 1,811,40
Total share-based compensation expense $ 1,362,710 $ 1,894,090 $ 2,565,96

During 2013, we granted 240,000 options and madestoicted stock grants. At December 31, 2013hacktotal unrecognized share-
based compensation expense related to unvestedsawfaoptions and restricted shares of approxim&#I3 million, net of estimated
forfeitures, which we expect to recognize as expengr a weighted-average period of 1.75 years.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012ahd, we received proceeds of $74,796, $38,984bah8é,309 from stock options

exercised, respectively. No income tax benefit reaegnized in the consolidated statements of ojpasafor share-based compensation for the
years presented due to the Company's net lossquo:
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Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset ahilityaapproach, which requires the recognitiorfutfire tax benefits or liabilities on the
temporary differences between the financial repgréind tax bases of our assets and liabilitiesalation allowance is established when
necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to therdsnexpected to be realized. We also recognize baaefit from uncertain tax positions only
if it is “more likely than not” that the positios sustainable based on its technical merits. A3saember 31, 2013 and 2012, we had
recognized a full valuation allowance since thelitkood of realization of our tax deferred assetssinot meet the more likely than not
threshold.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201&cweed income tax expense of approximately $é@bon and $0.2 million,
respectively relating exclusively to the generatiba deferred tax liability associated with the ganortization of goodwill, which is included
as a component of other long-term liabilities on cansolidated balance sheets. There was no intaxexpense for the year ended Decembe
31, 2011.

We file a U.S. federal income tax return as weltetsrns for various state and foreign jurisdico®ur income taxes have not been
examined by any tax jurisdiction since our inceptioncertain tax positions taken on our tax retamesaccounted for as liabilities for
unrecognized tax benefits. We recognize interedtpemalties, if any, related to unrecognized taxeffies in other income (expense) in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Sha

Income (loss) per shareBasic income (loss) per share is computed bydigi consolidated net income (loss) by the weiglatestage
number of common shares outstanding during th@geeixcluding unvested restricted stock.

For periods of net income when the effects areantitdilutive, diluted earnings per share is coreguby dividing our net income by the
weighted average number of shares outstandinghenidnipact of all potential dilutive common shammsisting primarily of stock options,
unvested restricted stock and stock purchase warréhe dilutive impact of our dilutive potentiairamon shares resulting from stock options
and stock purchase warrants is determined by apptjie treasury stock method.

For periods of net loss, diluted loss per shaoalsulated similarly to basic loss per share bezdius impact of all dilutive potential
common shares is anti-dilutive due to the net les8pproximately 11.6 million, 11.9 million and ©2million potential dilutive shares have
been excluded in the calculation of diluted neslpsr share in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectiveguse their inclusion would be anti-
dilutive.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In July 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Standaiddate No. 2013-11, Presentation of an UnrecogrizedBenefit When a Net
Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Lossadrax Credit Carryforward Exists, (“ASU 2013-11The objective of this update is to
eliminate the diversity in practice in the preséintaof an unrecognized tax benefit when a net &g loss carryforward, a similar tax loss or
a tax credit carryforward exists. The amendmenthisiupdate require an entity to present an unyeized tax benefit in the financial
statements as a reduction to a deferred tax assttdse instances described above, except initcaitaations discussed in the update. ASU
2013411 is effective for fiscal years, and interim pegavithin those years, beginning after Decembe2@%3. The adoption of this guidanci
not expected to have a material effect on the Coryipaonsolidated results of operations, finanpiadition or cash flows.

In March 2013, the Financial Accounting Standardaf8 (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update2@43-05, Foreign Currency
Matters (Topic 830)-Parent’s Accounting for the Quative Translation Adjustment upon DerecognitidiCertain Subsidiaries or Groups of
Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investmiend Foreign Entity, (*ASU 2013-05"). This amendmetfarifies the applicable guidance for
the release of cumulative translation adjustmetot et earnings. When an entity ceases to havataotling financial interest in a subsidiary
group of assets within a foreign entity, the enstyequired to apply the guidance in FASB AccougtStandards Codification Topic 830-30 to
release any related cumulative translation adjustiméo net earnings. ASU 2013-05 is effective pexgively for fiscal years, and interim
reporting periods within those years, beginningralecember 15, 2013. The adoption of this guidasoet expected to have a material effect
on the Company’s consolidated results of operatifimancial position or cash flows.
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In, February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-02, Qretmensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of AmouRéglassified Out of
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. The objedf this update is to improve the reporting alassifications out of accumulated
other comprehensive income. The amendments irufidate seek to attain that objective by requiringatity to report the effect of significant
reclassifications out of accumulated other compnsive income on the respective line items in nedine if the amount being reclassified is
required under U.S. GAAP to be reclassified ireitsirety to net income. For other amounts thahateequired under U.S. GAAP to be
reclassified in their entirety to net income in #ane reporting period, an entity is required tssfreference other disclosures required under
U.S. GAAP that provide additional detail about ta@snounts. This would be the case when a portitheodmount reclassified out of
accumulated other comprehensive income is recledsid a balance sheet account (for example, imvghinstead of directly to income or
expense in the same reporting period. ASU 2013 @#fective prospectively for reporting periods in@ing after December 15, 2012. The
adoption of ASU 2013-02 did not have any effecbanresults of operations, financial position osttélows.

Note 3 — Fair Value Measurements

We define fair value as the exchange price thatidvbe received for an asset or paid to transfehility (an exit price) in the principal or
most advantageous market for the asset or lialilign orderly transaction between market partitipat the measurement date. We report
assets and liabilities that are measured at féirevasing a three-level fair value hierarchy théonitizes the inputs used to measure fair value.
This hierarchy maximizes the use of observabletmpnd minimizes the use of unobservable inputs.tiitee levels of inputs used to measure
fair value are as follows:

» Level 1— Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

* Level 2 —Observable inputs other than quoted prices incluléevel 1, such as quoted prices for similar tssaad liabilities in activ
markets; quoted prices for identical or similareassnd liabilities in markets that are not actimepther inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market (

» Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are suppdotetittle or no market activity and that are sigeafnt to the fair value of the assets or
liabilities. This includes certain pricing modedsscounted cash flow methodologies and similarn@pkes that use significant
unobservable input:

An asset’s or liability’s level within the fair vag hierarchy is based on the lowest level of apytithat is significant to the fair value
measurement. At each reporting period, we perfodatailed analysis of our assets and liabilitieg #re measured at fair value. All assets ant
liabilities for which the fair value measuremenb@sed on significant unobservable inputs or imsémits which trade infrequently and therel
have little or no price transparency are classified.evel 3.

We have segregated our financial assets and tiebithat are measured at fair value into the rapptopriate level within the fair value

hierarchy based on the inputs used to determinfathealue at the measurement date in the tadtmabé&Ve have no non-financial assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value at Delger 31, 2013 and 2012.
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The following table represents the Company’s falue hierarchy for its financial assets and ligiledi measured at fair value on a recurring
basis:

As of December 31, 201

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance
Liabilities
Current portion of derivative instruments relatesgstock purchase
warrants $ - $ - $ 51,66: $ 51,66
Non-current portion of derivative instruments relatedgtock
purchase warrants - - 1,688,57. 1,688,57.
Total derivative instruments related to stock pasghwarrants $ - $ - $ 1,740,23" $ 1,740,23

As of December 31, 201

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance
Liabilities
Non-current portion of derivative instruments relatedtock
purchase warrants $ - $ - $ 1,295,611 $ 1,295,61
Total derivative instruments related to stock passhwarrants $ - $ - $ 129561 $ 1,295,61.

The following table sets forth a summary of charigebe fair value of the Company’s Level 3 liatids for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011:

Balance as c New Unrealized Balance as c
December 31 Liabilities Losses December 31
Description 2012 2013 2013 2013
Derivative liabilities related to stock purchasernaats $ 1,29561 $ - % 444,62: $  1,740,23
Balance as c New Unrealized Balance as c
December 31 Liabilities (Gains) December 31
Description 2011 2012 2012 2012
Derivative liabilities related to stock purchaserraats $ 1,886,65. $ - % (591,039 $ 1,295,61.
Balance as c New Unrealized Balance as c
December 31 Liabilities (Gains) December 31
Description 2010 2011 2011 2011
Derivative liabilities related to stock purchaserraats $ 836299 $ 668,64( $ (7,144,98) $ 1,886,65:

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 derivative liab#itege comprised of 2,899,991 warrants to purchasermon stock. The warrants are
considered to be derivative liabilities due to pinesence of net settlement features and/or nowstdranti-dilution provisions, and as a result,
are recorded at fair value at each balance shéztTae fair value of our warrants is determinesidobon the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. Use of the Black-Scholes option pricing madguires the use of unobservable inputs suchasxpected term, anticipated volatility
and expected dividends. Changes in any of the gssums related to the unobservable inputs idemntifibove may change the stock purchase
warrants’ fair value; increases in expected temticgated volatility and expected dividends getignasult in increases in fair value, while
decreases in the unobservable inputs generalljt inslecreases in fair value. Gains and lossetheffiair value adjustments for these derive
instruments are classified in other income (expeaséhe change in fair value of derivative instemts in our consolidated statements of
operations.
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Quantitative Information about Level 3 Fair Valueddurement
Fair Value at 12/31/201 Valuation Techniqu: Unobservable Input
$ 1,740,23" Black-Scholes option pricing mod Expected tern
Expected dividend
Expect volatility

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012 the Company haukepy and equipment and goodwill which are subj@echeasurement at fair value
on a non-recurring basis.

The fair value of long-term debt approximates dsef value at December 31, 2013, which was $1.8mill
Note 4 — Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31

2013 2012
Leasehold improvemen $ 758,12t $ 758,12t
Furniture and office equipme 234,01¢ 234,01¢
Computer and other equipment 1,447,44. 1,397,01.

2,439,58! 2,389,15!
Less accumulated depreciation (2,053,51) (1,905,18i)
Property and equipment, net $ 386,06¢ $ 483,97¢

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@033, 2012 and 2011 was $0.2 million, $0.3 orlland $0.5 million, respectively.
Note 5 — Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities consistetti®following:

December 31

2013 2012
Accrued development expens $ 1,080,19 $ 1,716,55
Accrued professional servic 1,056,03' 365,68(
Accrued employee payroll and related expel 966,20 189,74t
Other 80,24+ 56,89
Accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 3,182,68 $ 2,328,87

F-17




Note 6 — Debt
Term Loan and Revolving Line of Credit

On March 30, 2012, we entered into a Loan Agreeméht GE Capital. The Loan Agreement provides faeaior secured debt facility
including a $2.5 million term loan and a revolviimge of credit of up to $5 million based on our standing qualified accounts receivable. On
March 30, 2012, the term loan was funded for thieb2L5 million.

Under the terms of the revolving line of credie tBompany may draw down from the revolving linedit up to 85% of qualified billed
accounts receivable and 80% of qualified unbilledoaints receivable. As of December 31, 2013, tta¢ &anount available to draw was
approximately $2.2 million, of which $1.1 millionas drawn and outstanding.

The fixed interest rate on the term loan is 10.J#%annum. The revolving line of credit has an sidjble interest rate based upon the 3-
month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), witfaor of 1.5%, plus 5%. As of December 31, 2018 2012, the interest rate was 6.5%.
Both the term loan and the revolving line of credéture in September 2015. Payments on the tenmweae originally interest-only for the
first 10 months (which has since been extende@tmdnths pursuant to terms of the agreement); sulesely, the term loan will fully amorti:
over its remaining term.

Principal payments on the term loan are schedidddlws:

Year Principal Payments
2014 $ 999,99t
2015 750,00°

$ 1,750,00:

If we prepay the term loan and terminate the remghline of credit prior to the scheduled matudte, we are obligated to pay a
prepayment premium equal to 3% of the then outstgnarincipal amount of the term loan if prepaididg the first two years of the loan and
2% if prepaid during the third year or thereaftaraddition, we are obligated to pay a final paytfer of 3% of the term loan balance. The
final payment fee is being accrued and expensedtbedaerm of the agreement, using the effectiterest method and is included in other
long-term liabilities on the consolidated balanbeed.

Our obligations under the Loan Agreement are aalidized by a security interest in substantiallyohbur assets. While the security
interest does not, except in limited circumstanceser our intellectual property, it does cover gngceeds received by us from the use or sal
of our intellectual property.

The Loan Agreement contains customary represent@tiwarranties and covenants, including limitationsacquisitions, dispositions,
incurrence of indebtedness and the granting ofrggénterests. The representations, warrantiesavenants contained in the Loan Agreer
were made only for purposes of such agreement swfl aspecific date or specific dates, were sdtaiyhe benefit of the parties to such
agreement, and may be subject to limitations aguped by the contracting parties, including beingldied by confidential disclosures
exchanged between the parties in connection witekecution of the Loan Agreement.

The Loan Agreement contains certain financial ameHimancial covenants. Upon the occurrence and duftiegontinuance of any event
default, GE Capital may, and at the written reqoéshe requisite lenders shall, terminate the catments under the facilities and declare any
or all of the obligations to be immediately due @agable, without demand or notice to us; howeany, event of default relating to timely
payment of debts, insolvency, liquidation, bankeyptr similar events will result in automatic aaration. Among the remedies available to
GE Capital in case of an event of default are &légg possession and disposition of any collatendler the Loan Agreement.
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In connection with the Loan Agreement, we issuedCalpital warrants to purchase 46,584 shares dftimepany’s common stock at an
exercise price of $1.61 per share. The warranteyeecisable immediately and subject to customadystandard antlilution adjustments. T
warrants are classified in equity and, as a rethétfair value of the warrants was charged totafdil paid-in capital resulting in a debt
discount at the date of issuance. The term loagcisrded on the 2013 consolidated balance sheetf tiee debt discount. The debt discount is
being amortized over the term of the loan agreemsinig the effective interest method. Financingsosurred in connection with this
agreement are also being amortized over the tetimecigreement using the effective interest method.

The estimated fair value of the Company’s outstagdiorrowings under its revolving credit facility@ecember 31, 2013 was equal to its
carrying value as of that date due to the shom+teaiture of the revolver’'s repayment terms.

Note 7 — Commitments and Contingencies
Leases
We lease our offices in Maryland under a 10 yearating lease, which commenced on May 1, 2007. Mtelaased offices in North

Carolina through September 2013, when the leaseeekiRemaining annual minimum payments for theddfar the Maryland site are as
follows:

Year Lease Payment
2014 $ 797,70(
2015 $ 821,60(
2016 $ 846,20(
2017 $ 356,90(

For each of the years ended December 31, 2013, 20822011, total rent expense under operating lagseeements approximated $0.8
million and is included in research and developnat general and administrative expenses on theotidated statements of operations.

License Agreement

In connection with an acquisition in 2008, we acgdilicense agreements with The Defence Sciencd acdkhology Laboratory of the
United Kingdom Ministry of Defence, or DSTL, forghights to certain technologies. These agreenadliois for the licensing of certain
patents and technology necessary to perform dewelopof the rPA vaccine program as required unteitompany’s government contracts.
Upon commercialization, the license agreementsiredoat we make royalty payments equal to a sjgecercentage of future sales of
products for both government procurement and comialenarkets. No royalty payments on these licehse® been incurred.

In 2012 we entered into a commercial licensing ageent allowing for the licensing of certain patant other intellectual property rights
from a research company related to BChE. The agreeimcludes certain annual maintenance and o#aezldpment milestone payments.
Upon commercialization, the license agreement requbyalty payments equal to a specified percentéduture sales of products for both
government procurement and commercial market salgigct to the license through the expiration efltbensed patents. Maintenance fees of
$0.04 million were expensed in 2013 and paid ir/20do maintenance or milestone payments were iadurr 2012. No royalty payment on
this license has been incurred.
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SIGA Litigation

In December 2006, we filed a complaint against SiG#he Delaware Court of Chancery. The compldliegad, among other things, that
we have the exclusive right to license, developraaut marketing rights for SIGA’s drug candidateegtvyr ™ (Tecovirimat), pursuant to a
merger agreement between the parties that wasrated in 2006. The complaint also alleged that Sf&ked to negotiate in good faith the
terms of such a license pursuant to the terminatedjer agreement with SIGA.

In September 2011, the Delaware Court of Chanastyeid an opinion in the case finding that SIGA vadiched certain contractual
obligations to us and upholding our claims of presory estoppel. The Delaware Court of Chancery @®daus the right to receive 50% of all
net profits (as defined in the court’s final judgmjerelated to the sale of Arestvi)¥ (formerly known as ST-248) and related products for 10
years following initial commercial sale of the drogce SIGA earns $40.0 million in net profits frone sale of Arestvy™ and related
products. The Delaware Court of Chancery also aghus a portion of our attorney's fees and expiness and other costs. In May 2012, the
Delaware Court of Chancery issued its final judgm8IGA appealed aspects of the decision to thaweale Supreme Court. In response, we
cross-appealed other aspects of the decision.

In May 2013, the Delaware Supreme Court issuedliisg on the appeal, affirming the Delaware Cafr€hancery’s finding that SIGA
had breached certain contractual obligations teay&rsing its finding of promissory estoppel, aechanding the case back to the Delaware
Court of Chancery to reconsider the remedy and dwhattorney's fees and expert witness and oft&sdn light of the Delaware Supreme
Court’s opinion. The Delaware Court of Chanceryrtidanal oral arguments on the issue of remedyrduthe first quarter of 2014, and we
expect the court to issue its ruling within the th@averal months. Currently, because the Delawapeetne Court remanded the issue of a
remedy back to the Delaware Chancery Court, wengdr have a financial interest in Aresté{fand may never receive any proceeds from
the product.

While we believe there may be significant revenateptial under a potential damages award, therdearo assurance that the Delaware
Court of Chancery will re-instate its prior remeatyorder another remedy for us, that SIGA will appeal any subsequent decision by the
Delaware Court of Chancery, or that SIGA will netfuccessful in any subsequent appeal. We hawehmcorded any amount due from
SIGA in relation to this case.

Government Contracting

Payments to the Company on cost-plus-fee conteaietprovisional. The accuracy and appropriatenessats charged to U.S. Government
contracts are subject to regulation, audit andiptesdisallowance by the Defense Contract Audit #agye or DCAA, and other government
agencies such as BARDA. Accordingly, costs billethilable to U.S. Government customers are sulifepbtential adjustment upon audit by
such agencies. In our opinion, adjustments that msylt from audits are not expected to have amaatffect on our financial position, results
of operations, or cash flows.

Changes in government policies, priorities or fungdievels through agency or program budget rednstity the U.S. Congress or execu
agencies could materially adversely affect the Camgfs financial condition or results of operatiofRgrthermore, contracts with the U.S.
Government may be terminated or suspended by tBeG®bvernment at any time, with or without cause&hScontract suspensions or
terminations could result in unreimbursable expsmsecharges or otherwise adversely affect the @arylp financial condition and/or results
of operations.

Registration Rights Agreemel

We entered into a Registration Rights Agreemertt wie investors who participated in the July 2009ate placement of convertible notes
and related warrants. We subsequently filed twésteggion statements on Form S-3 with the Securiied Exchange Commission to register
the resale of the shares issuable upon conversitne @onvertible notes and exercise of the relatadants, which registration statements hav
been declared effective. We are obligated to mairikee registration statements effective until dlate when such shares (and any other
securities issued or issuable with respect to exithange for such shares) have been sold. Theeddig notes were converted or extinguis
in 2010, although the related warrants remain antiihg. The warrants will expire on January 28,5201
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We have separate registration rights agreemenisimiestors, under which we have obligations tqokihe corresponding registration
statements effective until the registrable seasifas defined in each agreement) have been saldjreder which we may have separate
obligations to file registration statements in thieire on either a demand or “piggy-back” basisath.

Under the terms of the convertible notes, whicheneamverted or extinguished in 2010, if after thd onsecutive business day (other 1
during an allowable blackout period) on which salkall of the securities required to be includedtloe registration statement cannot be made
pursuant to the registration statement (a “Maintera-ailure”), we will be required to pay to eaelisg stockholder a one-time payment of
1.0% of the aggregate principal amount of the cdibde notes relating to the affected shares orirthlil day of a Maintenance Failure. Our
total maximum obligation under this provision atd@mber 31, 2013, which is not probable of paymeat)ld be approximately $0.2 million.

Following a Maintenance Failure, we will also bguiged to make to each selling stockholder monpielyments of 1.0% of the aggregate
principal amount of the convertible notes relatioghe affected shares on every 30th day afteinitial day of a Maintenance Failure, in each
case prorated for shorter periods and until therais cured. Our total maximum obligation undgs fprovision, which is not probable of
payment, would be approximately $0.2 million foclkanonth until the failure, if it occurs, is cured.

Note 8 — Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock

In June 2011, we completed a public offering 0b6X,843 shares of common stock at $3.50 per shelsine of warrants to purchase ug
an additional 371,423 shares of common stock. Téreamts were exercisable immediately at an exepmise of $3.50 per share until the fifth
anniversary of the date of issuance which is JdJn€Q16. The warrants are classified as derivatisguments because they include net
settlement provisions. We received gross procetdpmroximately $6.5 million and net proceeds giragimately $5.1 million for stock and
$0.7 million for derivative instruments.

Controlled Equity Offering

On March 25, 2013, we entered into a controlledtgaifering arrangement with a sales agent purst@which we may offer and sell,
from time to time, through the agent shares ofammmon stock having an aggregate offering pricapofo $15.0 million. Under the
arrangement, the agent may sell shares by any chegrmnitted by law and deemed to be an “at-the-etafering as defined in Rule 415
promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, asrated, including sales made directly on NYSE MKiTawy other existing trading market
for our common stock or to or through a market maRebject to the terms and conditions of that egrent, the agent will use commercially
reasonable efforts, consistent with its normalitrgénd sales practices and applicable state ateddklaw, rules and regulations and the rules
of NYSE MKT, to sell shares from time to time basgubn our instructions. We are not obligated tba®y shares under the arrangement. We
are obligated to pay the agent a commission of 2108he aggregate gross proceeds from each saleaoés under the arrangement.

Through December 31, 2013, we sold 3,883,173 shudr@gr common stock under this arrangement regplti net proceeds (net of

commission and offering costs) to the Company gfaximately $5.9 million. As of December 31, 2048gregate gross sales for additional
common stock of approximately $8.6 million remaireilable under the arrangement.
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Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan

In 2007, the Company’s stockholders approved tit& 2@ng-Term Incentive Compensation Plan, or th&72Blan, which provides for the
granting of incentive and non-qualified stock opspstock appreciation rights, performance unéstricted common awards and performance
bonuses (collectively “awards”) to Company emplayg&dditionally, the 2007 Plan authorizes the granbf non-qualified stock options and
restricted stock awards to Company directors anddependent consultants.

In 2008, the Company’s shareholders approved amentino the 2007 Plan, increasing the maximum numibghares authorized for
issuance under the plan from 3.5 million shares.éamillion shares and adding an evergreen pravipiosuant to which the number of shares
authorized for issuance under the plan will incesastomatically in each year, beginning in 2009 estinuing through 2015, according to
certain limits set forth in the 2007 Plan. At Ded®m31, 2013, there are approximately 9.3 millibares approved for issuance under the 20C
plan, of which approximately 2.6 million shares available to be issued. The Board of Directorsanjunction with management determines
who receives awards, the vesting conditions an@xeecise price. Options may have a maximum terterof/ears.

The following table summarizes the activity of 2@07 Plan for options:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Average Remaining
Exercise Contractual
Shares Price Term

Options

Outstanding January 1, 20 5339,41 % 3.1¢ 8.2
Granted 1,934,56 1.71

Exercisec (44,46 2.6€

Forfeited (936,53)) 3.07

Outstanding, December 31, 20 6,292,98 $ 2.74 8.C
Granted 852,13¢ 1.2z

Exercisec (31,479 1.24

Forfeited (888,03 2.91

Outstanding, December 31, 20 6,225,61 $ 2.52 7.4
Granted 240,00( 1.65

Exercisec (61,756 1.21

Forfeited (390,69:) 2.2C

Expired (39,129 2.9¢€

Outstanding, December 31, 2013 5,974,03 $ 2.52 6.5
Exercisable, December 31, 2013 4,589,95 $ 2.7¢F 6.C
Vested and expected to vest, December 31, 2013 5,809,565 $ 2.54 6.5

The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated aglifierence between (i) the closing price of the ooon stock at December 31, 2013 and (i)
the exercise price of the underlying awards, miidtipby the number of options that had an exenpigee less than the closing price on the last
trading day. Our outstanding and exercisable optlad an aggregate intrinsic value of approximekély million as of December 31, 2013.
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At December 31, 2013, total compensation costsifieested stock option awards outstanding approgididl.3 million, net of estimated
forfeitures, which we expect to recognize as stmmkpensation expense over a weighted average pefrilbd5 years.

Valuation assumptions used to determine fair valokeshare-based compensation

The weighted-average grant date fair value forapystigranted in 2013, 2012 and 2011 approximate2B$$0.86 and $1.17, respectively.
The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercid@ting the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012@ht was approximately $28 thousand,
$9 thousand, and $35 thousand, respectively. Ttheftor value of awards vested during 2013, 2012 2011 was approximately $1.4 million,
$2.1 million and $2.3 million, respectively.

The fair value for the 2013, 2012 and 2011 awardsevestimated at the date of grant using the Biaheles option-pricing model using
the following assumptions:

December 31

2013 2012 2011
Weightec-average volatility 86% 86% 83%
Risk-free rate 0.96%- 1.90% 0.79%- 1.18% 0.79%- 2.79%
Expected annual dividend yie - - -
Expected weighte-average life, in yeat 5.6 5.9 5.9

The valuation assumptions were determined as fatlow

» Weighted average volatility: Beginning in thérthquarter of 2013 we determined expected volatily using our historical volatility.
Prior to that period we determined expected vdtatily using our historical volatility weighted 50&hd the average historical volatility
from comparable public companies with an expeateah ttonsistent with the expected term of our otierighted 50%

» Risk-free interest rate: The yield on zero-caupbS. Treasury securities for a period that is m@mnsurate with the expected term of
the award

» Expected annual dividend yield: The estimateafumual dividends is zero because we have notritially paid a dividend and do not
intend to do so in the foreseeable futi

» Expected life: The expected term of the awaegisesents the period of time that the awards greaed to be outstanding. The

Company estimated the expected term using the tgiegpmethod” as it does not have sufficient histal exercise data to provide a
reasonable estimat
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The following table summarizes the activity of @07 plan for restricted shares:

Weightec-
Average
Grant Date
Aggregate
Shares Fair Value Intrinsic Value
Restricted Shares
Outstanding January 1, 20 111,13: $ 29z % 470,08:
Grantec 145,00( 1.45
Vested (123,06¢) 2.5¢
Forfeited or expired (9,169 2.4¢€
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 123,89 $ 15 8% 157,34¢
Grantec - -
Vested (110,569) 1.52
Forfeited or expired - -
Outstanding, December 31, 2C 13,33¢ $ 15¢$ 14,93:
Grantec - -
Vested (6,66¢€) 1.5¢
Forfeited or expired - -
Outstanding, December 31, 2013 6,667 $ 15¢$ 12,40:
Warrants

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 there were warranttanding to purchase 5,620,128 shares of our eaamstock, respectively. At
December 31, 2011 there were warrants outstandipgrchase 5,573,544 shares of our common stoekwBirants outstanding as of

December 31, 2013 were as follows:

Number of Common Shares

Underlying Warrants Issue Date/Exercisable Dat Exercise Price Expiration Date
100,77¢0) Mar-07/Mai-07 $ 3.97 Mar-17
705,3542) Mar-09/Sej-08 $ 3.0C Ser-14
2,572,771 Jul-09/Jar10 $ 2.5C Jar-15
500,00 Apr-10/0c-1C $ 1.8¢ Ocl-15
1,323,212 Ju10/Jar11 $ 1.6¢ Jar-17
371,422 Jur-11/Jur-11 $ 3.5C Jur-16
46,5841 Mar-12/Mard2 $ 1.61 Mar-22
5,620,12i

(1) These warrants to purchase common stock are d¢tabai equity

(2) These warrants to purchase common stock aseifitad as derivative liabilities. The fair valuktbese liabilities (see Note 3Fair
Value Measuremenjss remeasured at the end of every reporting deaid the change in fair value is reported in thesolidated

statements of operations as other income (expe
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Note 9 — Income Taxes
The actual income tax provision differs from th@eeted income tax provision computed at the fedaeditory rate as follows:

Year ended December 31

2013 2012 2011
Statutory federal tax bene (3,963,24) (1,604,64) (1,291,17)
State income tax, net of federal ben (1,179,471 (19,919 (232,489
Other permanent differenc (2,706,15)) 4,97¢ 22,10:
Foreign rate differentic (710,517 (80,29 (50,177)
Rate chang (369,40 388,65¢ -
Lobbying cost: 98,50" 122,20« -
Write-off of expired/forfeited options and conversiomofes - 193,60! 391,82¢
Canada transfer pricing and expiring attribt - - (8,965,83)
Cancellation of debt limitation deferred write | 6,246,94. - -
Reversal of expiration of net operating los - - (4,745,27)
Other (1,816 1,393,36! 732,32.
Subtotal (2,585,16) 397,94¢ (14,138,69)
Decrease (increase) in valuation allowance 2,646,91i (202,45)) 14,138,69
Income tax provision (benefit) $ 61,74t $ 19549 $ -

Our deferred tax assets (liabilities) consistetheffollowing:

December 31

2013 2012
Deferred tax asset:
Net operating loss ("NOLs") carry forwar $ 61,590,08 $ 58,334,07
Fixed assets/intangible 148,39! 114,82t
Research and development credits/loss carryforw 1,72¢ 3,278,99!
Shar+-based compensatic 3,368,57. 3,047,57.
Accrued expenses and other 859,35( 2,789,717
Total deferred tax assets 65,968,13 67,565,24
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intercompany bad debt - (3,978,94)
Total deferred tax liabilities - (3,978,94)
Net deferred tax asse 65,968,13 63,586,29
Less: valuation allowance (66,225,40) (63,781,79)
Net deferred tax liabilitie $ (257,27) $ (195,49)

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201&cneased the valuation allowance to fully resdoreghe value of deferred tax assets.
Due to continued operating losses, there is na#tdin that it is more likely than not that we vk able to utilize our deferred tax assets.

The U.S. federal NOLs of approximately $144 millwill begin to expire in various years beginning2@22, if not limited by triggering
events prior to such time. In connection with tdegation of stock-based compensation guidance 6 2@ Company elected to follow the
with-and-without approach to determine the sequémeéhich deductions and NOLs are utilized. Undect®n 382 of the U.S. Internal
Revenue Code, the Company’s NOLs may be limitedtdwertain underlying ownership changes of its cam stock. We have not completed
an analysis under Section 382 to determine whatyf impact any prior ownership change has haolorability to utilize our NOLs. Until
such analysis is completed, we cannot be surghbdtill amount of the existing NOLs will be avdila to us, even if we do generate taxable
income before their expiration. In addition, we neyperience ownership changes in the future asutref subsequent shifts in our stock
ownership that could result in further limitatiopsing placed on our ability to utilize our NOLs.eltK net operating loss carry forwards of
approximately $21 million have an unlimited life.
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In assessing the realizability of deferred tax &ssee consider whether it is more likely than thatt some or all of the deferred tax asset
will not be realized. The ultimate realization bétdeferred tax asset is dependent upon the gemeaddtfuture taxable income during the
periods in which the NOLs are available. We consmiejected future taxable income, the schedulgdrsal of deferred tax liabilities and
available tax planning strategies that can be implged by us in making this assessment on a jatisdiby-jurisdiction basis. Based upon
these factors, we have established a full valuatllmwance against the net deferred tax asseti8,afbnsistent with 2012. Also, the Company
has a deferred tax liability related to tax dedaletgoodwill, for which the scheduled reversalas determinable. As such, this deferred tax
liability cannot be used as a source of future bx@ncome with which to realize the deferred tageds. The cumulative amount of this defe
tax liability is approximately $257,000 at DecemBér 2013 and is classified as Other long-termilliads on the consolidated balance sheets.

We have analyzed tax positions in all jurisdictiovteere the Company is required to file an inconxerédurn and have concluded that we
not have any material unrecognized tax benefitssueh, we believe that any of our uncertain tavitipss would not result in adjustments to
our effective income tax rate.

Note 10 — Supplemental Financial Information (Unaudted)

Quarterly financial information for the years end@gcember 31, 2013 and 2012 is presented in thenfiolg tables:

Three months endec

March 31, June 30, September 3C December 31
Fiscal year 201
Revenue $ 6,475,130 $ 4,295400 $ 3,488,14. $ 3,653,92
Income (loss) from operatiol (1,090,73) (1,481,72) (3,199,18) (5,067,56))
Net income (loss (2,111,38) (1,236,37) (3,945,88) (4,424,70)
Net income (loss) per share, ba (0.09 (0.02) (0.0¢) (0.0¢)
Net income (loss) per share, dilut (0.09 (0.02) (0.08) (0.08)
Fiscal year 201
Revenue $ 6,149,055 $ 6,31699 $ 6,696,120 $ 6,013,711
Income (loss) from operatiol (1,590,69)) (1,458,20) (2,790,37) (1,427,11)
Net income (loss (2,679,88) (756,54 (213,936 (1,269,74)
Net income (loss) per share, ba (0.06) (0.02) 0.0C (0.03)
Net income (loss) per share, dilut (0.06) (0.02) 0.0C (0.03)

Our net loss for 2013 includes approximately $8ilBon in merger and acquisition costs associatét the terminated merger with
Theraclone, inclusive of a $1 million terminati@efpaid to Theraclone under the terms of the textioin agreement entered into on Decembe
1, 2013.

Note 11 - Subsequent Events
Subsequent to December 31, 2013, we sold 1,145/i@x&s of our common stock under the controlledyqtfering arrangement, which

resulted in net proceeds of approximately $2.2iomll(See Note 8 Stockholder’'s Equity. Aggregate gross proceeds of up to approximately
$6.3 million remain available under the arrangement
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-145463
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-15%692
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-15ettaining to the 2007 Long-Term Incentive Congagion Plan,
(4) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-158997
(5) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-123,712
(6) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-161587
(7) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-175294
(8) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-175607

of our reports dated March 11, 2014, with respethé consolidated financial statements of Pharmad¢h Inc., and the effectiveness of inte
control over financial reporting of PharmAthene;.|rincluded in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) foe year ended December 31, 2013.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 11, 2014




Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

[, Eric I. Richman, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Form -K of PharmAthene, Inc. for the year ended DecerStie2013;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adner financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrang other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitieestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtias defined in Exchange /
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhteubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

Designed such internal control over financial réjpor, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodimand the preparation
financial statement for external purposes in acaocd with generally accepted accounting princig

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtins report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyetlis report based
such evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the segnts internal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrdts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrang other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaemmmittee of the registrarstboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):




€) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesge the design or operation of internal controkmfinancial reportin

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinencia
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesamagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir
Dated: March 11, 2014 /s/ Eric |. Richmar

Name:Eric I. Richman
Title: Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to SEC Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)

[, Linda L. Chang, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Form -K of PharmAthene, Inc. for the year ended DecerStie2013;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not coraajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgtade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, nt#adisg with respect to t
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,adner financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrang other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitieestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdstemd procedures (
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15¢)) and internal control over financial repagtias defined in Exchange /
Rules 13-15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatiotatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhteubsidiaries, is ma
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifge prepared

Designed such internal control over financial réjpor, or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodimand the preparation
financial statement for external purposes in acaocd with generally accepted accounting princig

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtins report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contral$ procedures, as of the end of the period coveyetlis report based
such evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the segnts internal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrdts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annuabrg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

The registrang other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitaemmmittee of the registrarstboard of directors (or persons performing thevedent
functions):




€) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesge the design or operation of internal controkmfinancial reportin

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinencia
information; anc

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesamagement or other employees who have a signifioalet in the
registran’s internal control over financial reportir
Dated: March 11, 2014 /s/ Linda L. Chan¢

Name:Linda L. Chang
Title: Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 8
of Title 18 of the United States Code

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fiPbarmAthene, Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeadedt December 31, 2013,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisgiee “Report”), I, Eric I. Richman, Chief Execi Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipot$o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act @2@hat to the best of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934,

2. The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financiadition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Eric |. Richmar

Eric I. Richman

Chief Executive Officer
March 11, 201«

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2082 been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company andished to the Securities and Exchange Commissis staff upon request.

This certification is being furnished pursuant eron 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 arall stot be deemed “filed” for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchargeof\1934, or otherwise subject to the liabilifytloat section. This certification will not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into amgfiinder the Securities Act of 1933 or the SemsiExchange Act of 1934.




Exhibit 32.2

Certification Pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 8
of Title 18 of the United States Code

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fiPbarmAthene, Inc. (the “Company”) for the yeadedt December 31, 2013,
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commisgiee “Report”), I, Linda L. Chang, Chief Finanic@fficer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adoptedipot$o Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act @22@hat to the best of my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934,

2. The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financiadition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Linda L. Chan
Linda L. Chang

Chief Financial Officer
March 11, 2014

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2082 been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company andised to the Securities and Exchange Commissiis staff upon request.

This certification is being furnished pursuant ron 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 arall stot be deemed “filed” for
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchargeof\1934, or otherwise subject to the liabilifytloat section. This certification will not be
deemed to be incorporated by reference into amgfiinder the Securities Act of 1933 or the SemsiExchange Act of 1934.






